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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of GET Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best
of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions
expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and
reasonable.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GET
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, referred to
as the “Group”), | would like to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Year”) together with its strategies and
prospects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$244,267,000 for the Year
(2017: loss of approximately HK$499,210,000).

The Group’s consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$251,411,000 for the Year (2017: loss of
approximately HK$512,327,000).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year
(2017: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the Year, the global macro-economic environment with growing
uncertainties continued to impact the Group’s principal businesses, including
the Software Business, the Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract
Services Business and the Securities Investment Business (all as defined in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report). The
Group has strived to optimise its business strategies while swiftly responded to
the fluctuating market environment.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRE|E

Sparing no effort in innovating and upgrading products, the Group
continued to actively develop the Software Business, one of the Group’s
pillar businesses, during the Year to keep up with challenges and drive the
business forward. The Group has developed new products, such as mobile
terminal applications, in order to keep pace with the fast-changing information
technology (“I.T.”) and mobile communications trends and to further address
the needs of the market. During the Year, the Software Business remained
as the key source of income of the Group and accounted for approximately
64.4% of the Group’s total revenue from continuing operations for the Year.

In view of the impacts brought by the volatile global equity and financial
markets on the Securities Investment Business and the inherent material
price risks affecting this business, the Company had decided to suspend
operation of this business segment with effect from 11 May 2018, and has,
taking into account the prevailing market situations, sought to dispose of
some of the assets entailed in the Securities Investment Business. However,
as disclosed under the section headed “Report of the Directors — Event after
reporting period” in this report, the Group subscribed for 1,400,000 ordinary
shares allotted and issued by the Target Company (as defined below),
representing approximately 6.54% of the enlarged issued share capital of
the Target Company on 25 March 2019. In view of the low interest rate
environment and the solid financial position of the Group, the Directors believe
that the subscription represents a strategic move to potentially revive the
Securities Investment Business and there is still room for improvement of the
performance of this business segment. The Group will continue to dispose
of the previous remaining assets entailed in this segment at an opportune
time and closely monitor the performance of the new investment in the Target
Company.

In the view of the instabilities lurking in the the global economy as well as the
volatile financial market in Hong Kong, the Company had decided to suspend
the operation of the Money Lending Business with effect from 11 May 2018.
On 25 September 2018, after the expiration of money lenders licence granted
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) held by Citi Profit Finance Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, the Money Lending Business was classified as a discontinued
operation for the Year. During the Year, the Money Lending Business did
not record any doubtful or bad debt. Due to uncertain global economy and
the potential risks of the Money Lending Business, it was a good chance
for the Group to refocus its resources on its core businesses and/or other
investments which will bring higher returns to shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) as and when opportunities arise.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$149,336,000 and net current
assets of approximately HK$155,263,000. Based on the solid financial
position, the Group is looking for and evaluating investment or acquisition
opportunities in businesses with growth potential. It will strategically invest its
capital with the aim of generating long-term and stable revenue and achieving
further business diversification, thereby delivering the best returns to the
Shareholders.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, despite the challenging business environment, the Group is
cautiously optimistic about the future market conditions and will endeavour
at its best to stabilise business growth and achieve higher return. The Group
will continue to effectively allocate its resources to expand its core businesses
and, at the same time, keep exploring new business opportunities and identify
quality investments with good potentials to diversify its business segments and
risks.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to all our business partners, the Shareholders and customers for
their continuing trust and support in the past year. | would also like to extend
my sincere thanks to all staff of the Group and members of the Board for their
dedication and devotion during 2018, alongside their desire for the Group to
realise progress.

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

26 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW
Continuing Operations
Software Business

During the Year, the business of research, development and distribution of
personal computer (“PC”) performance software, anti-virus software, mobile
phone applications and toolbar advertisements (“Software Business”) of
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$85,823,000 (2017:
approximately HK$109,209,000), representing a decrease of approximately
21.4% as compared to that of 2017. The segment loss of the Software
Business amounted to approximately HK$130,895,000 (2017: loss of
approximately HK$137,321,000), including the impairment loss on goodwil
(“Impairment loss on Goodwill") of approximately HK$163,000,000 (2017:
approximately HK$182,000,000) in relation to the cash-generating unit (‘CGU”)
of the Software Business, representing a decrease of approximately 4.7% as
compared to that of 2017. Details of the Impairment Loss on Goodwill are set
out in the sub-section headed “Updates on Material Asset Impairment” in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report and note
23 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this report. During the
Year, as the Software Business was in the progress of expanding its market
footprint to cover emerging markets in the Asia-Pacific region, such progress
was affected by the volatile global economy which was also expected to
raise uncertainties to the future macro-economic outlook. The global issues
including the rising U.S. interest rates, the intensifying Sino-U.S. trade war, the
uncertain outcome of Brexit as well as the tightening U.S. monetary system
have continued to hit the business environment of emerging Asian markets
and traditional markets like Europe and the U.S. . On the other hand, the
popularity of mobile devices, the downward trend of global PC industry as well
as the fierce competition in the I.T. market have continued to impact the sales
performance of software products. The Software Business remained weak
during the Year, as its growth in emerging markets was slower than expected
and could not offset the decline in sales in traditional markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The need to protect networks from external threats is paving the way for
a bright direction of development of the Software Business as information
technology soars to new height with threatening cyber attacks. Boom
Max International Limited (“Boom Max”) and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Boom Max Group”), the operating unit of the Group carrying on the
Software Business, have kept watching closely on the latest I.T. development
trends and hastened research and development (“R&D”) on ways to plug
those loopholes, helping users defend against computer virus and hackers,
and protect their valuable data, privacy and property. During the Year, the
Boom Max Group continued to enhance its computer optimisation software
namely Advanced SystemCare, the computer optimisation and anti-virus
software namely Advanced SystemCare Ultimate, the mobile optimisation and
protection software namely Advanced Mobile Care Security, random password
generation software namely Random Password Generator, and the updated
version for the anti-hacker software namely I0bit Malware Fighter 6 earned
acclaims. Catering for computer users and computer game players with more
and more discerning requirements, the Boom Max Group’s software, including
the automatic PC driver updater namely Driver Booster, the automatic hard
disk defrag software namely Smart Defrag, and the Mac system cleaning and
maintenance software namely MacBooster, which promise users smooth,
stable and quality experience, continued to boost strong market presence
during the Year.

All aforementioned softwares are available to users worldwide at
www.iobit.com, or other software downloading directory websites and
affiliate websites. The Boom Max Group has kept building and reinforcing its
distribution channels. It has mature distribution and sales channels in the U.S.
and Europe, and is working on establishing distribution channels in countries
along the “Belt and Road” like the Philippines, Myanmar and Thailand, as well
as selling software products by cooperating more closely with local dealers
and affiliates. To expand the markets in Asian regions, the Boom Max Group
launched the Japanese and Korean versions of its flagship products including
Advanced SystemCare, Advanced Mobile Care Security and MacBooster
following the launch of product websites in various languages during the Year.

As at 31 December 2018, the Boom Max Group’s products had more than
100 million users in total, including new non-paying and active paying users
(users who had subscribed product at least once during the Year) (2017: more
than 102 million).

The Boom Max Group has a R&D team armed with professional expertise and
dedicated to innovation. The team not only has amassed profound hands-on
experience in network security, but has also created diverse software products
that are sought after worldwide and built effective marketing channels
across border. Looking ahead, the Boom Max Group will keep abreast of
I.T. development, actively explore new technological application realm and a
sustainable business development mode.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWE DN

Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business

The Group provides corporate management solutions, I.T. contract services,
network infrastructure solutions, network professional services and I.T. project
implementation services (“Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract
Services Business”) to corporate clients mainly in Hong Kong through its
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, e-Perfect IT Limited (“e-Perfect IT”) and
Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited (‘“Wafer Systems”). During the Year,
revenue from this business segment was approximately HK$40,967,000
(2017: approximately HK$60,949,000),
approximately 32.8% as compared with that of 2017. This business segment
also recorded a loss of approximately HK$16,348,000 for the Year (2017:
profit of approximately HK$4,881,000).

representing a decrease of

During the Year, the Group recorded the impairment losses of approximately
HK$3,934,000, HK$300,000 and HK$4,588,000 on goodwill in respect of
e-Perfect IT, the CGU of this business segment, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets under this business segment respectively, while the
Group did not record any impairment losses on the goodwill in respect of
e-Perfect IT, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets under this
business segment in 2017. The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation
Service Limited, an independent valuer, to determine the recoverable amount
of e-Perfect IT as at 31 December 2018. Pursuant to the valuation report
from the independent valuer, by adopting the asset-based approach, the
recoverable amount of e-Perfect IT as at 31 December 2018 was less than
its carrying amount. Due to the decrease in the number of sizeable project
contracts for the Year as compared to that of 2017 as well as the keen
competition in the I.T. market, the business performance of e-Perfect IT has
declined for the Year and the Company considers not to make any further
investment into e-Perfect IT. Details of the impairment losses relating to this
business segment are set out in notes 21, 23 and 24 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report.

In view of the deteriorating financial performance of this business segment, the
Group’s management will pay close attention to the prospect of this business
segment and may consider the possibility of, including but not limited to,
scale-down or disposal of part of this business segment in the coming future.

Securities Investment Business

During the Year, due to the escalating trade conflicts between the U.S.
and China which brought all sorts of instabilities to the stock market and
the potential price risk of the securities investment business (‘Securities
Investment Business”) of the Group, after careful consideration, the Board had
decided to suspend operation of this business segment starting from May
2018. Paying close attention to the financial market of Hong Kong and the
performance of the Group’s investment portfolio, the Group sought to dispose
of some of the securities investments during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

However, as disclosed under the section headed “Report of the Directors —
Event after reporting period” in this report, the Group subscribed for 1,400,000
ordinary shares allotted and issued by the Target Company (as defined
below), representing approximately 6.54% of the enlarged issued share capital
of the Target Company on 25 March 2019. In view of the low interest rate
environment and the solid financial position of the Group, the Directors believe
that the subscription represents a strategic move to potentially revive the
Securities Investment Business and there is still room for improvement of the
performance of this business segment.

The Group will continue to look for opportunities to dispose of the remaining
securities investments held by the Group and closely monitor the performance
of the new investment in the Target Company.

During the Year, the segment loss for the Securities Investment Business
amounted to approximately HK$2,636,000 (2017: loss of approximately
HK$332,435,000). Such loss was mainly a mixed result of (i) the net fair
value loss on the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
(“FVTPL Financial Assets”) of approximately HK$2,830,000 (2017: loss of
approximately HK$31,240,000); and (i) the gain on disposal of the FVTPL
Financial Assets of approximately HK$103,000 (2017: loss of approximately
HK$260,547,000). The decrease in the loss of the Securities Investment
Business for the Year was mainly attributable to the scaled-down investment
portfolio of the Group in response to the volatile global financial and investment
markets during the Year.

The Group disposed of an aggregate of 107,540,000 shares (“Finsoft Shares”)
of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Finsoft”), a company listed
on GEM (stock code: 8018) in a series of transactions during the Year on
the open market of the Stock Exchange (collectively, the “Finsoft Disposal”).
The aggregate net proceeds of the Finsoft Disposal (after deducting stamp
duty and related expenses) were approximately HK$8.6 million at an
average price of approximately HK$0.08 per Finsoft Share. The proceeds
from the Finsoft Disposal would be used for general working capital of the
Group. Having considered the current financial market in Hong Kong, the
Directors considered it was the appropriate time for the Group to realise its
investment in Finsoft and refocus its resources on the Group’s core business
segments. The Finsoft Disposal resulted in an aggregate loss of approximately
HK$14,726,000 which has been recognised in the other comprehensive
income for the Year. Upon settlement of the Finsoft Disposal, the Group held
78,952,340 Finsoft Shares, representing approximately 6.26% of the issued
share capital of Finsoft as at 31 December 2018. Details of the disposals
of the Finsoft Shares on the open market of the Stock Exchange during the
period from 24 October 2018 to 9 January 2019 are further disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 9 January 2019. In January 2019, the
Group disposed of the remaining Finsoft Shares held by the Group on the
open market of the Stock Exchange and did not hold any investment in Finsoft
since then.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 December 2018, fair value of the FVTPL Financial Assets
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI Financial Assets”) (formerly classified as available-for-sale financial
assets) of the Group were approximately HK$4,224,000 (31 December
2017: approximately HK$9,656,000) and approximately HK$5,439,000
(81 December 2017: available-for-sale financial assets of approximately
HK$37,149,000) respectively, consisting of four investment items (2017: nine
items), three of which are shares listed on the Stock Exchange and one is an
unlisted investment fund.

Below are the securities investments held by the Group as at 31 December
2018:

RZZ-N\F+-A=+—8 FEEEBREZARTFE
EMEMNEREERSBEMEAKRENAFEBE
WEMEE ([EREBEEKEUAFEEYIERNESR
BE]) (ARoBEATRLESRHEE) NAFEES
B4 54,224,0008 T (R=—T—+F+=-B=+—0"
499,656,000/ 7T ) & #) /55,439,000 7T (R =T —+
F+ZA=+—R8 A #HE S8 E E 437,149,000
7o) HENEREER (ZT—1F: AEEE ) A6
HP=EEE ARBR EMH A ARG
FEMEREES

(EREIEWE

UTAAEER-_T—\F+_A=+—AMBEZEHFRE:

Percentage
of total issued
share capital Percentageto  Percentage to Unrealised
of the investee Fair  the Group’s net the Group’s loss
Number of ~ company as at value as at assets as at total assets as at on change Dividend
Place of shares held by 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December in fair value income
Name of investee company Notes  incorporation the Group 2018 2018 2018 2018 for the Year for the Year
RZB-N%
+=A=1-H RZB-NE  RIB-N\F KEER
EHREDE  R-B-NF +ZAZt-H +ZA=t-H NYEERD
r5@KE  <BRARX  +ZB=t-H 8- 2 312 ZAER REER
BRENRER Wi ERRIEE ZBH#E  AEZEAL ZATEE HEFERSML EEAEALM g} REHA
(Note 1) (Audited) (Audited)
(H&1) (B&#) (8%%)
(HKS'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)
(Th7) (Fh7) (F&7m)
(Approximately)  (Approximately)  (Approximately) (Approximately) (Approximately)
(#4) (B4) (B4) (§H4) (BH4)
FVTOCI Financial Assets
EREMZEVEAATEBIRNEREE
Convoy Global Holdings Limited 2 Cayman lslands 13,612,000 0.09% 1,176 0.31% 0.27% (459) =
(‘Convoy Global')
RERRERERAR ([RERR]) HERE
Finsoft 3 CaymanIslands 78,952,340 6.26% 4263 1.12% 098% (8,920) -
8 ReRs
FVTPL Financial Assets
ERRENATEBIRNEREE
Convoy Global 2 Cayman Islands 10,000 0.000067% 1 0.00026% 0.00023% - -
RERR ReRs
Hydra Capital SPC—SP#1 (‘Hydra Capital SPC’) 4 Caymen Islands 1,100 491% - 0% 0% (156) -
Hydra Capital SPC—SP#1 HEHE
([Hydra Capital SPC |)
First Credit Finance Group Limited 5 Bermuda 84,460,000 2.33% 4,223 1.11% 0.98% (2,196) -
(‘First Credt’”)
F-FReRSEERLA (5-RR)) ARE
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Notes :

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The percentages were calculated based on taking reference of the then latest
monthly return or next day disclosure of return of the investee companies
publicly available on the website of the Stock Exchange (where applicable).

Convoy Global (stock code: 1019) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Convoy Group”) principally engage in independent financial advisory
business, money lender business, proprietary investment business, assets
management business, corporate finance business and securities dealing
business. Based on the annual report of Convoy Global for the year ended
31 December 2016 published on 27 April 2017, the Convoy Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2016 was approximately HK$1,205.1
million (2015: approximately HK$604.6 million), representing an increase of
approximately 99.3%. The Convoy Group recorded net loss of approximately
HK$104.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: net loss of
approximately HK$484.1 million), representing an improvement of approximately
78.5% relative to the year before. As disclosed in its interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2017 dated 22 August 2017, to pursue the vision
of becoming a leading financial group in Asia, Convoy Global had set three
short-term goals: (i) to establish a comprehensive financial service platform
in Asia, with special focus on Hong Kong and Mainland China; (ii) to realise
synergies among its different business segments and regions of operation;
and (jii) to improve the effectiveness of its capital structure. As disclosed in the
announcement of Convoy Global dated 31 August 2018 in relation to delay in
publication of interim results and despatch of interim report for the six months
ended 30 June 2018, PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as the new
auditor of Convoy Global with effect from 1 February 2018 and the publication
of its annual results for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the despatch
of its annual report for the year ended 31 December 2017 were still pending, it
was expected that the announcement of its interim results and the despatch of
its interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2018 shall not be ready by
31 August 2018 and 30 September 2018 respectively. At the request of Convoy
Global, since 7 December 2017, trading in its shares on the Stock Exchange
has halted (“Suspension”). As disclosed in the supplemental announcement of
Convoy Global dated 19 February 2019 in relation to update on the Suspension,
Convoy Global had completed the subscription of shares in Tandem Money
Limited and was still in the process of obtaining the approval under the Financial
Service and Markets Act 2000 of the UK by the Financial Conduct Authority of
the UK for the completion of the second tranche subscription and the further
investment in Nutmeg Saving and Investment Limited. The directors of Convoy
Global pointed out that the Convoy Group was carrying on its businesses as
usual and considered that the Suspension did not have any material adverse
effect on the daily business operation nor financial position of the Group.
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Finsoft (stock code: 8018) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Finsoft Group”) principally engage in the provision of financial trading software
solutions, provision of other I.T. and internet financial platforms services,
provision of referral services, money lending business and assets investments
in Hong Kong. Based on the annual report of Finsoft for the year ended 31
December 2017 published on 29 March 2018, the Finsoft Group recorded
the revenue from its continuing operations of approximately HK$56.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: approximately HK$58.5 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 2.8% as compared to that of last year.
The net loss of the Finsoft Group from its continuing operations for the year
ended 31 December 2017 reached approximately HK$54.4 million, which has
substantially increased as compared to a net loss of approximately HK$10.4
million for last year. Based on the third quarterly report of Finsoft for the nine
months ended 30 September 2018 published on 13 November 2018, noticing
the immense interest of innovative trading solutions inventions in the market, the
Finsoft Group would strive to further strengthen its business in the provision of
financial trading software solutions. The Finsoft Group would also devote more
financial resources to its money lending business and aim for a better revenue
growth. The Finsoft Group believed diversification of its business segments
could maintain a healthy financial profile and promote a sustainable growth of
the Group and would actively seize cooperation and acquisition opportunities
with more business partners in various fields in the future. As disclosed in the
profit warning announcement of Finsoft dated 19 March 2019, the Finsoft Group
expected to record a decrease in its net loss for the Year, as compared to a net
loss of approximately HK$46.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017
(“FY20177), primarily due to the combined effects of (i) the absence of gains
on disposal of available-for-sale investments, subsidiaries and an associate
and profit guarantee income, all being one-off in nature, during the Year, while
such aggregated gains and income of approximately HK$23.3 milion were
recorded in FY2017; (i) the absence of impairment losses on available-for-
sale investments and investment in an associate, all being one-off in nature,
during the Year, while such aggregated losses of approximately HK$37.8 million
were recorded in FY2017; and (iii) the decrease in equity-settled share-based
payments recognised for the share options granted by Finsoft of approximately
HK$6.8 million in the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hydra Capital SPC is an unlisted investment fund, which was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and registered as a segregated portfolio company permitted
to implement its investment strategy, and its investment portfolio included
certain online games. Referring to the newsletter of Hydra Capital SPC dated
3 February 2017, Hydra Capital SPC held 20.2% interests in Something Big
Technology Holdings Limited (“Something Big”), which is a company carrying
on the business to publish self-developed games, games licensed from third-
party game distributors and/or developers in the PRC as well as overseas
locations including Hong Kong, Taiwan, Malaysia, Singapore, Japan and the
Republic of Korea. The revenue and net loss for the year ended 31 December
2017 of Hydra Capital SPC was approximately RMB16.5 million and RMB16.8
million respectively, representing a decrease of 74.1% and an increase of
123% compared to those of last year. As disclosed in the newsletter of Hydra
Capital SPC dated 29 March 2018, Hydra Capital SPC planned to dispose of
its investment and distribute available proceeds to its investors and be wound
up after all accrued liabilities are settled. Referring to the newsletter from Hydra
Capital SPC dated 13 March 2019, due to fierce competition, the performance
of Something Big has been extremely poor since 2015 leading to significant
deterioration in its value. Something Big continues to operate at a loss and there
is no sign of any business turnaround in the future, and the fund administrator
of Hydra Capital SPC proceeded to redeem all the shares of Hydra Capital SPC
owned by the Group at the zero consideration on 13 March 2019.

First Credit (stock code: 8215) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “First Credit Group”) principally engage in the businesses of money lending
and securities trading. As disclosed in the annual results announcement of
First Credit for the year ended 31 December 2018 dated 22 March 2019, the
First Credit Group recorded the revenue of approximately HK$92.76 million
for the Year, representing a decrease of approximately 20.16% over the
revenue of approximately HK$116.19 million recorded for the year ended 31
December 2017. The profit attributable to owners of the company decreased by
approximately 51.25% from approximately HK$53.18 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 to approximately HK$25.93 million for the Year. As disclosed
in the annual results announcement of First Credit for the year ended 31
December 2018 dated 22 March 2019, the First Credit Group would maintain
healthy development of different business segments to consolidate its business
portfolio and diversify its source of income. While leveraging its experience in
money lending business, the First Credit Group would like to further develop
such business by expanding its customer base to different territories including
Mainland China and Macau in light of the keen competition in the ever-changing
local market. At the direction of the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong (“SFC”), the Stock Exchange had suspended all dealings in the shares of
First Credit with effect from 24 November 2017 under Rule 8(1) of the Securities
and Futures (Stock Market Listing) Rules (Chapter 571V of the Laws of Hong
Kong). As disclosed in the update announcement of First Credit on recent
development of suspension dated 1 February 2019, a meeting of the SFC was
scheduled to be held in February 2019 for clarification of issues and generally
for the just handling of the First Credit’s case and the SFC would deliberate and
decide whether to permit dealings in the First Credit's shares to recommence
subject to such conditions as it may think fit. First Credit would continue to seek
legal advice with a view to resume trading of its shares as soon as practicable.
Notwithstanding the suspension, the First Credit Group has been carrying on
its businesses as usual and continues to carry on money lending business and
securities trading business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Investment in Jun Yang Energy

In 2016, Lucky Famous Limited (“Lucky Famous”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, acquired approximately 35% of the issued share capital of
Jun Yang Energy Holdings Limited (& FZ a2 RZER AR A7) (‘Jun Yang
Energy”) at an aggregate cash consideration of HK$40,290,000. On 24
February 2017, the Group entered into a shareholder loan agreement in
relation to the provision of a loan in the principal amount of US$3,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$27,230,000) to Jun Yang Energy. The loan
was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable upon demand. The
loan was in proportion to the Group’s shareholding in Jun Yang Energy
corresponding to those made by the other shareholders of Jun Yang Energy.
Details of the shareholder loan agreement are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 February 2017.

Jun Yang Energy and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Jun Yang Energy
Group”) are principally engaged in solar energy business with a focus on
development, construction, operation and maintenance of power station
projects in China. During the Year, the Group recorded a share of loss of
approximately HK$21,704,000 from the investment in Jun Yang Energy
(2017: share of loss of approximately HK$15,644,000). Such loss was mainly
attributable to (i) a drop in gross profit; (i) an impairment loss caused by
the uncertainty in deferred collection of government subsidies receivables;
and (i) an impairment loss on its fixed assets. Taking into account the
declining financial performance and working capital position of the Jun Yang
Energy Group and the low recoverability of the loan due from the Jun Yang
Energy Group, the Group recorded an expected credit loss allowance of
approximately HK$27,230,000 on the loan due from the Jun Yang Energy
Group by application of the general approach for the provision for expected
credit losses as prescribed by Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9
(Financial Instruments). Details of the expected credit losses are set out in note
6(c) to the consolidated financial statements contained in this report.

On 31 May 2018, the National Development and Reform Commission and
the Ministry of Finance and National Energy Administration jointly released
the “Notice on matters relevant to photovoltaic power generation in 2018”,
stating that construction of general solar power stations has been suspended
in 2018 and standardised management applies to development of distributed
solar power generation projects, and for new-on-grid solar power operations,
the levels of subsidy have been lowered. Nonetheless, a quota system for
renewable energy is expected to be launched during the year to support long
term healthy development of solar power enterprises. The government of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) holding back payment of subsidies to solar
power companies (including Jun Yang Energy Group) has to a certain extent
affected the Group’s cash flow. The management of Jun Yang Energy will
continue to keep a close watch on policy direction and change in development
situations, adjust its capital strategy accordingly and make timely disclosure to
shareholders.

15  GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

REREGEENT

ANA T2 B KB 2 FlLucky Famous Limited ([Lucky
Famous |) i =& — /X FF LA 4237 € R {840,290,0007% 7T
WEEGEERIERAR AT ([BI5EIR]) 435% 8 1T
AR RZFE—ttF_A=-+WB AEEFTZ DK
RERHE NAEHAEBERRE—S45e2EA
3,500,0003 7T (&1 4927,230,000/8 70 ) I E X - B3
AEER RERERERERE BERNRAEERE
5EER 2 R ) - SR B R se R IR AT iR it 2 B
L - ZBRRER BRI FBRRNAARARAZT
—tF_AZF+mBEZRE-

EHEREEMBAR (ABBEBEREE])EER
FEMEARGEEER (XN EIEE 2% R
HEREE) RAFEAR AEBEHZERERERGE
RIS E M B B84 521,704,000 (ZF—t 4
FE(LE1E4915,644,0008 7T) - BRAEIBEZHN)EF
SR+ (i) A K [0 FE U IR T 4 B R T R E B B R B S
B RiiETEEZREEBEMB-BEREGERSE
ENFBRRTEREEEESRR URAEBEER
EGREEERN AT NERREER AEERESNS
HREEAFOR (MIE) ZHEERA — R EZAEH
FEEBEEEG BEREEBEREBEREHEES
B E#27,230,0008 7T - B EAE E B EF IR E# N AR
ERNERE T HERE M E6(C)

RIE-N\FHEA=+—H BERERVINEEZEE-
MBREBRERER RSN (FAR2018FALREER
MEENBA) EHEERH T \FEBAGE
BUERAE RETEIMALGREERAER
R NEFEN N ANBUEHBRE EREAFERE
LA BERRENLRNE HAGRHEERER
BER -ERBHPEARKNE ([FE])BFRAEG
X (BEEGRRER) BEERMA —EREL
HAKERERERTE EHEREEESEEEY
BERRPAREERR RENHEE KB L
A A SR R



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Discontinued Operation
Money Lending Business

Citi Profit Finance Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, held a money lenders licence granted under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and engaged in money
lending business (“Money Lending Business”) during the Year.

Taking into account the uncertain global economy and the potential risks of the
Money Lending Business, after careful consideration, the Board had decided
to suspend the operation of the Money Lending Business starting from 11 May
2018. After the money lenders licence expired on 25 September 2018, the
Money Lending Business of the Group has been discontinued.

During the Year, the Money Lending Business recorded an interest income of
approximately HK$50,000 (2017: approximately HK$813,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 93.8% as compared to that of 2017. This business
segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$21,000 for the Year (2017:
profit of approximately HK$753,000). The turnaround from a profit to a loss
was mainly attributable to the scale-down of the business. As at 10 May 2018
and 31 December 2018, the Group had no loan receivables (31 December
2017: loan receivables including loan interest receivables of approximately
HK$6,177,000). During the Year, the Money Lending Business did not record
any doubtful or bad debt (2017: Nil).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, revenue of the Group’s continuing operations was
approximately HK$133,230,000, representing a decrease of approximately
28.7% as compared to the revenue of approximately HK$186,967,000 for
2017. The main contributors to the revenue from continuing operations
of the Group for the Year were (i) revenue from the Software Business
of approximately HK$85,823,000; (ii) revenue from the Corporate
Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services Business of approximately
HK$40,967,000; and (i) revenue from the other operating segments of
approximately HK$6,440,000.

Gross Profit
Gross profit from continuing operations of the Group for the Year decreased

by approximately 32.3% to approximately HK$78,397,000 for the Year from
approximately HK$115,820,000 for 2017.
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Finance Costs

The finance costs incurred from continuing operations of the Group decreased
from approximately HK$13,720,000 for 2017 to nil for the Year.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$244,267,000 from
continuing and discontinued operations for the Year (2017: approximately
HK$499,210,000). The net loss for the Year was primarily attributable to
(i) segment loss of the Software Business of approximately HK$130,895,000
(2017: loss of approximately HK$137,321,000), including the Impairment
Loss on Goodwill of approximately HK$163,000,000 (2017: approximately
HK$182,000,000); (i) segment loss of the Corporate Management Solutions
and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$16,348,000 (2017:
profit of approximately HK$4,881,000); (i) share of loss of an associate
of the Company of approximately HK$21,704,000 (2017: share of loss of
approximately HK$15,644,000); and (iv) the expected credit loss allowance on
the loan due from an associate of approximately HK$27,230,000 (2017: Nil)
and on the AP Receivable (as defined below) of approximately HK$12,200,000
(2017: Nil).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$251,411,000 for the Year as compared with the loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$512,327,000 for 2017.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$149,336,000 (31 December
2017: approximately HK$104,193,000), which were principally denominated in
United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars (2017: Renminbi, United States
dollars and Hong Kong dollars). During the Year, the Group generally financed
its operations with internal resources and there was no significant change in its
capital structure.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$433,035,000 (31 December 2017: approximately
HK$705,680,000) and total liabilities of approximately HK$53,723,000 (31
December 2017: approximately HK$56,847,000). The gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 12.4%
as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: approximately 8.1%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend any payment of dividend for the Year (2017:
Nil).

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group pledged bank deposits of approximately
US$80,000 and HK$1,013,000 (in aggregate, equivalent to approximately
HK$1,637,000) (31 December 2017: approximately US$80,000,
HK$1,016,000 and HK$1,008,000 (in aggregate, equivalent to approximately
HK$2,645,000)) for securing banking facilities of HK$1,500,000 (31 December
2017: HK$2,500,000) granted to the Group. The bank deposits were
denominated in United States dollars with a term of six months at fixed interest
rate of 0.55% per annum and Hong Kong dollars with a term of 31 days at
fixed interest rate of 1% per annum, respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had undrawn banking facilities
of approximately HK$1,866,000 (31 December 2017: approximately
HK$2,908,000).

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group did not hold any
margin trading account.

RISK FACTORS
Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Year, business activities of the Group were mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. The United States dollar
is the main currency for transactions made by the Group. Since the Hong
Kong dollar remains pegged to the United States dollar within a defined
range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk
against the United States dollar and therefore has not entered into any foreign
exchange contract as hedging measures. The Directors did not consider
the Group as being exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange
risk. Notwithstanding the above, the Group continues to manage its foreign
currency risk against other currencies by closely monitoring movement of
exchange rates and may use hedging derivatives, such as foreign currency
forward contracts, as and when appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Financial Risk

The total assets of the Group of approximately HK$433,035,000 as at 31
December 2018 mainly included the FVTOCI Financial Assets of approximately
HK$5,439,000, the FVTPL Financial Assets of approximately HK$4,224,000,
goodwill of approximately HK$146,079,000 and intangible assets of
approximately HK$77,357,000. The Group’s FVTOCI Financial Assets and
FVTPL Financial Assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk due to
fluctuation of the fair value of the FVTOCI Financial Assets and the FVTPL
Financial Assets. The Directors regularly review exposure of the Group’s
FVTOCI Financial Assets and FVTPL Financial Assets to equity security price
risk. Moreover, the Directors closely monitor the financial performance and
operation of cash generating units containing goodwill and intangible assets,
and conduct impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets annually
and more frequently should there be any unforeseeable events or changes in
circumstances pointing to potential impairment.

Operation Risk

The Group is exposed to the corresponding operation risks each of its
business divisions faces. To manage those risks, the management of each
business division is responsible for monitoring the operation of their respective
divisions and assessing related operation risks. They are responsible for
implementing the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall
report any irregularities in connection with operation of projects to the Directors
and seek direction.

Credit Risk

To minimise credit risk, the Directors closely monitor the overall level of credit
exposure, whereas the management is responsible for determining credit
approvals and monitoring the implementation of collection procedure to
ensure follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the
end of a reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LITIGATIONS

As at the date of this report, the Group was involved in three civil legal
proceedings, namely, the AP Acquisition Litigation, the AP Management
Litigation and the Perfect Growth Litigation (all as defined below).

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 13
June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation to, among other
matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment
Holdings Limited (“AP Group Investment”, together with its subsidiaries,
referred to as the “AP Group”) (“Acquisition”) and the announcements of
the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July 2018 in
relation to the adjustment to consideration for the Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (“SP
Agreement”) with Fragrant River Entertainment Culture (Holdings)
Limited (“Vendor”) and Universe International Holdings Limited (now
known as Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited)
(“Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to
acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell 51% equity interest
of AP Group Investment, at the consideration of HK$20,400,000,
subject to downward adjustments as described below, which shall
be settled by way of allotment and issue of 40,800,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company, credited as fully paid, at the issue price of
HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor (or its nominee), on the date of
completion. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision of
self-improvement and self-enhancement training programmes in Hong
Kong. Completion of the Acquisition took place on 1 July 2016.
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In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP Agreement,
in the event that the audited consolidated profit after tax of AP Group
Investment attributable to its owners from 1 January 2016 to 31
December 2017 (‘FY 2016 & 2017”) (which will only include income
or gain generated by activities in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the AP Group) (“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than
HK$16,000,000, the Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure
the Vendor to, pay to Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment
amount (“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment for FY2016
& 2017 (“FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”) are available. The
Adjustment Amount shall be determined in accordance with the formula
set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 — (NP/2) x 5 x 51%
Where:
“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY2016 & 2017
Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be zero.

The FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY2016 & 2017
Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited, adjusted for any non-
recurring items.

Based on the FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group shall be
deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group has requested the Vendor
and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000
on or before 26 June 2018 according to the terms and conditions of the
SP Agreement (“AP Receivable”). On 22 June 2018, the Group received
a letter from the legal adviser acting for the Vendor and the Guarantor
that they will defend the purported claim of the Group for the payment
of the Adjustment Amount alleged by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and the
Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY2016 & 2017
Audited Accounts were made available to them, the Group had not
received any payment of the Adjustment Amount from any of the
Vendor and the Guarantor.

The Board considered that the Vendor and the Guarantor have
potentially breached their contractual obligations by failing to repay
the Group the Adjustment Amount in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the SP Agreement. In order to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of the Group, after seeking legal advice, the
Group has commenced legal proceeding (‘AP Acquisition Litigation”)
against the Vendor as the 1st defendant and the Guarantor as the 2nd
defendant. A writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed
by Lucky Famous as plaintiff at the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ, the Group
claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment
Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs.

Without prejudice to any right against the Vendor and the Guarantor
under the SP Agreement, the AP Receivable was HK$20,400,000 as at
31 December 2018. The Group applies general approach to provide for
expected credit loss allowance of approximately HK$12,200,000 for the
Year in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
which is based on the valuation performed by an independent valuer,
taking into account the discount rate factors, potential legal fee and
other factors in estimating the fair value. Details of the expected credit
losses are set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP Group
Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons in the High
Court of Hong Kong against Mr. Chan Sze Long (“1st Defendant”) as
the 1st defendant and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa (“2nd Defendant”, together
with the 1st Defendant, referred to as the “Defendants”) as the 2nd
defendant for the matters as detailed below (“AP Management
Litigation”). The 1st Defendant and the 2nd Defendant are former
directors of AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on
18 July 2018. The 1st Defendant and/or his controlled company, and
the controlled company of the 2nd Defendant, are also former directors
of the other members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest in AP
Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Lucky Famous.
As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP Group Investment, all
members of the AP Group are subsidiaries of the Company and their
financial results have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated
financial statements prior to the deconsolidation of the AP Group
becoming effective on 1 April 2018. The AP Group was principally
engaged in the provision of self-improvement and self-enhancement
training programs in Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the Defendants
as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of the experience and
expertise of the Defendants in running the AP Group, it was agreed by
the parties that the Defendants were wholly responsible for the efficient
and proper management and operation of the AP Group, including but
not limited to, the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping
proper books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group, and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance reports,
annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP Group Investment,
including that of all the other members of the AP Group to the
Company, within 15 days after each month’s end. After the resignations
of the Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018
and up to the date of this report, the Defendants failed to deliver up
all the accounting books and financial records of, and all businesses
records in connection with, the running of the AP Group, including but
not limited to records in relation to the students’ records, instructors’
records and information on potential litigations, for the period of seven
years immediately prior to the date of their resignations as director of
AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 (“Full Business Records”) to the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Group,
after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced legal proceeding
against the Defendants. The Group claimed against the Defendants for
the reliefs, including but not limited to, delivering up of the Full Business
Records, accounting for the assets of the AP Group for the period from
1 April 2018 to 18 July 2018 that were in the power, possession or
control of the Defendants and damages to be assessed.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 July 2018.

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth Limited (“Perfect Growth”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, received an amended writ of
summons (“Amended Writ”) with an amended statement of claim
(“Amended Statement of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance
of the High Court of Hong Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited
(“1st Plaintiff’), Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL
Securities Limited (“3rd Plaintiff’) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd
Plaintiff collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other
defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th defendant (“Perfect Growth
Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the defendants by way
of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the Amended
Writ, Perfect Growth is named as one of the Alleged Independent
Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of the 1st Plaintiff
carried out in around October 2015 (“October 2015 Placing”)) and has
been allotted with some of the Wrongfully Allotted Shares (being shares
of the 1st Plaintiff allotted in the October 2015 Placing).

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the Plaintiffs
against Perfect Growth are as follows:

(1) the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment of the
Wrongfully Allotted Shares by the 1st Plaintiff to, among others,
Perfect Growth is null and void, or has been rescinded and be set
aside;

(2)  the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order for
payment of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation
to be assessed and/or damages to be assessed for dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful means
conspiracy as against, among others, Perfect Growth, in relation
to, among other matters, the October 2015 Placing and the
allotment of the Wrongfully Allotted Shares; and
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(8)  the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect Growth (a)
general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d) further

and/or other reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. Treasury activities are
centralised and the Group normally invests in portfolios comprising diverse
products. It has guidelines in place to monitor and control investment risk
exposure and to manage capital. The Board closely reviews the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure the Group has a liquidity structure, with assets,
liabilities and other commitments, adequate for meeting its funding
requirements at all times.

UPDATES ON MATERIAL ASSET IMPAIRMENT

During the Year, the Group recorded the Impairment Loss on Goodwill of
approximately HK$163,000,000 in relation to the Software Business. Details
of the Impairment Loss on Goodwill are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report.

Impairment on goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36, an impairment
loss shall be recognised for the CGU if the recoverable amount of the CGU
is less than the carrying amount of the CGU. The Company should conduct
goodwill impairment review annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment.

Subsequent to the publication of the first quarterly results of the Company for
the three months ended 31 March 2018, the Board noted that the financial
performance of the Software Business did not pick up as expected and
has further declined. In view of the decrease in revenue from the Software
Business of approximately HK$43.1 million for the six months ended 30
June 2018 as compared to that of approximately HK$56.8 million for the
corresponding period in 2017, representing a decrease of approximately
24.2%, the Board considered that this may be an indicator of potential
impairment on the carrying amount of the goodwill of the Boom Max Group,
the CGU of the Software Business. Accordingly, the Company appointed
Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited as independent valuer in assisting
in the valuation of the CGU in relation to the Boom Max Group as at 30 June
2018 (“June 2018 Valuation”).

The Impairment Loss on Goodwill, which was non-cash in nature, did not
affect the Group’s working capital condition during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Calculation of impairment loss

As at 30 June 2018, the carrying amount of the Boom Max Group before
impairment was approximately HK$521 million (31 December 2017:
approximately HK$521 million) which comprised (i) goodwill of approximately
HK$288 million (31 December 2017: approximately HK$288 million)
attributable to the Group’s 65.177% interest in the Boom Max Group; (ii)
goodwill of approximately HK$154 million (31 December 2017: approximately
HK$154 million) attributable to the non-controlling interests in the Boom
Max Group; and (i) net operating assets of approximately HK$79 million (31
December 2017: approximately HK$79 million) of the Boom Max Group.

As at 30 June 2018, the recoverable amount of the Boom Max Group was
approximately HK$271 million (31 December 2017: approximately HK$584
million) (equivalent to approximately US$34.9 million (31 December 2017:
approximately US$75.3 million)), being an amount shown in the valuation
report on the Boom Max Group as at 30 June 2018 prepared by the
independent valuer which was determined based on the value in use (“VIU”)
using the valuation method of discounted cash flow. It requires estimates
concerning future cash flows and associated discount rate and growth rate
assumptions which are based on the management’s expectation of future
business performance and prospects of the Boom Max Group.

The impairment loss on goodwill of 100% interest of the Boom Max Group of
approximately HK$250 million for the six months ended 30 June 2018 reduces
the carrying amount of the Boom Max Group of approximately HK$521 million
as at 30 June 2018 to its recoverable amount of approximately HK$271
million as at 30 June 2018. After the allocation of impairment loss to non-
controlling interests, the Group recognised an impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$163 million in relation to the Boom Max Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2018 with reference to its holding of 65.177% interest
in the Boom Max Group.
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Key basis and assumptions adopted for projected cash flow of
the Software Business

The expected average sales growth rate during the forecast period from the
year of 2019 to 2023 (“Forecast Period”) in 2018 was approximately 5.51%
while the expected average sales growth rate during the forecast period
from 2018 to 2022 (“Previous Forecast Period”) in 2017 was approximately
13.77%. As a result of the declining financial performance and the decrease
in the revenue of the Software Business for the six months ended 30 June
2018 by approximately 24.2% as compared to that for the corresponding
period in 2017 due to various factors which included the slower-than-expected
development pace in the Asian market, the volatility of the global economy,
the keen market competition in the I.T. market, the decline in the demand for
PCs, the management of the Group revised the 5-year cash flow forecast of
the Boom Max Group with reference to the actual financial results of the Boom
Max Group for the six months ended 30 June 2018 and the projected financial
results of the Boom Max Group for the six months ending 31 December 2018,
which resulted in the decrease in the recoverable amount of the CGU of the
Software Business. As a result, the projected average sales growth rate for
the Forecast Period in 2018 was lower than the projection for the Previous
Forecast Period made in 2017.

There were no significant changes in the basis adopted in the preparation
of the projected cash flow for the Forecast Period in 2018 as compared
with those adopted for the Previous Forecast Period in 2017, except for the
application of the declining revenue of the Boom Max Group in the six months
ended 30 June 2018 as a base for the projected cash flow for the Forecast
Period in 2018. The expected average sales growth rate during the Forecast
Period was determined with reference to a research on software industry
conducted on an international research platform for companies, industries and
mergers and acquisitions deals analysis while similar approach was adopted
for determining the expected average sales growth rate during the Previous
Forecast Period in 2017. The expected annual gross profit margins and annual
net profit margins during the Forecast Period in 2018 were predicted to be
maintained at the historical levels in 2017 and 2018 given that the I.T. market
and the global economy have not changed significantly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The VIU of the CGU of the Software Business was developed through the
application of the weighted-average-cost-of-capital (“WACC”) to discount the
free cash flows to the CGU. The WACC was calculated by taking into account
the cost of equity and the cost of debt. The cost of equity is calculated
according to the Capital Asset Pricing Model.
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30 June 31 December

2018 2017

—ZE-N\F —T—+tF

NA=+H +=ZA=+—H

Risk-free Rate 2 L B b 2.25% 1.83%

Levered Beta EE B EE 0.766 0.963

Market Risk Premium 3% R R B 11.81% 12.56%

Size Premium AR E 5.59% 5.60%

Cost of Equity TEE ZR R AR 16.89% 19.52%
The 10-year Hong Kong Sovereign Bond Yield as at 30 June 2018, (ie. EEWMERBANERAE-Z—N\FEA=1+H (EEHER
the Valuation Date), was used as the risk-free rate of Hong Kong because Hﬁ)210¢ MBEBBNEF =X BRNEFERA

government bonds are regarded as risk-free. This rate, as obtained from an
international research database, was approximately 2.25% (31 December
2017: 1.83%). As the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and the
principal operating subsidiaries of the Boom Max Group are located in Hong
Kong, reference was made to the Hang Seng Index annualised expected
return when determining the expected market return of Hong Kong.
The expected market return of Hong Kong, a forward-looking rate, was
approximately 14.05% (31 December 2017: 14.39%).
expected rate of return of Hong Kong equity market proxied as the market

It is the annualised

capitalisation weighted average of the expected internal rate of return of each
company in the Hang Seng Index. The internal rate of return is derived by
using the dividend discount model based on estimates from market consensus
taking into account the dividend vyield, growth rate and payout ratio by an
international research database. Therefore, the market risk premium, which
was the difference between the expected market return and the risk-free rate,
was taken to be 11.81% (31 December 2017: 12.56%) based on the rate
quoted from an international research database. The market risk premium is
the additional required return over the risk free rate when investing in equity
market. A small company risk premium of 5.59% (31 December 2017: 5.60%),
suggested by an international consulting firm based on its research and
database, was applied to the relatively small size of the Boom Max Group.
The small company risk premium can be added to cost of capital estimation
models as an adjustment for the additional risk of smaller companies relative
to large companies. The research done by the international consulting firm
provides different size premiums for different companies with various range of
market capitalisation. In the research, all companies on the New York Stock
Exchange (‘NYSE”) were ranked by the combined market capitalisation of
their eligible equity securities. The companies were then split into 10 equally
populated groups or deciles. Eligible companies traded on the NYSE and the
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Nasdaq National Market (“NASDAQ”) were then assigned to the appropriate
deciles according to their capitalisation in relation to the NYSE breakpoints.
The market capitalisation of the Boom Max Group falls within the smallest
range stated in the research and the small company risk premium was
accordingly applied. The small company risk premium was calculated over the
years from 1926 to 2016 during which the actual return in excess of risk free
rate minus the return in excess of risk free rate as predicted by Capital Asset
Pricing Model. The levered beta of approximately 0.766 (31 December 2017:
0.963) was derived from the average of unlevered beta of approximately 0.698
(81 December 2017: 0.852) guideline public companies in similar industries.

RFEAN SR ERBRTEBRAEFE - EIREEE
B#0.766( ZF—+F+=-A=+—H:0.963) J1#tfE
FTE LA A R R F I E1E18 B B E400.698( =&
—tF+ZRA=+—H:0852)1F -

Unlevered Beta

EERAEE
30 June 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
AA=1H +=A=+—-H

Guideline Public Companies EHAEEAR

Absolute Software Corp Absolute Software Corp 0.826 1.053
F-Secure OYJ F-Secure OYJ 0.753 0.887
Trend Micro Inc Trend Micro Inc 1.016 0.950
Advenica AB Advenica AB 0.433 0.624
Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. 0.752 0.876
Link Motion Inc. (previous name as NQ Mobile Inc.)  Link Motion Inc. (BT fNQ Mobile Inc.) 0.340 0.759
Symantec Corporation Symantec Corporation 0.762 0.813
Average of unlevered beta THEBIEAEE 0.698 0.852

The levered beta is calculated by multiplying the unlevered beta to the multiple
of (1 minus 16.50% of Hong Kong tax rate) and the ratio of debt to equity
and then plus 1. As at the Valuation Date, the average debt to equity ratio of
the comparable companies of approximately 11.82% (31 December 2017:
15.60%) was adopted as proxy to estimate the debt to equity ratio of the
Boom Max Group. The amount of cost of debt adopted was 7.00% (31
December 2017: 7.00%) which was the sum of International Monetary Fund
(IMF) Hong Kong lending rate as at the Valuation Date of 5.00% (31 December
2017: 5.00%) and an additional percentage of 2.00% (31 December 2017:
2.00%). International Monetary Fund (IMF) Hong Kong lending rate of 5.00%
was Hong Kong prime lending rate that banks generally charged the most
creditworthy clients as at the Valuation Date. An additional percentage of
2.00% was added to the cost of debt because of the credit risk for lending
money to the Group. The WACC of the Boom Max Group as at 30 June
2018 was approximately 15.72% (31 December 2017: 17.67%). The terminal
growth rate of approximately 3.08% (31 December 2017: 3.08%), which
was the average of the inflation rates of Hong Kong from 2008 to 2017, was
applied in the valuation as of the Valuation Date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

There were no significant changes in the methodology and sources of market
data applied in the valuation for the six months ended 30 June 2018 except
for the market risk premium of 11.81% as at 30 June 2018 decrease from
approximately 12.56% as at 31 December 2017. Such change in the market
risk premium led to a decrease in the WACC from approximately 17.67% as at
31 December 2017 to approximately 15.72% as at 30 June 2018. Companies
satisfying the following criteria, are adopted as comparable companies for the
valuation: (1) the comparable company is principally engaged in corporate
management solutions and I.T. contract services related business; (2) the
principal business of the comparable company is diversified geographically;
(3) the shares of the comparable company are listed on major stock exchange
and have been actively traded for a reasonable period of time; and (4) detailed
financial and operational information in respect of the comparable company
are publicly available.

The valuation method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation
of the VIU of the CGU of the Software Business. In accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever there
is an indication that the CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying
amount of the CGU, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount
of the CGU, which is the higher of the VIU and the fair value less costs of
disposal. The valuation method of fair value less costs of disposal was not
adopted as there were limited transactions of comparable CGU available in
the market for the determination of fair value after having researched on an
international research database, all announcements on the websites of the
Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and the financial reports and publicly available information of
listed companies in Hong Kong. In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 36, it will not be possible to measure fair value less costs of disposal
because there is no reasonable basis for making a reliable estimate of the price
at which an orderly transaction to sell the CGU would take place between
market participants at the measurement date under the then prevailing current
market condition. On the other hand, costs of disposal of transactions can
vary on a case-by-case basis and such information is not easily assessable. As
such, VIU was adopted as the recoverable amount of the CGU. The valuation
method of discounted cash flow has been consistently applied in the valuation
on the CGU of the Software Business since 2014.
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Details of the value of inputs

WAERFS

Set out below are additional information on the valuaton method, detals HBE-_T—\FRNAGBERRT—tF+_A=+—
of the value of inputs used in the valuation, key assumptions adopted by B ([ZZ—+E+ = A&E]) hREERE  BMEE
the valuer for performing the impairment assessment of the CGU of the  HIEA(EEIE  MEMAETEENIRSEL BT
Software Business in the June 2018 Valuation and as at 31 December 2017  B{EFHETHRAN T ZHRENE—FTER/DT

(“December 2017 Valuation”):

June 2018 Valuation
—E-NFXRAMKE

December 2017 Valuation
—E—tF+AHE

Date of valuation:

fhERH:

Valuation target:
HERR:

Valuation method:

fHER*:
Sum of present value of
free cash flow

HHRAESREREAMN

Major value of inputs:

TEWAE:

(i) Expected average sales growth rate

() TRERFE SRR
(i) Expected annual gross profit margins range

(i) TBEASE R £ X & E

(i) Expected annual net profit margins

(iii) 78 BA 4F /2 4 1) =

(iv) Corporate tax rate

(iv) EEHEX

(V) WACC

(v) hnigE & K AR
(vi) Terminal growth rate
(Vi) Ham it R &
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30 June 2018
—E-N\FEA~A=+H

31 December 2017
—ET—+tF+ZA=1+—H

Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries
Boom Max International Limited & £ Fff & /A &)

Discounted cash flow, income approach
BRBEERE  WAE

Approximately Approximately
US$34.9 million US$75.3 million
#934,900,000% 7T #975,300,000% 7T

5.51% from 2019 to 2023 13.77% from 2018 to 2022
TE-NFE_E_=FA551% T N\FE_T-_FAH1377%

equals to 77.72% during ranged from 78.26% to 78.30%
the years 2019 to 2023 during the years 2018 to 2022

RZTE—NFEZTZ=F RZE-NFET_—
BERT7.72% NF78.26%%=78.30%

from 35.35% to 36.19% during ranged from 43.19% to 52.06%
the years 2019 to 2023 during the years 2018 to 2022
RZB-NFE_T_=F RZB-NFEZZT_Z
T F 35.35%% 36.19% N F43.19%£52.06%

16.50% 16.50%
15.72% 17.67%
3.08% 3.08%



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The reasons for the significant decrease in the VIU of the June 2018 Valuation
compared to the VIU of the December 2017 Valuation are summarised as
below:

a. The revenue of the Software Business for the six months ended 30
June 2018 dropped by approximately 24.2% as compared to that of
the corresponding period in 2017. As the actual beginning turnover
value of the projected cash flow of the Forecast Period (i.e. for the
years 2019 to 2023) in 2018 declined, the sum of the present value of
discounted cash flows also declined.

b. The projected average sales growth rate and gross margin rate for the
Forecast Period in 2018 were lower than the projection of those for the
previous forecast period made in 2017, by taking into consideration
various factors including but not limited to, the slower-than-expected
development pace in the Asian market, the volatility of the global
economy, the keen market competition in the I.T market and the decline
in the demand for PCs.

Reasons for using value in use approach in the valuation

The valuation method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation
of the VIU of the CGU of the Software Business. In accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the CGU may be impaired, by comparing the
carrying amount of the CGU, including the goodwill, with the recoverable
amount of the CGU, which is the higher of the VIU and the fair value less costs
of disposal. Having searched through an international research database,
all announcements on the websites of the Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the financial reports
and publicly available information of listed companies in Hong Kong, limited
information of recent transactions of comparable CGU was available for the
fair value less costs of disposal to be reliably measured as there was no
reasonable basis for making a reliable estimate of the price at which an orderly
transaction to sell the CGU would take place between market participants
under the then prevailing market condition. The fair value less costs of disposal
method was therefore not adopted and the value in use of the CGU of the
Software Business was estimated using the discounted cash flow method as
its recoverable amount.

Apart from the December 2017 Valuation and the June 2018 Valuation,
the Group also engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, an
independent valuer, as the valuer to perform the valuation on the CGU of the
Software Business of the Group as at 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the recoverable amount of the CGU of the
Software Business was higher than its carrying amount. Therefore, no further
impairment loss was recorded after 30 June 2018. Details of the impairment
test for the CGU containing goodwill are disclosed in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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UPDATES ON RESULTS OF PERFORMANCE
GUARANTEE

Details of the results of performance guarantee in relation to the acquisition
of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment are set out in the sub-section
headed “Litigations” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report.

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

On 5 October 2018, Dragon Oriental Investment Limited (“Property Vendor”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a provisional sale
and purchase agreement (“Provisional SP Agreement”) with an independent
third party (“Property Purchaser”) to dispose of the property which is located
at Shop F, Ground Floor, Yen Fu Mansion, Nos. 121-125, 129-135, 139 &
141, Hip Wo Street and Nos. 92-112 Shui Wo Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong
(“Property”), at a cash consideration of HK$38,600,000.

The consideration for the sale and purchase of the Property was determined
after arm’s length negotiation between the Property Vendor and the Property
Purchaser on normal commercial terms with reference to a preliminary
valuation on the Property as at 30 September 2018 of HK$37,500,000
conducted by an independent professional property valuer appointed by
the Group and the recent transaction price of comparable properties in the
proximity of the Property.

The Property Vendor and the Property Purchaser entered into a formal
agreement (“Formal SP Agreement”) for the sale and purchase of the Property
on 16 October 2018. Completion of the sale and purchase of the Property
took place on 28 December 2018.

In view of the recent development of properties market in Hong Kong, it was
uncertain whether the Property would enjoy any further capital appreciation.
The Board considered that it was a good opportunity for the Group to realise
its investment in the Property for a reasonable return. The Directors were of
the view that the terms of the Provisional SP Agreement and the Formal SP
Agreement were on normal commercial terms and were fair and reasonable,
and the disposal of the Property was in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

The net proceeds from the disposal of the Property, after deducting the
costs and expenses directly attributable thereto, were approximately
HK$38,000,000. The entire amount of the said proceeds would be applied
by the Group as its working capital and/or for financing any future potential
acquisition or investment.

Details of the disposal of the Property are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 5 October 2018 and 28 December 2018.

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

FRARRERGERNEFER

BB E PR BT RO %R BN RRERERNFE
BRAmE [ERENWEOT] — 8 [FA] DER-

ER L)

RZZE—N\E+ARRA ARQAHEENE R FDragon
Oriental Investment Limited (%85 ]) BEE=H
(THEBF])BREEMREBLERFEH121-125
129-135 ~ 139 M 14158 R Is M #92-1125R (& K EHs TF
HemE(ZYEILERESHE ([BEEEW
#1) - % R {E 438,600,000/ 7T °

BEEZMEZRBIMER T ANEETRETHERK
RATHEAREE YRS ZHAEEEENBLIEE
MEBEMR - \FAA=TBRZYEETHD
i {E37,5600,00078 7T & 7% W) 3 #B5T A] & LM £ 103
HIR S ER -

MEEHTAPEEIR -_ZE—/\F+A+RRFTLEE
ZWENEXRE ((EXEZHHE]) - TR EEZYE
BERZZE—N\F+_AZ+/\BEE-

EREENETHOLHRRES P TFRERNES
TEAEARREE - EFERAUHAEEHA T
BERHNEDERANE K - EFRE BN EED
AREXEEBR 2 BRVEERDEERT L B2
FARBHERNEFAARTRRR L ERFIS -

HEZMENPMSFRFE (EHREEREERERR
< i) #) 338,000,000/ 7T it S FIAM 2 E 278
HAEREEZEES R IREFMKRELEREEER
FRERTED -

FRALEZMEZFBIRARABRARL T N\F+
AAAR-ZZE-NF+ZRA=Z+NBZRE-



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition or disposal
during the Year.

MANDATORY CONDITIONAL CASH OFFER

References are made to () the composite offer and response document
jointly issued by the Company and Mr. Wong Jing Shong (‘Mr. Wong J.S.’)
on 31 August 2018 (the “Composite Document”) in relation to, among others,
the mandatory conditional cash offer to acquire all issued shares of the
Company (other than those already owned or agreed to be acquired by Mr.
Wong J.S. and parties acting in concert with him) (the “Share Offer”); and (i)
the announcement jointly issued by the Company and Mr. Wong J.S. on 21
September 2018 (the “Announcement”) in relation to, among other things, the
close of the Share Offer, the results of the Share Offer and the status of public
float of the Company. Capitalised terms used in this sub-section shall have
the same meanings as those defined in the Composite Document and the
Announcement, unless the context requires otherwise.

On 6 June 2018, the Company was informed by Mr. Wong J.S. that Mr.
Wong J.S. had purchased 3,600,000 Shares at prices ranging from HK$0.415
to HK$0.420 per Share from open market (the “Purchase”) on 6 June
2018. Immediately prior to the Purchase, Mr. Wong J.S. was interested in
130,680,000 Shares, representing approximately 29.40% of the issued share
capital of the Company. Upon completion of the Purchase on 6 June 2018,
Mr. Wong J.S. held 134,280,000 Shares, representing approximately 30.21%
of the voting rights of the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the Purchase triggered the
obligation of Mr. Wong J.S. to make a mandatory conditional cash offer for all
issued Shares (other than those already owned or agreed to be acquired by
Mr. Wong J.S. and parties acting in concert with him). In accordance with the
Share Offer, the Share Offer Price for each Offer Share is HK$0.42.
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The Offer Period commenced on 13 June 2018. On 7 September 2018,
Mr. Wong J.S. received valid acceptances in respect of an aggregate of
140,266,442 Offer Shares under the Share Offer (i.e. the Acceptance Shares),
representing approximately 31.56% of the entire issued share capital of
the Company. Immediately before the commencement of the Offer Period,
Mr. Wong J.S. and parties acting in concert with him held an aggregate of
134,280,000 Shares, representing approximately 30.21% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company. Taking into account the Acceptance Shares and
the Shares already owned by Mr. Wong J.S. and parties acting in concert with
him, Mr. Wong J.S. and parties acting in concert with him held an aggregate of
274,546,442 Shares, representing approximately 61.77% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company. Accordingly, the condition of the Share Offer set
out in the Composite Document was satisfied, and the Share Offer became
unconditional in all respects on 7 September 2018.

Immediately after the close of the Share Offer on 21 September 2018, Mr.
Wong J.S. received 17 valid acceptances in respect of a total of 242,341,714
Offer Shares under the Share Offer, representing approximately 54.53% of
the entire issued share capital of the Company. Immediately after the close
of the Share Offer, Mr. Wong J.S. and parties acting in concert with him were
interested in an aggregate of 376,621,714 Shares, representing approximately
84.74% of the entire issued share capital of the Company. An aggregate of
67,826,523 Shares, representing approximately 15.26% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company were held by the public. Accordingly, the
Company could not fulfil the minimum public float requirement of 25% as set
out under Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company therefore made an application to the Stock Exchange for a
temporary waiver from strict compliance with Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM Listing
Rules (the “Waiver”) commencing from 21 September 2018 to 20 October
2018. As at 27 September 2018, the Company was informed by Mr. Wong
J.S. that on 27 September 2018 (after trading hours), he had entered into
a placing agreement with Get Nice Securities (the “Placing Agent”) for the
placing of up to 43,285,537 Shares held by Mr. Wong J.S. at HK$0.42 per
Share on a best effort basis to the placees who are independent third parties
(the “Placing”). On 28 September 2018, the Company was informed by the
Placing Agent that completion of the Placing took place on the same day.
An aggregate of 43,285,537 Shares held by Mr. Wong J.S. were placed by
the Placing Agent to the placees at the placing price of HK$0.42 per Share.
Upon completion of the Placing, Mr. Wong J.S. and parties acting in concert
with him were interested in an aggregate of 333,336,177 Shares, representing
approximately 75% of the entire issued share capital of the Company.
Immediately after completion of the Placing, a total of 111,112,060 Shares,
representing approximately 25% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company were held by the public. As such, the minimum public float of 25%
as required under Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules had been restored
upon completion of the Placing. On 2 October 2018, the Stock Exchange
granted the Waiver to the Company for a period from 21 September 2018
to 28 September 2018 subject to the disclosure of the Waiver by way of an
announcement. An announcement in this regard was made by the Company
on 3 October 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Details of the Share Offer and the close thereof are set out in () the
announcements dated 13 June 2018, 4 July 2018, 6 August 2018, 9 August
2018, 31 August 2018, 7 September 2018 and 21 September 2018 jointly
issued by the Company and Mr. Wong J.S.; (i) the Composite Document
dated 31 August 2018; and (i) the announcements dated 19 June 2018, 27
September 2018, 28 September 2018 and 3 October 2018 issued by the
Company.

EFFECTS ON SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE
COMPANY

Set out below is the shareholding structure of the Company (i) immediately
before completion of the Placing; and (i) immediately after completion of the
Placing:

(i) Immediately before
completion of the Placing
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(i) Immediately after
completion of the Placing

() RERETRA (BRERETRE
Number of Shares Approximate % Number of Shares Approximate %
BHEE BE41% RAHEE B4%

Name of Shareholders
BREEE/EH
Mr. Wong J.S. and parties acting in concert with him 376,621,714 84.74 333,336,177 75.00
BERERERE-BITHAL
Public Shareholders
The Placees - - 43,285,537 9.74
EEA
Other public Shareholders 67,826,523 15.26 67,826,523 15.26
HiRRRR
Total 444,448 237 100 444,448 237 100
&t
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Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 49 employees (31 December
2017: 95 employees) in Hong Kong. During the Year, the total staff costs
of the Group (including Directors’ emoluments and provident funds) were
approximately HK$32,796,000 (2017: approximately HK$32,239,000). The
Group’s remuneration policy emphasises equality, motivation and performance
of the employees in order to strengthen its competitiveness in the market and
comply with statutory requirements of Hong Kong. Remuneration packages
are generally reviewed annually. Apart from salary payments, other staff
benefits include provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and
performance-related bonuses. The Group also has a share option scheme in
place to reward and motivate employees. Details of the share option scheme
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Other Information —Share
Option Scheme” in this report.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2017: Nil).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the capital commitments contracted but not
provided for the development costs of intangible assets and the capital
contribution to a joint venture were approximately HK$19,318,000 and
HK$ nil respectively (31 December 2017: approximately HK$25,757,000 and
HK$645,000 respectively). Please refer to note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

Technology is evolving at a tremendous pace and internet products are
becoming more popular than ever. The trending technologies have continued
fuelling the rise of the 5G industry. The 5G networks are expected to change
the big data collection practices for the consumers. The automation of
processes and digital connection has led to the increase in network security
concern. It, however, represents a new path of business opportunities to
the Group. In the future, the Group will continue to stay abreast of the latest
technology trends, hasten the R&D and offer differentiated quality products
to its consumers, in order to ensure the Software Business remains the
principal source of income of the Group. Through strengthening in-depth
technological knowledge and a diverse talent base, and leveraging on the
Group’s existing and expanding business networks, the Boom Max Group will
continue to seize opportunities to expand the client base and increase income
streams from both existing and potential customers in order to strengthen its
competitiveness in the industry. Furthermore, capitalising on China’s “Belt and
Road” strategy, the Group targets to see the Software Business “go global”
to increase market growth in countries along the Belt and Road, such as the
Philippines, Myanmar and Thailand, as well as the emerging markets in the
Asia-Pacific region. The Group will continue to consolidate and expand its
sales channels of the software products in the Asian markets in the hope of
retrieving profitability in the long run.

Looking ahead, the Group is keen on creating effective strategic plans and
keep pursuing a diversified investment strategy to look for suitable investment
opportunities and expand into new business areas in a bid to create new
revenue and profit drivers. The Group will also strive for achieving sustainable
growth and sustainable returns to the Shareholders through implementation of
cautious control policies to improve its risk management capabilities.
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The Board would like to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
Year.

The Company is committed to maintaining corporate governance of high
standard and quality procedures. The Company has put in place governance
practices with emphasis on the integrity to the Shareholders and quality of
disclosure, transparency and accountability to the Shareholders for the sake
of maximising returns to the Shareholders. The Directors acknowledge in the
Corporate Governance Report their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements.

Throughout the Year, the Board has reviewed the Group’s corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
Code Provisions under the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”), except for Code Provision A.2.1.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board currently comprises five members, two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman of the Board) and Mr. Wong Hin Shek and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yung, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Board.

The composition of the Board reflects the balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the Company’s business and for the
exercise of independent decisions. The Company has three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than half of the Board. They are
professionals in different areas and provide independent opinions based on
their expertise.

There is no relationship among members of the Board (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) and the biographies
of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in this report.
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BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of a regular
meeting. For special Board meeting, reasonable notice will be given. The
Directors participated, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, in the Board meetings.

The Directors meet regularly at least 4 times a year and participate in person
or through other means of communication. All notices of Board meetings were
given to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of
major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. Minutes of
each Board meeting are kept by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
request by any Director.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of the legal
action against the Directors.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board
and management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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CEEAEE

Attendance of Directors at Meetings EEHFEER0HE

During the Year, 30 Board meetings had been held for reviewing business R AFEE R HBIT0NEE S SZ AR AR R XK
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and policies I8 - I & I #bf AKX 7] B 08 BE RS K2 BUR B2 H 4th 7 76
of the Company and other business matters. The attendance record of each HE - FREHISHRENATIEESRAFEALFEES
current and former Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and &M EESEZE SR UM AR RIBRE NS NI
the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set out in the table

below:
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HERRSERH
Remuneration Audit  Nomination General

Note Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

(o EZg §FMEEE EHREEE REZEE BRRAE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BREZEE 1 6/6  NATERA N/A T N/A 718 0/0
Mr. Wong Hin Shek ITEBRE 29/30 N/A iE N/A T N/A T3 11
Ms. Hung Yvonne et 2 10/11 N/A 7~ F N/A 7N A N/A 73 A 0N
Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey BRI R A& 3 21/24 N/A 138 N/A 1 N/A 7T~ 11
Mr. Lee Kin Fai TRELE 4 27/29 N/A T N/A T N/A 7T~ 11
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. Chan Yung RERTAE 26/30 3/3 77 3/3 0N
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei B A 18/30 3/3 6/7 3/3 on
Professor Chui Tsan Kit RRGEHE 24/30 3/3 5/7 3/3 11
Ms. Xiao Yiming B—Ext 5 25/28 2/2 5/6 2/2 11
Professor Lee T.S. EREYE 6 27/30  N/ATEH N/A 7N A N/A 7N A 1/1
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Notes:

1. Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong J.S.”) was appointed as an executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 29 October 2018.

2. Ms. Hung Yvonne (“Ms. Hung”) retired as an executive Director and ceased to be
the acting Chairman of the Board and resigned as the chief executive officer of the
Company (“Chief Executive Officer”) with effect from 12 June 2018.

3. Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey (“Mr. Pon”) resigned as an executive Director and
ceased to be the Chairman of the Board with effect from 29 October 2018.

4. Mr. Lee Kin Fai resigned as an executive Director with effect from 30 November
2018.

5. Ms. Xiao Yiming resigned as an independent non-executive Director and ceased
to act as a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee with effect from 23 November 2018.

6. Professor Lee T.S. resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect

from 28 December 2018.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board has annually held the meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of executive
Directors during the Year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Since the former Chairman of the Board, Mr. Kuang
Hao Kun Giovanni, resigned on 31 March 2017, Ms. Hung, the then Chief
Executive Officer and an executive Director, was appointed as the acting
Chairman of the Board and had temporarily taken up the responsibilities as
the Chairman of the Board for a transitional period while the Company might
identify a suitable candidate.

On 12 June 2018, Ms. Hung retired as an executive Director and ceased to
be the acting Chairman of the Board at the annual general meeting of the
Company and resigned as the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Pon, an executive
Director, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board in place of Ms. Hung
on 12 June 2018, Mr. Wong J.S. has subsequently been appointed as the
Chairman of the Board in place of Mr. Pon upon his resignation on 29 October
2018. The Company is actively looking for suitable candidate to take up the
role of the Chief Executive Officer.
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CEEAEE

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board complied at all times with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules that at least three independent non-executive Directors sit
in the Board (more than half of the Board members) and at least one of them
has appropriate professional accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the existing independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company in
its best knowledge considers all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of new Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws. According to the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the Board to fil a casual
vacancy should be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment, and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-election by the Shareholders
at the next following annual general meeting after appointment. Other relevant
Bye-law states that one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting.
A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. All Directors should retire by
rotation at least once every three years.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term:
Professor Chui Tsan Kit is re-appointed for a term of 3 years commencing from
283 April 2017 whereas, Mr. Chan Yung and Mr. Cheng Hong Kei are appointed
for a term of 3 years both commencing from 24 November 2017. All of them
are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
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At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, Mr. Wong Jing
Shong, Professor Chui Tsan Kit and Mr. Chan Yung shall retire pursuant to
the Company’s Bye-laws as stated in the foregoing paragraph. All the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The Board and the
Nomination Committee recommended their re-appointment. The Company’s
circular, to be sent to the Shareholders, contains detailed information of the
above Directors as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every newly appointed
Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of the Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Besides, the Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Internally facilitated briefings for the Directors will be arranged and reading
materials on relevant topics will be issued to the Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the current and former
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Jing Shong, Mr. Wong Hin Shek, Ms. Hung
Yvonne, Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey, Mr. Lee Kin Fai, Mr. Chan Yung, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei, Professor Chui Tsan Kit, Ms. Xiao Yiming and Professor Lee T.S.,
received the following training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of a Director of a listed company in compliance with the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the Year.
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CEEAEE

Attending or participating in
seminars/workshops,

and/or reading materials relevant
to roles, functions, and duties

Directors of a director of a listed company
HERSHEEBELT LT

EEAGC BERBENHTE

2= TSR, SREEEEER

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Note 1) |mIEZ A () v

Mr. Wong Hin Shek FHEBEE 4

Ms. Hung Yvonne (Note 2) st (KisE2) 4

Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey (Note 3) SERUA o (BEE3) 4

Mr. Lee Kin Fai (Note 4) FlgpE sk & (Miztd) v

Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHTES

Mr. Chan Yung PRESCE v

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei PR e A 4

Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIBGEHUIR 4

Ms. Xiao Yiming (Note 5) B — 182+ (K3Es5) v

Professor Lee T.S. (Note 6) TREHE (KiE6) 4

Notes: B &

ik Mr. Wong Jing Shong was appointed with effect from 29 October 2018. 1. HEEEAEBZE-/\FTAZ+HABEZE-

2. Ms. Hung Yvonne retired with effect from 12 June 2018. 2. rEmztTteE - N\FRATZHEEE-

2, Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey resigned with effect from 29 October 2018. 3. B REB T - N\FTAZTNLBREE-

4. Mr. Lee Kin Fai resigned with effect from 30 November 2018.

58 Ms. Xiao Yiming resigned with effect from 23 November 2018.

6. Professor Lee T.S. resigned with effect from 28 December 2018.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lau Siu Cheong. The Company Secretary
assists the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board so that
Board policy and procedures are followed. He has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional trainings to update his skills and knowledge during the

Year.

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

4. FREEEB T N\F+-A=ZTHREE-

5. H—BXtB - N\F+—-A-+=HEFHE-

6. FREFRE-FE-NF+-A=+\BEEHE-
AEWE
ARWEBREKEKE - AANBRREFENE 2R
BARRRIFRBRESTSHRELEF M EESE

G WRAFECEI DA/ NS E R F XA
BT E AL R AN



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The following statements, which set out the responsibility of Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 86 which
acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group’s auditor.

Annual report and accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the annual
report and financial statements of the Company for the Year to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable accounting standards.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group
applies appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted
and makes judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose the financial positions of the Group upon which
financial statements of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, auditor’s remuneration for audit services was approximately
HK$1,460,000 (2017: approximately HK$1,980,000) and non-audit services
(including but not limited to professional advice on financial activities,
taxation, acquisition and disposal) was approximately HK$692,000 (2017:
approximately HK$1,112,000).
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CEEAEE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and Obijectives

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure are summarised below:

Board

o evaluates and determines the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensures the
implementation of an effective risk management and internal control
systems; and

. oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Management

o designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems;

. identifies and assesses the risks which threaten the achievement of the
strategic objectives;

. reviews the risk areas and risk level;

o advises on matters raised by employees and the Company;

o coordinates and promotes risk management by ensuring that risk
and activities processes are operated efficiently and effectively and in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules; and

o reports periodically to the Board.

47  GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

RREERANEE
BEKE

EZARREARENARE LR MAREERRLE
BREEKB - -ZERREEEEMIEER TRERE
BEENER WEAHERERBALBREHREE
B IFBE R IRE °

RAREERANPEERENEIESY

ORI AR RN AR BB
R

#EP

o RERETAEEERENEIEEEE AL E

SUHEREE THRAREHREINRREERA
*B§*?1$ﬁ &

. EETEENRREERANBEZRANRT
EiRER-

EEE

o R BHRERARETERNBEZRSR:

. BB AT EE BRI B R E R

. o R e 865 ) I R B K

. HEERARARBNEERHER:

. FERERERREFRIEE MR DML ERGEM
ETTAR B AR TE B A A 00 8 S e R BR B IR ¢ Je

. EHMERSER-



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The Group’s risk assessment processes are summarised as follows:
Risk Identification

. Identifies the risks through discussion with the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company. Risk identification and
management questionnaire are used to document the risks identified by
the management and directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Assessment

o Determines the existing controls and analyses risks in terms of
consequence and likelihood in the context of those controls. The
analysis considers the range of potential consequences and how likely
those consequences are to occur. Consequences and likelihood are
combined to produce an estimated level of risk.

Risk Response

. Categorises the risks into low risk, medium risk and high risk;

. Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and

o Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and determines

the frequency of review and control testing on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° on-going communication of monitoring results to the Board which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of risk

management during the Year, including:

o risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk register
and internal control audit plan; and

. fact finding report with recommendations on the review and
testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and areas.
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A\

TEERRE

Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the management of the
Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. For the
enhancement of the quality of the internal audit, the Company has engaged an
external consultant to execute a significant scope of internal audit function to:

o perform the risk assessment based on management evaluation on
identified area and report the findings and recommendations to the
management; and

o conduct various agreed-upon-procedures reviews on material controls
and perform testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and
areas in accordance with the Company’s internal control audit plan.

During the Year, the Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee, reviewed the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems for the Year, which
cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and assessed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group by reviewing the work
and findings of the internal audit function. Such review is conducted annually.
Both the Audit Committee and the Board considered that the systems were
effective and adequate for the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect from 1 January
2019, dividends may be declared and paid to the Shareholders by way of cash
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is the policy of the
Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate
in the Company’s profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of dividends
by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda,
the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s bye-laws and any applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Board will continue to review the dividend policy
from time to time and the Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems
fit and necessary. Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2018.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted its information disclosure policy and related
procedures with regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The policy stipulates the
responsibilities of the Group, key disclosure requirements under Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFO”) and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM Listing Rules, control
measures and reporting procedures of handling confidential information and
monitoring information disclosure. The Group adopts an upward reporting
approach within the Group for identifying and escalating any potential inside
information to the Board. The policy is reviewed annually and all reasonable
measures have to be taken from time to time to ensure proper safeguards
to prevent any breach of disclosure requirements and to maintain strict
confidentiality of information.

BOARD COMMITTEES/FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Copies of minutes of all meetings
and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary,
are circulated to all Board members and the committees are required to report
back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

Ms. Xiao Yiming (Ceased to be a member on 23 November 2018)

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management, and determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management (i.e. the model described in the Code Provision B.1.2 (c) (i) of the
CG Code is adopted); and establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/
her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has performed the following
major tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company;

o determined the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management;
o assessed performance, duties and responsibilities of executive Directors

and senior management; and
o approved the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report respectively.

In addition, pursuant to the Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the member of the current senior management of the Group
by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) P& E (Bx)
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Number of Individual

A

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001 21,500,000
Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the Year, all being independent
non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Chairman)
Professor Chui Tsan Kit
Mr. Chan Yung
Ms. Xiao Yiming (Ceased to be a member on 23 November 2018)
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit possess the appropriate

accounting and financial management expertise as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

51 GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

RAFERN EREZRENKE (ORBIFNTES)

BEHEEE  (FE)

HRERE

RELLE

B—But (ER-F-NFF—HA-F=ZABELER)

U

BMEHEEL RMFRAEE AEBGEM L MR RIMREEE
B R BERER MM -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the followings:

(@)

to monitor the control procedures and the disclosures on the reporting
of the Company’s financial statements, and to review and discuss
with external auditor any significant financial reporting standards and
guidelines applied to the financial statements;

to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in financial reports and accounts, and give due consideration
to matters raised by the Company’s compliance officer or external
auditor;

to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to
the work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of auditor;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; and

to review the Company’s arrangements to enable employees to raise, in
confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the financial results and
reports, financial reporting, compliance procedures and effectiveness of the
internal audit function of the Company, report on the Company’s internal
control and risk management review and processes, re-appointment of

external auditor and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties. The Audit Committee also met the external auditor four

times without the presence of the executive Directors. Besides, there is no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the re-
appointment of external auditor.
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Nomination Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Professor Chui Tsan Kit
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

Ms. Xiao Yiming (Ceased to be a member on 23 November 2018)

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services) of the Board at least annually and recommending any
changes to the Board; identifying suitably qualified individuals to become
the Board members and selecting and making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for the Directors in particular, the Chairman
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the Board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company on 30 August 2013. According
to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Selection of candidates for appointment as a Director will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skill,
knowledge and length of services. The ultimate decision will be based on
merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
The Nomination Committee considers an appropriate balance of diversity
perspective of the Board is maintained.

In selecting and evaluating candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to the directors’ nomination
procedures which also contains the directors’ nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy and Procedures”) adopted by the Company on 31
December 2015 by considering various factors, including but not limited to (i)
character and integrity, (i) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy; (i) wilingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a Board member and other directorships and significant
commitments; (iv) requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be
considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules; (v) the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and
(vi) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has performed the following major
tasks:

o selected Mr. Wong J.S. as candidate for directorship and made
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of Mr. Wong J.S. as
the Director based on the nomination process and criteria as set out
above;

o reviewed the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives and
the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the appropriateness in determining
the optimum composition of the Board;

o reviewed the Director Nomination Policy and Procedures to ensure
the appropriateness in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship; and

o assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors.
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Analysis of the Board’s current composition is set out in the following chart:

No. of Directors

BEEAH

5

Singapore
FONE
O}

0
Gender Designation Ethnicity Nationality
MRl fEdn ik #

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the Code
Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of Dealings”)
in respect to any dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company’s
Directors and relevant employees. Specific enquiries have been made to all
Directors and they all confirmed they had complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings during the Year. No incident of non-compliance of the Required
Standard of Dealings by the relevant employees was noted by the Company
during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the Shareholders’ meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. According to the GEM Listing
Rules, all resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meetings will be
voted on by poll and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Set out below are the procedures for members to make proposals at general
meeting other than a proposal of a person for election as the Directors.

Procedures for members to make proposals at general meeting
other than a proposal of a person for election as Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulation.

1. The Company holds an annual general meeting every year, and may
hold a general meeting known as a special general meeting whenever
necessary.

2. Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the

total voting rights of all members having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (i) not less than 100 members, can submit a written request
stating the resolution intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting; or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.
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3! The written request/statements must be signed by the member(s)

concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 21/F, China Hong Kong
Tower, 8-12 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of
the Company Secretary of the Company, not less than six weeks before
the annual general meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice
of a resolution and not less than one week before the general meeting in
the case of any other requisition.

4. If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board (j) to include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the member(s) concerned have deposited a sum of
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/
or circulating the statement submitted by the member(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
members. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the member(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the member(s) concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the annual general meeting; or the
statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

The following are the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulation.

If a member, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting
convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s), wishes to propose a
person (other than the member himself/herself) for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at 21/F, China Hong Kong Tower, 8-12 Hennessy
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform all members of that proposal, the written
notice must state the full name of the person proposed for election as a
Director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules, and be signed by the member concerned and that person
indicating his/her willingness to be elected.
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The period for lodgment of such a written notice will commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than fifteen (15) business days prior to that general meeting,
the Company will need to consider adjournment of the general meeting in
order to (i) assess the suitability of the proposed candidate; and (i) publish an
announcement or circulate a supplementary circular in relation to the proposal
to the members at least fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
business days prior to the general meeting.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the Company’s website at www.geth.com.hk.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulation.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of business in
Hong Kong at 21/F, China Hong Kong Tower, 8-12 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within
twenty-one (21) days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Board of Directors/Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed
written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its
Shareholders. Such policy aims at providing the Shareholders and potential
investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Such policy will be reviewed by the Company
regularly to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing
regulatory and other requirements.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining on
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders as follows:

(i) corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports, notices of meetings, listing documents and circulars
are issued in printed form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at www.
geth.com.hk in a timely and consistent manner as required by the GEM
Listing Rules;

(ii) corporate information and the memorandum of continuance and Bye-
laws of the Company are made available on the Company’s website;

(iii) periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

(iv)  annual general meeting and special general meetings provide a forum
for the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management; and

(v) the Company’s share registrar serves the Shareholders in respect

of share registration, dividend payment, change of Shareholders’
particulars and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
Year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong J.S.”), aged 28, has been appointed as
an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board since October 2018.
He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree of Science in Mathematics from the King’s
College London in the United Kingdom in August 2014. After graduation, Mr.
Wong J.S. undertook training at Legend Capital Co., Ltd. & & A% 1A%
AR AT, a company engaging in venture capital business in the PRC,
from October 2014 to October 2015. He has been the director of Aerophant
Capital Management Co., Ltd. REEARE R FR 2 7, a company engaging
in venture capital business, since June 2018. Mr. Wong J.S. has also been
a partner of EHMRIEEEIE AR EFE2 R Wuhu Qi Chen Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (the English name is for identification purposes only)
(“Wuhu Qi Chen Investment”) since November 2016 and the chief executive
officer of EPRO Systems (HK) Limited (‘EPRO Systems”) since January 2018.
Wuhu Qi Chen Investment and EPRO Systems are both principally engaged in
information technology business.

Mr. Wong J.S. is the compliance officer and an authorised representative of
the Company for the purposes of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Wong J.S. would
serve as an executive Director for an initial term of three years commencing
on 29 October 2018 and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

Mr. Wong Hin Shek (“Mr. Wong H.S.”), aged 49, has been appointed as
an executive Director since September 2017. He obtained a Bachelor of
Commerce degree from the University of Toronto in Canada and a Master
of Science degree in Financial Management from the University of London
in the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong H.S. has over 24 years of experience in
the investment banking industry. He has been involved in the management,
business development and strategic investment of listed companies in Hong
Kong having operations in environmental protection, hotel, manufacturing
software industries. Mr. Wong H.S. is the responsible officer of Veda Capital
Limited, a licensed corporation which carries on Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activity under the SFO.

Mr. Wong H.S. is currently the chairman and an executive director of DeTai
New Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559) and a non-executive director
of Sino Golf Holdings Limited (stock code: 361). He was redesignated as a
non-executive director from an executive director and ceased to act as chief
executive officer of Bisu Technology Group International Limited (stock code:
1372) in November 2018. Mr. Wong H.S. was also an executive director of
Dongwu Cement International Limited (stock code: 695) from November 2016
to August 2017. The shares of these companies are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong H.S. would serve as an executive Director
for an initial term of three years commencing on 1 September 2017 and is
subject to retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company.
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ESKEAEEEBRE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (“Professor Chui”), aged 50, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since April 2015. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Board and a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. Professor
Chui obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Finance (with Distinction) from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Business Administration
Degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science
Degree in Engineering (Electronic Commerce) from The University of Hong
Kong, a Master of Science Degree in Investment Management from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, a Master of Laws Degree
in Chinese Business Law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a
Master of Corporate Governance Degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is also a certified financial consultant of The Institute of Financial
Consultants, a chartered wealth manager of the International Academy
of Financial Management and an associate of The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. He is the president of the Chinese Institute of Registered
Financial Analysts. He was an honorary assistant professor of the Department
of Computer Science, Faculty of Engineering at The University of Hong Kong
and an adjunct associate professor of the Department of Marketing, Faculty
of Business Administration at The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Professor
Chui was the director of Investment Services of ICBC International Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China Limited (stock code: 1398) whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, from January 2010 to December 2010. Professor
Chui was the head of warrant marketing of Bank of China (HK) Ltd, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 2388)
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from
October 2007 to February 2009. He was also the head of wealth management
of China Galaxy International Financial Holdings Company Limited and the
chief executive officer of China Galaxy International Wealth Management (Hong
Kong) Co., Limited, both being the wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Galaxy
Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: 6881), whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from October 2012 to May 2014. From July
2005 to September 2007, Professor Chui was also the associate director of
retail operations and the director of investment education of Sun Hung Kai
Financial Limited, a subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 86),
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was
an independent non-executive director of GR Properties Limited (stock code:
108), shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from February 2015 to February 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Professor Chui is currently the chief strategic officer of Zhongtai Financial
International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhongtai Securities Co.,
Ltd. (State-owned securities firm in China), and the managing director of
Zhongtai International Wealth Management Ltd.

Professor Chui would serve as an independent non-executive Director for
a term of three years commencing from 23 April 2017 and is subject to
retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

Mr. Chan Yung B8s, vp (“Mr. Chan”), aged 49, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor's Degree from The City University of Hong Kong, a
Post-graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from Tsinghua
University and a Master’s Degree in Law and Public Affairs from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was appointed as a Justice of Peace by the
HKSAR Government in 2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2014.

Mr. Chan is a registered social worker and the chairman of New Territories
Association of Societies. He has also been a director of New Territories
Association of Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002. Mr.
Chan has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy to the
13th National People’s Congress of the PRC and non-official member of
Lantau Development Advisory Committee. Mr. Chan is also a vice-chairman of
Democratic Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan
would serve as an independent non-executive Director for an initial term of
three years commencing on 24 November 2017 and is subject to retirement
from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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ESKEAEEEBRE

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 64, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board.
He studied accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (practising), the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr.
Cheng is a co-founding director of Cheng & Cheng Limited and had worked as
an assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department for 12 years. He
has over 30 years of experience in accounting and taxation.

Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of Great China
Properties Holdings Limited (stock code: 21), whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and South China Assets Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8155), whose shares are listed on GEM. He was an independent
non-executive director of South China Holdings Limited (now renamed as
“Orient Victory Travel Group Company Limited”) (stock code: 265) from 28
September 2004 to 3 October 2014 and Sino Resources Group Limited (now
renamed as Elife Holdings Limited) (stock code: 223) from 7 June 2008 to 30
April 2009, shares of which are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Cheng would serve as an independent non-executive Director
for an initial term of three years commencing on 24 November 2017 and is
subject to retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (“Mr. Lau”), aged 45, has been appointed as (i) the
company secretary; (i) the financial controller of the Company; and (i) the
authorised representative for the purposes of the Companies Ordinance and
the GEM Listing Rules since 1 August 2013. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor
of Commerce (Accounting) degree from the Curtin University of Technology
in 1999. He is a member of the CPA Australia and Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lau was the finance manager of the
Company from 30 January 2010 to 31 July 2013. Mr. Lau is principally
responsible for, among others, the overall financial management, financial
planning and budgetary control of the Group and carrying out company
secretarial functions of the Group. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 July 2001 and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability on 9 January 2014 (Bermuda time).
Its shares have been listed on GEM since 31 December 2001, and the head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong is at 21/F., China Hong
Kong Tower, 8-12 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company while the Group is principally
engaged in (1) research, development and distribution of PC performance
software, anti-virus software, mobile phone applications and toolbar
advertisements, (2) investment in securities, and (3) provision of corporate
management solutions and I.T. contract services. The principal activities of
the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2018 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 87 to 266 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the Year
(81 December 2017: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the Year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group during the Year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators, and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this report and note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group can be found throughout this report, particularly in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Risk Factors” of this report. Also,
the financial risk management of the Company can be found in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements. These discussions form part of this report
of the Directors. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders are also provided in the
following sub-sections of this report of the Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the segment results and geographical locations of operations
of the Group for the Year is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group did not make any donations (2017: HK$ Nil).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Options

During the Year, all the share options granted under the 2007 Share Option
Scheme (as defined below) were lapsed.

Details of the 2007 Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme (as
defined below) of the Company are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements and the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
report of the Directors.

Save as disclosed above, there have been no equity-linked agreements
entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisting at the end of the
Year. The disclosure in the aforementioned sections of this report forms part of
this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the acquisitions/disposals of subsidiaries during the Year are set out
in notes 42(a) and 42(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 91 to 92 of this report and note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES/DEFICIT

As at 31 December 2018, the deficit of the Company was approximately
HK$284,188,000 (2017: distributable reserve of approximately
HK$39,898,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws,

or the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO DIRECTOR(S)

Except for the director’s fee payable, there is no amount due to a Director nor
loans from a Director as at 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY
Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes during the Year
are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and details of

the disposal of the Property are disclosed in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Material Transaction” of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group'’s total revenue from continuing operations for
the Year attributable to the Group’s major customers are as follows:

Revenue
- the largest customer: 2.89%
- five largest customers in aggregate: 10.91%

The percentages of Group’s purchases from continuing operations for the Year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers are as follows:

Purchases
- the largest supplier: 21.21%

- five largest suppliers in aggregate: 54.35%
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As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) has any interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining environmental
sustainability in its daily operations and acts in all material respects in
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental protection
and pollutant control, such as the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group is a service-oriented enterprise
mainly with office operations, therefore its daily business does not generate
material direct emission, industrial pollutants, sewage and hazardous waste.
Nevertheless, the Group pays high attention to environmental protection in
order to become a green corporation.

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its
business activities. Initiatives within the Group include, but not limited to,
waste reduction by double-sided printing and separating recyclable paper,
green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable items and using
office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department, and energy reduction by switching off idle electronic
appliances. The Group will continuously review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance considerations
into its operational processes. By promoting green awareness amongst
and maintaining dialogue with employees and business partners, the Group
is determined to promote environmental protection in the daily business
operations and establish a sustainable working environment.

Pursuant to Rule 17.103 of the GEM Listing Rules, an Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Report of the Company will be published within three
months after the publication of this report in compliance with the provisions set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate the
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform with the market
standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to fulfil its short-term and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
services of constantly high standards of quality to its customers. During the
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a credit
period of up to 90 days to customers. In extending and/or granting credit
terms to customers, the Group will carefully assess creditworthiness and
financial standing of each individual customer. Management will also closely
monitor all outstanding debts and review their collectability periodically.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Data privacy has become a critical issue for online sales business in the world.
In relation to the Software Business, the Group has paid close attention to
confidentiality of personal data and privacy of its customers. Under the daily
operation of the Software Business, it is inevitable to deal with enormous
amount of customers’ and potential customers’ information during the process
of online transactions involving the Group’s I.T. products. It is of significant
importance for the Group to handle their data with care so as to comply with
the laws and regulations relating to data privacy. Employees are required to
fully abide by the provisions stipulated when handling customers’ data and
they are prohibited from any unauthorised copying, dissemination or disclosure
of confidential information, including customers’ identity and transaction
records.
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In compliance with the additional licensing conditions of money lenders licence
which took effect from December 2016, the Group had revised procedures
to handle third parties business referrals with care and caution. The Money
Lending Business had been discontinued since September 2018.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance
with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
Group.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 March 2019, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a subscription agreement (“Subscription Agreement”)
with a target company (“Target Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Target Group”), being a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and a
guarantor (“Subscription Guarantor”), being an individual who is the majority
shareholder of the Target Company, pursuant to which Perfect Growth agreed
to subscribe for, and the Target Company agreed to allot and issue, 1,400,000
ordinary shares of HK0.01 par value each in the issued share capital of the
Target Company (“Subscription Shares”), representing approximately 6.54%
of the issued share capital of the Target Company upon the completion
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares, at the
subscription price of HK$19,500,000 in cash, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Subscription Agreement (“Subscription”).

Besides,
Agreement, the Subscription Guarantor granted to the Group a put option
in respect of all (and not part only) of the Subscription Shares owned by
the Group as at the date on which the put option is exercised to require the
guarantor to purchase, or to procure the purchase of, the Subscription Shares
if certain triggering event occurs.

in accordance with terms and conditions of the Subscription

The principal businesses of the Target Group is manufacturing and selling
of pre-stressed high-strength concrete piles and commercial concrete in
the PRC. The Target Group has a production plant in Qidong City, Nantong,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC and the products of the Target Group are primarily
used in buildings and infrastructure projects.

Completion of the Subscription took place immediately after signing of the
Subscription Agreement on 25 March 2019. After completion, the Group’s
investment in the Target Company has been classified as FVTPL Financial
Assets of the Group in its financial statements, which is within the Securities
Investment Business. Details of the Subscription are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 March 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page
267 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, related party transactions in relation to the financial advisory
fee paid to a related company controlled by Mr. Wong Hin Shek, an executive
Director, disclosed in note 47(a) to the consolidated financial statements fell
under the definition of “connected transactions” under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Such transactions were de minimis in nature and were
exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Related party transactions in relation to the transactions with key management
personnel (i.e. Directors’ remuneration) in note 47(b) to the consolidated
financial statements fell under the definition of “connected transactions” and
they were fully exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, save as abovementioned, the Company has not entered
into any connected transactions that are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTEREST

Mr. Wong Jing Shong, an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board
and the controlling Shareholder, has also been the chief executive officer of
EPRO Systems, which is a company principally engaged in, among others,
the provision of software design, computer equipment installation and
maintenance services mainly in Hong Kong, China and Japan, since January
2018. EPRO Systems may compete with the business of the indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Group, namely e-Perfect IT and Wafer Systems,
which are principally engaged in the provision of corporate management
solutions and I.T. contract services in Hong Kong and overseas.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling Shareholder, nor
their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
had any interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The changes of the Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report

were:

Ex

Appointed on

RAFERBEAREAH EFZHNT

Resigned on

RUTBEHEZRE REUT B BT
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong HEZEE 29 October 2018 =
—T-NFE+AZ+A1H
Mr. Wong Hin Shek FREBELE 1 September 2017 =
—T—+tFhAA—H
Ms. Hung Yvonne (Note 1) ezt (KiaE) 13 December 2016 12 June 2018
T —ARFE+ZA+=H —T-NFEXA+=AH
Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey (Note 2) B A (MFEE2) 2 November 2017 29 October 2018
—T—+tF+—A=H —T-NFE+AZ+1H
Mr. Lee Kin Fai (Note 3) @ ¥E S A (FEE3) 13 December 2016 30 November 2018
—T—RE+-A+=H —T-NFE+—A=+H
Independent Non-executive Directors B HITESE
Professor Chui Tsan Kit BRI 23 April 2015 =
—E-RFWMA=+=H
Mr. Chan Yung PRE LA 24 November 2017 =
—T—+tF+—A=+mWmA
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERERAE S 24 November 2017 =

—E—+tF+—A=+mA
17 January 2014
—T—mFE—A+tA

1 September 2015

Ms. Xiao Yiming (Note 4) B —1ex+ (KizEs) 23 November 2018

—E-N\F+—A=+=H
28 December 2018

Professor Lee T.S. (Note 5) TRAEHE (KFE5)

—E-AFNA—H —E-N\FE+ZA=Z+tN\H

Note 1:  Ms. Hung Yvonne retired with effect from 12 June 2018 in order to focus on  KizF1 @ HAMELZ T AR AZEFILEFT ZERBONEAZESE
her own personal business which requires more of her time and dedication. PmRERE BT N\FARNATZBREN-

Note 2:  Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey resigned with effect from 29 October 2018 due to  KiF¥2 @ BRI A £ EH A E K HE B HIG A E 205 B M g B
his other business commitments which require more of his time. B BT N\FTAZtTIhBERER

Note 3:  Mr. Lee Kin Fai resigned with effect from 30 November 2018 due to his other ~ Ki#¥3: ZFEBALRERFTHR AT Z RN HE b B EE M BT
business commitments which require more of his time. B B \F+—A=tHRBEK-

Note 4:  Ms. Xiao Yiming resigned with effect from 23 November 2018 due to her other ~ KizF4 : H —BZTEFHLAFE ZERN Hib B A E BT
business commitments which require more of her time. B BT \F+—A=-+t=HRER-

Note 5:  Professor Lee T.S. resigned with effect from 28 December 2018 due to his  HiF¥5 1 FREHIR EH A EA A EFTILAE 205 5 M g 8

B EBE_E-NF+_AZTNBRER-

other personal commitments which require more of his time.
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In accordance with Bye-law 83 (2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election. As such, Mr. Wong Jing Shong will retire and, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible
for re-election. Professor Chui Tsan Kit and Mr. Chan Yung will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 60 to 63 of this report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations of independence were
received from each of the existing independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all existing independent
non-executive Directors are considered to be independent by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws and the GEM Listing Rules.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their respective background,
experience, duties and responsibilities with the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or

any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OR
ARRANGEMENTS

None of the Directors (including any person who at any time during the Year
was a Director) or an entity connected with a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party which was subsisting during or at the end of the Year which is significant
in relation to the business of the Group, nor did any Director have direct or
indirect interests in any assets which have been acquired or disposed of by or
leased to, or are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by or leased to, any
member of the Group at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

There was (i) no contract of significance was entered into by and/or
subsisted between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries during the Year; and (i) no contract
of significance in relation to the provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries to the Group was entered into and/or
subsisted during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long positions in the ordinary shares (“Shares”) of the Company
and underlying Shares

RARXBEER (TR REBERONER

Approximate
percentage of
the total issued

Number of share capital
Name of Director Capacity Shares interested of the Company
EERERN HEAT2HERLT
EEsR ) RHHE BRABHBEDL
(Note 1)
(BfF&E1)
Wong Jing Shong Beneficial owner 333,336,177(L) 75%
(Note 2)
|IEE EmEBA 333,336,177(L) 75%
(K7E2)
Notes: B
1. “L” denotes a long position. 1. [LI1fEwFE-

P The total number of 444,448,237 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2018 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors nor
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
of the Directors, at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and the chief
executive, their respective spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme (‘2007 Share Option Scheme”) of the Company
adopted pursuant to a Shareholders’ resolution passed on 24 December 2007
has been terminated on 13 June 2017. A new share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) was approved by the Shareholders in the annual general
meeting of the Company on 13 June 2017 and adopted on 15 June 2017.
Upon termination of the 2007 Share Option Scheme, no further options shall
be granted pursuant to the 2007 Share Option Scheme but the scheme shall
in all other respects remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of any outstanding options granted prior to its termination. Any
existing options shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the 2007 Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entities in
which any member of the Group holds equity interest.

The Directors may subject to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the following
classes of eligible participants, to take up share options to subscribe for
Shares: (a) any eligible employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest (“invested entity”); (b) any non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any invested entity; and (c) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any invested entity.

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on its adoption date. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force until 15 June 2027 and after such date no further options shall be offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted before its expiry or termination but not yet exercised.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted at any time under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued Shares on the date of Shareholders’
approval of the Share Option Scheme or the date of Shareholders’ approval
of a refreshment of such limit in a general meeting of the Company (‘General
Scheme Limit"). Previously granted options which may be outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the General Scheme Limit.

The limit on the number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group
(including the 2007 Share Option Scheme) must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the total Shares in issue from time to time.

Each grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who or whose associate is the proposed grantee). Where any grant of
options to a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.

Upon acceptance of an option granted under the Share Option Scheme, the
eligible participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant. Such option will be offered for acceptance within such time specified in
the offer which shall not be later than 21 days from the date on which the offer
is made.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
The exercise price for the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined at the discretion of the Board but in any event shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
Share.
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Details of the movements in the options granted under the 2007 Share Option
Scheme and the Share Option Scheme during the Year are as follows:

ESEHS

R IR = B AR AR T 8 TR R 5T BV e B
WA ERBEBOT

Cancelled/
Outstanding lapsed/ Outstanding
Exercise as at Granted Exercised forfeited asat
price per 1 January during during during 31 December
Date of grant Grantees Exercise period Share 2018 the Year the Year the Year 2018
R=B-N\% R=B-N\%F
-A-H KFEHE/ tZAZt-8
Bt BH ARA gid ] BRITEE AT REERM REETR %8/ %% WA
HKS$
B
2 July 2015 Mr. Lee Kin Fai ("Mr. Lee") 15 July 2015 to 14 July 2018 2.721 623,193 - - 623,193 -
(Note 2)
(W)
ZE-RFEACR FEBEE(ZRED) “Z-RFtATRAZ
“Z-\§tA+HEA
2 July 2015 the company secretary and the financial 15 July 2015 to 14 July 2018 2.721 623,193 - - 623,193 -
controller of the Company and a director (Note 2)
of subsidiary of the Company (Ht&2)
ZE2-RFtAZH  ARAZAANE MBLER —E-1ftAt+HRAZE
FREMBRARICES “E-\FtATMmA
Totel 1,246,386 - - 1,246,386 -
@&t
Notes: LS
1. The vesting period of the options is from the date of grant until the 1. BRENSEH AL AR ERTESRFRB AL
commencement of the exercise period.
2. The share options of Mr. Lee and the company secretary and the financial 2. THREURKRAB 2 ATIWE BB BE RN T NE

controller of the Company and a director of subsidiary of the Company lapsed
on 15 July 2018 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 2007 Share
Option Scheme.

Details of the options granted by the Company under the 2007 Share Option
Scheme have been disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 2 July
2015.

As at 31 December 2018 and the date of this report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 44,444,823,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report.

AAZEEZZBREER_T-N\FLA+THEBREZ
TR FBRAET B R R MR

ARARE - TT L FRERE SR DNBREFBE
RARARBHA T —AFLtA_HNAERRKE-

R-E—
5t

I
N

a2
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O
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NE+—_A=Z+—BRERAREAL BRIEER
Al 21T 2 B (0 $R 2L 544,444,8230%  HHE A A
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INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Substantial Shareholders

Save for the interest in Shares held by Mr. Wong J.S., an executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board who was appointed on 29 October 2018, as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any associated corporations” in this report of the Directors, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than Directors or the chief executive
of the Company) who, as at 31 December 2018, had, or was deemed or
taken to have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her duties or otherwise in relation
thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The Company has
maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group. The relevant provisions in the Bye-laws
of the Company and the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance are currently
in force and were in force throughout the Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes in operation for the Year are
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yung and
Professor Chui Tsan Kit. The Audit Committee meets at least quarterly each
year. The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been reviewed
and discussed by the Audit Committee before any disclosure and release of
information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

26 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BN ZHERE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GET HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GET Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
87 to 266, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We
have determined the “Impairment assessment of goodwill” to be the key audit

B ZHERE

RERERER

REBRPIOEE A BREXFERBMERALME
MWEAMBERRTREZNER - RMEEREAUH
BEARHUEREREERB NS EE MR ES
REBERER -BRMECHBEREXEER [BHER
B - R SR EZ T RN BRI A
T~

matter and how our audit addressed this key audit matter is set out below:

Key Audit Matter
BREREE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB R ERT G

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

2 B4R P MA M RE23 ©

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had goodwill with carrying
value of approximately HK$146,079,000, arising from the acquisition
of Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries (‘Boom Max
Group”), e-Perfect IT Limited (‘e-Perfect IT”) and Wafer Systems
(Hong Kong) Limited (‘Wafer HK”). Management has allocated
goodwill to individual cash-generating units (“CGUs"). Goodwill is
required to be tested for impairment on an annual basis.

RZFE-—N\F+-_A=+—H BE£BERAKEBoom Max
International Limited & E [} & 2 7] ([Boom Maxt B ] ) - L EERY
BRAR ([EE]) RBRERG (BB)BRAR ([REEE]E
4 EEREREELNA146,079,0008 T - EEEBOEHNESEEEE
FIReEXET ([BeEHET]) BEEASFHTRERN -

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on either fair value less cost of disposal or value in use models
which require significant estimates concerning future cash flows,
and associated discount rates and growth rates assumptions,
which are based on management’s expectations of future business
performance and prospects. In respect of the goodwill arising
from Boom Max Group and e-Perfect IT, impairment losses of
approximately HK$163,000,000 and HK$3,934,000 respectively
were made during the year to reduce their carrying amounts to their
recoverable amounts.

REEHETNATKEESBENERRAFEEREEXASEFER
BEEN (EEREHBAARR S RE AR RNEKX(GE
AR REREBR)ETE ﬁfﬁf?:*“ﬁgﬁafﬁl'iTﬂiX%ﬁ%%zfﬁ
KRS ZTEH - SiBoom MaxEE R EEBELEZAEME B2 5
)‘5’3$¢f§1’?ﬁﬂ1§)§5}ﬁ%’]163,000,000/%75&3,934,000}%71%%’Uiﬁ
HEEmSBEHEARESHE-

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNIEEEREERSEIE

We used our in-house valuation specialists to assess the integrity
of the models used and the appropriateness of the discount
rates, long-term growth rates, other information, assumptions and
estimates for the assessment adopted by management.

BAPMAAREEERYEREMRARANTBEARERE
METEAARAMIRE  REERE  EMER RRREFNEE
MR TTRI A

We agreed inputs to the models to supporting evidence including
the latest approved 5-year budgets and considered the accuracy of
management’s previous budgets.

HAPTRB RS EAR 2 o B £ S a5 1M R IR AR AT
ENRFRE YEEERBEANBEERE-

BEBIEH

We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management in preparing the cash flow forecasts in light of historical
results and the current operating environment.

ERNBEXREREMEERE AMFGEEEERERSRE
FRRELOEERRABIE-

We carried out sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of
reasonable possible changes in key assumptions and discount
rates.

BPIETHREDN AT 2RE LR RNA
FE-

BEEHH

We also considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
respect of the impairment testing of goodwill.

BAAER ESEAEHEREANREELTRML-
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BN ZHERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGE WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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BN ZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHERE

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's I EAB Y ZEMFENEANEEZEERABTNE

report is Mr. Wong Wo Cheung. Fho

RSM Hong Kong ERESTMBBM
Certified Public Accountant HEEEAT

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, B

28 Yun Ping Road, 8 7

Causeway Bay, B iE285R

Hong Kong

26 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
REBE®ER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt & FERT FHET
(Re-presented)
(EHFH5H)
Continuing operations BESEEL
Revenue ON 8 133,230 186,967
Cost of sales SHE R AR (54,833) (71,147)
Gross profit ER 78,397 115,820
Other revenue H A 9 1,838 4,371
Other gains and losses, net Hfpies B8 F 58 10 (178,983) (527,913)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss & 5 & Hih eI R IB & A B E
on trade and other receivables and contract ~ CREEIE) /REE B E
assets (39,893) 55
Selling and administrative expenses HERITHRAX (76,943) (77,561)
Loss from operations KEEER (215,584) (485,228)
Finance costs ELE N 12 - (13,720)
Share of loss of an associate FE(L—MEEE N REE (21,704) (15,644)
Share of loss of a joint venture BE—H&EEEE (1,174) (2,932)
Loss before tax BRELATES 1B 13 (238,462) (5617,524)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frigsi (%) #H& 14 (5,830) 14,443
Loss for the year from AEERFESEELER
continuing operations (244,292) (603,081)
Discontinued operations BRIEREEK
Profit for the year from REFE RIS EEBEE A
discontinued operations 17 25 3,871
Loss for the year KEEFHIE (244,267) (499,210)
Attributable to: DT ALHER:
Owners of the Company Pi/NEIE VSN (251,411) (5612,327)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A 2 7,144 13,117
(244,267) (499,210)
(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) R (BR) BF (B4) 19
From continuing and discontinued operations 2% & #3548 I B 4% || 48 & 275
Basic HA (56.56) (120.30)
Diluted o5 (56.56) (120.30)
From continuing operations REFF RS TS
Basic A (56.57) (121.06)
Diluted 185 (56.57) (121.06)
From discontinued operations REDKRIEEEER
Basic 2R 0.01 0.76
Diluted g 0.01 0.76
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEERRHEGZEHBRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-2—\F+-A=t+—ALFE

(AETTHIR)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT FET
Loss for the year REEEE (244,267) (499,210)
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2wk 20
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: A BE# 7 4E 2 1825498 H
Exchange differences on translation WEBIINB AR R —EB L QT
of financial statements of overseas MISHmREENEL =5
subsidiaries and an associate 241 4,887
Fair value loss on available-for-sale AfHESmEEAFEEEE
financial assets 28 - (44,046)
Reclassification adjustment to profit or loss on FAH & A 4t i & & g & E
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets ~ E#H D BB =B - 2,733
Reclassification adjustment to profit or loss RAHEESREEREBEREE
on impairment loss on available-for-sale B EHEZER
financial assets 28 - 38,241
241 1,815
Items that will not be reclassified to TEEHEZEmAEE -
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity instruments at FREMEEKE AR FEESRD
fair value through other comprehensive BARTEHAFEEZS
income (FVTOCI) (17,428) =
Other comprehensive income AEEHME2EWRE  NKRHE
for the year, net of tax (17,187) 1,815
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZEHNFALE (261,454) (497,395)
Attributable to: AT ALREMR:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ PN (268,598) (510,512)
Non-controlling interests FEVERRAE 2 7,144 13,117
(261,454) (497,395)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SEPBRRR

At 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RZZ—N\F+=-A=+—H
(BABTTHIR)

2018 2017
—E-N\F T+ F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
ihg=2 FET FHET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E S 21 290 1,877
Investment properties "By 22 - 38,300
Goodwill (SRS 23 146,079 318,356
Intangible assets EHAE 24 77,357 79,777
Investment in an associate R—EBERRNEE 26 6,719 28,182
Investment in a joint venture R—EEERENRE 27 - 3,418
Available-for-sale financial assets AL ESREE 28 - 37,149
Financial assets at FVTOCI ERAMEAREARTFEE
JIRNEREE 28 5,439 -
235,884 507,059
Current assets REEE
Inventories & 29 1,588 535
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H e Wk IR 30 36,725 78,846
Contract assets AREE 32 1,401 =
Financial assets at fair value through BRBRARNFEEIENESREE
profit or loss (FVTPL) 31 4,224 9,656
Tax recoverable AT Uk [ 5 18 3,877 5,391
Pledged bank deposits BEFRITER 33 1,637 2,645
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEY 33 147,699 101,548
197,151 198,621
Current liabilities =R
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M EMKIE 34 9,599 17,721
Contract liabilities aREaE 32 5,004 -
Current tax liabilities EHHIEEE 26,385 26,825
41,888 44,546
Net current assets REBEEFRE 155,263 154,075
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERARBERE 391,147 661,134
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE 36(a) 11,835 12,301
11,835 12,301
NET ASSETS BEEZRE 379,312 648,833
GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
= E MR &

At 31 December 2018 RZZT—N\F+_A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FET FET
Capital and reserves EXRHE
Share capital [ 37 4,444 4,444
Reserves 1 39 338,321 606,919
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZN 2 &% A A {5 # 2 342,765 611,363
Non-controlling interests e AR RE A 36,547 37,470
TOTAL EQUITY R 379,312 648,833

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2019 and are signed on its
behalf by:

KEEER T NF=A- T+ AEIHUTES

REHE:

Wong Jing Shong
BB
Director

EE

Wong Hin Shek

-
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE=F—/\F+-A=t+-ALFE

(LABTTHIR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRR AEE
Share  Convertible Investment Non-
Share Share Contributed option note equity  Exchange revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
TRREE REEf 2R
R  RHGE EHRN BRERE EERE  ENRG fE EIEB it B 4R
HK$000 ~ HKS000  HK§000  HK$O000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
Tt TExr  TEx  TEr  TEx  TExr  TEr  TAxr  TEr TR TiEn
At 1 January 2017 RZE-+F-f-A 2,963 444,32 992,154 2,839 25,555 (26) 3072 (423344) 10475535 34915 1,082,450
Loss for the year TEEFR - - - - - - - (12321 (1287 13117 (499.210)
Other comprehensive income £t 2ANE - - - - - 4,887 (3,072 - 1815 - 1815
Total comprehensive income TEE2ENGEE
for the year A = . . - 48T BT B3 BI0S1) 13117 (9799)
Avsing from acqistion of a YE-HHBAAMES
subsidiary note 42(a)) (Hiz42) - - - - - - - - - 2,238 2238
Disposal of a subsiciary L E—FHHEAR
(note 42(o)i) (BzEd20)m) - - - - - - - - - (1990 (1,990
Redemption of convertiole notes B ] B Z 1% ( Hiz£35)
fnote 35) t - - - 555 - - 2555 2 d -
Forfaiture of share options R E - - - (1,419 - - - 1419 = = =
Righs issue of shares on RZE—tE-ATRANE
15 February 2017 (note 37(a) ~ RETRA (HE376) 1481 72859 - - - - - - 430 - TA3M0
Dividends paid to non-controling iR EERERARE
interests (note 25) (Hskos) - - - - - - - - - (10810)  (10810)
Chenges nequiyfor teyear ~ ZEE B 1481 72859 - 49 555 - - BOM MM (10560 63778
At31 December 2017 andat~ R-E—+%E
1 January 2018 TZA=t-8Rk
“2-\5¥-A-H 4444 517,181 992,154 1,420 4,861 - (908,697) 611,363 37470 648,833
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

LOGE PN
Share  Convertible Investment Non-
Share Share Contributed option note equity  Exchange revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
TEREE REER FER

Bx  RiEE REEH BRERE BEEE  EXER i EHER it BE  ARR
HK$000  HKS000  HKB00O  HKBOOO  HKBO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000
TEL  TEn  TEL  TEn  TEL  TEn  TERL TEn  TEL TEL  TER

At31 December 2017 andat ~ RZE—tE+ZA=1-H
1 January 2018 R=E-N\E-A- 4444 517,181 992,154 1,420 - 4,861 - (08697) 611,363 37,470 648,833

Adjustments on infial application of & X ER B BB EREEE

HKFRS 9 (note 3 £9% M3 (M) - - - - - - 320 3820 = = =
Restated balance RZE-\E-A-BH

at 1 January 2018 aE5£4 4444 517181 992,154 1420 - 4861 (362500 (B72447) 611363 3TAT0 648833
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - = = - 5141) 51411 T4 (244.267)
Other comprehensive income £ 2 EkE - - - - - A1 (17429) - (i7,87) - ({7,87)

Total comprehensive income TEERENREE

for the year . . . - - (748 QSIAN) Qe85 T4 (061454
Disposal of a subsiciary E-ENELR

Iote 421)) (Ks4200) - - - - - - - - . 28 28
Share option lapsed BRitERE - = = (1,420) = = = 1420 = = =
Dividends paic to non-controling 2R [ kR ERR S

interests (note 25) (Hiskos) - - - - - - - - - (9,458) (9,459)
Deconsolication of subsidiaries SRR AAEHBAA

ote 43 (Kik43) - - - - - - - - S 108

Reclassfication on disposal of ~ REEFBEMZE RN
equity instruments at VTG AFEERIBMFEATER

E508 - - - - - - BT (3859 . . .
Changes inequity for the year N FEfEEE 2 - - - (1,420) - -85 @) = (8,067) (8,067)
At 31 December 2018 RIZ-N\%

+=f=t+-A 4 5ITIBL 9954 - - SR (508 (1161029 %2765 %6547 379312

ESERERLT 2018FHK 92



HE=F—/\F+-A=t+-ALFE
(ABTEFIR)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
[{hg=3 FExT FHET
(Re-presented)
(EHFH5H)
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHRESRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BB AT (E18) s F
Continuing operations S (238,462) (517,524)
Discontinued operations BRI EEE (21) 3,876
(238,483) (513,648)
Adjustments for: R
Bank interest income RITH B WA (594) (89)
Bad debts written off 352 AR 1 8 27 =
Amortisation By 23,589 21,602
Depreciation e 880 1,708
Dividend income g B A (234) (1,598)
Fair value loss on investment properties BEMERATFEEBRE 800 3,600
Fair value gain on contingent EREARERFEBKRES
consideration receivable - (1,690)
Finance costs RLE AR - 13,720
Fair value loss on derivative PTESMTIAEATFEAEE
financial instruments - 959
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL ~ #iBEm A AT EEYEAE &
BEMNRATEEER 2,830 31,240
Share of loss of an associate FE(E — B & A R ES 18 21,704 15,644
Share of loss of a joint venture BiE—HEEEBE 1,174 2,932
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RENE AR kS (646) (1,845)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUEGRA ARKEB R REE 3,454 =
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEATHEESHEENEER
financial assets - 2,775
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HEFEBBRARFEENERN
financial assets at FVTPL SRIEEM (W), BB (103) 260,547
Loss on disposal of property, HEME WERE&ENEE
plant and equipment - 11
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—MEeEEEE 1,144 =
(Gain)/loss on disposal of PEREMERN (K) BB
an investment property (678) 2,477
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AftHESREEREERE
financial assets - 38,241
Impairment loss on goodwill EEBEEE 166,934 182,000
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EERERIE 4,588 7,769
Impairment loss on property, Y% B R EREE R
plant and equipment 300 =
Impairment loss/(reversal of B REMBKRRIBRENEE
impairment loss) on trade and HEEE, CRESERD)
other receivables and contract assets 39,893 (207)
Impairment loss on amounts due from FEWEUEERE ABRH B A A 3IER
deconsolidated subsidiaries BIEEBE 570 =
Other loan interest income EMEFRFBWA = (828)

93
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEBRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(L/{/ﬁﬂlﬁ‘J/T\)

2018 2017
—Z2—N\F T—+4F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 3 FERT FHT
(Re-presented)
(EF5)%H)
Operating profit before working EEESBIHATNLE R
capital changes 27,149 65,321
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE(Em,m (1,665) 1,267
(Increase)/decrease B 5 R HE M EWEIE ()
in trade and other receivables Ve v (196) 25,584
Increase in contract assets BHEELM (1,423) =
Decrease in financial assets at FVTPL BRBEAATFEBYIEN
TREERD 2,861 222,456
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 & BB SR IER A (1,502) (9,443)
Increase in contract liabilities EHAREEM 5,904 -
Cash generated from operations KEEBERS 31,128 305,185
Income tax paid B TR (5,443) (8,606)
Net cash generated from operating activites 4% E BN FT1SIR & F 58 25,685 296,579
CASH FLOWS FROM RETBHRESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital injection to a joint venture R—HEEETENTE (1,000) (6,350)
Net cash inflow from acquisition WE—ERBARMNRERAFRE
of a subsidiary 42(a) - 414
Bank interest received EUERTTHIE 594 88
Other loan interest received BEREMER f 18 - 921
Dividend received B U & 234 1,598
Expenditure on development projects FERBEEHTH (25,757) (27,107)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits 2 R 17 E ZUR 4 (1 0) 1,008 7)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising from HE—RHHBARMNBERA R
disposal of a subsidiary ) F 58 42(b)(i)&(ii) 905 (9,274)
Net cash outflow arising from BUHAR & ABRM B A 78
deconsolidation of subsidiaries B FEE 43 (409) =
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale ~ H & A] it H & & @& E M TS 08
financial assets - 4,111
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZREMEEKRENAFEER
at FVTOCI E\Jﬁﬁm%mﬂéém%?—%ﬁ 14,126 -
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HE—HEeECEMRBHIE 2,100 =
Proceeds from disposal of an HEREMEMSEHIE
investment property 38,178 18,023
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWME - KE R&HE (55) (606)
Loan to an associate BT —HEEBEQFNER - (27,230)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KRERDME (A REFE
investing activities 29,924 (45,419)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

2018 2017
e —T—tf
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ks FERT FHET
(Re-presented)
(EFHIH)
CASH FLOWS FROM METHRESRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid [ERNEUESS - (15,284)
Proceeds from rights issue HLAR B P15 5K IE - 74,340
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B EERERRE (9,458) (10,810)
Repayment of loan notes EEERER - (210,000)
Repayment of convertible notes EETRREE - (75,208)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBARSFE (9,458) (236,962)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BHERESESEYIEINFEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 46,151 14,198
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—B—HWERERRESZEEY
1 JANUARY 101,548 87,350
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RT-ZBE=+—HWRER
31 DECEMBER BEEEY 147,699 101,548
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND REeEPBESEEYDIF
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEYD 33 147,699 101,548
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GENERAL INFORMATION

GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
30 July 2001 and continued in Bermuda on 9 January 2014. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at 21st Floor, China Hong Kong
Tower, Nos 8-12 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000) unless otherwise stated. Hong
Kong dollars (‘HK$") is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed in note 4.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

—REH

BHERBBRAR ([RAF])R=ZTZT—FtA
—+HEHSRSIMKLAERRBRAR
WR=ZT—NF—ANAEBREFE AR FE
4% == B2 2 7 Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda - &8 E B & ¥ 2 A
BB BTHEFES-12PBRE21E -

ERRBRORBEEBMARZMAR AR ([HR
Frl) GEMEM - AR BN E R EB RITEER
HIfB AR CERARRSRE [AEE ] NEEX
BENER S BB IR M5 -

BIESEHA GRS BHRERUATEL ([T
B MEMIHR BT ([BT)) RARENIL
EEEBRAEENTIHREE-

mAEE

ZEGAMBRREREELGHMAE ([FE
BERIAE ) BENAEEREEYBMELRE
(BB BRELEN]) R - FEYBREE]
BEEEMBREER ([FBMBHREEL])
BRI EA([FEGER]) kB %%
FEMBMRITTAMZES LR REER
RGN EB R AIED] (F6228 ) WEERE -
REBRAN T2 GBI BENM 4 -

RAEBZ AR BEGHMASERM
ETEREREAIHRER BB REERTE
BHBHREER - EREARSRAEEEHN
BRI FrsI B A gt BH BT St RN ERNE
AREREE ERBMNGEEMBIREA EHREH
IS o

BZERBER AT 2018F K

96



97

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(@)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018. Of these, the following developments are relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements:

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

(ii) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate to the
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements retrospectively to
instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 January
2018 (date of initial application) and has not applied the
requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised
as at 1 January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts
as at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at 1
January 2018 are recognised in the opening accumulated losses
and other components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 resulted in the following changes to
the Group’s accounting policies.

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(@)

Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at FVTOCI or
FVTPL, and
o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group'’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at
FVTOCI.

BHE—

e MR M A

—N\F+A=t—HLFE

(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

3. MM REBIIEEMBRERES

\
=
=%

(%)

(@

FER#TR] RAMERT BB I B A 2R
(%)

BB BREERFE BT A (F)

R

P

(@)

B-ZE-N\F-A—Bi rEEE

AT ERRSemEEETOR:

. E&Hﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂé\ﬁuﬁz¥ AR
FEEIRIGEBBEARTF
BENERzEREE: )Si

J BIRBER AT EZERE
Eo

DEEBRNASEERESMEERR
EREBEKGRZEBESR

HRERATEEAEZEEMS W
&%ﬁ%mﬁﬁiﬁ@%EWé%
Vi#%¢5§2%$lﬂ&§
5 HiRsE RBRZ 2 BEURR
$%l BRYIAHEREE EH TR
g FBRHEMEEKRARNTE
BERRRIEEDIER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. BEMFFIRLIETEBMBREER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (&)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (@ FEAFITRLETEBUEREER

99

(48)

BB BREERE R 2B T A (B)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group
classifies all its debt instruments as amortised cost.
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/
(losses), together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

)

Measurement (continued)

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in other comprehensive income, there is
no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to
be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are
recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses and reversal of
impairment losses on equity investments measured at
FVTOCI are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses (‘ECL”)
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

=

3. MM REBIEEBMBERERER
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (#&)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (@ FERAITRKIETEBUERSER
(#)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) BB SRR 2@ T A ()
Set out below is the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 on the T SRR DB A 7 B A R s AR RI B 95 AR
Group. SEzTE-
The following table summarises the impact on the Group’s TEBAAEBRR-_T-N\F—A—A2Z
opening accumulated losses as at 1 January 2018 as follows: Y2t E
Note HK$'000
B 5 FHET
Decrease in investment revaluation reserve for: TEEHFERD
— Financial assets at FVTOCI —EREMEERENAFEETYE
NEmEE (@) 36,250
Adjustment to opening accumulated losses from BT \F— A —BEMNEEGH
adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 and MEHEREIS 2 AV 2T E BT K
attributable to owners of the Company RRRHEB AEE 36,250
The following table and the accompanying notes below explain TEEMNEFHARESESEEREENR
the original measurement categories under HKAS 39 and the T-NF-—A—BREBESHERZEI9
new measurement categories under HKFRS 9 for each class of R RAE2HERNRIBIEEEMBREER
the Group’s financial assets as at 1 January 2018. FOR 28R -
Classification under Classification under Carrying amount Carrying amount
Financial assets HKAS 39 HKFRS 9 under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9
BREEBETER BEEENEREEDN RESESHELN REFEMBEHLEEL
SREE FRMAE LR FOEMREE FOSRMEREE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt % T THT
Equity investments (@ Available-for-sale FVTOCI 36,993 36,993
BRARE AL E EREM 2 RN
ATEETE
Equity investments ) FVIPL FVTPL 9,65 9,656
BRARE BRBHENRTEEE BRASNUATEER
Unlisted investment fund (© Available-for-sale FVTPL 156 156
FLETMREES AL E BRBSUATEBTIR
Trade and other receivables (d) Loans and receivables Amortised cost 78,846 78,846
B 5 R E M W FHIE SRR B
Pledged bank deposits ©) Loans and receivables Amortised cost 2,645 2,645
BHEARITER ERRERRE BEKA
Bank and cash balances e Loans and receivables Amortised cost 101,548 101,548
BORRSES BERRERFE B



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@ Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

3. MM REBIEEMBERERER

(%)

=

@ ERHITREEBIEBYBHREEL

(%)

BB BREERFE BT A (F)

The impact of these changes on the Group’s equity is as follows:

ZEEPHAEE ROz BT

Effect on
investment Effect on
revaluation accumulated
reserve losses
HREER HRETEHEN
RENTE b4
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 3 FHET FHET
Opening balance — HKAS 39 e — B A G ER
E30% = (908,697)
Reclassify non-trading equity B ZRARERTHREE
investments from available-for-sale ENOEAFRBEMEE
to financial assets at FVTOCI e AR BB R
SREE @ (36,250) 36,250
Total impact RS- (36,250) 36,250
Opening balance — HKFRS 9 HN & eR— B A M IS 4R
FI (36,250) (872,447)

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities remain the

FEERMABENTES BB TE -ES

same. The carrying amounts for all financial liabilities at 1 January
2018 have not been impacted by the initial application.

The Group did not designate or de-recognise any financial assets
at FVTPL at 1 January 2018.

RAEER-F-N\F—A-BANEKEEEY
TRERERTE-

RZBE-NF—A—R AEELBIETR

BUBBRERBERARNTEESRNEM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTHITR)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. BEMFFIRLIETEBMBREER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (48)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (@ FEAFITRLETEBUEREER

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Note:

(@

These equity investments represent investments that the Group
intends to hold for the long term for strategic purposes. The
Group elected to present in OCI changes in the fair value of
these investments because these investments are held as long-
term strategic investments that are not expected to be sold in
the short to medium term. As a result, assets with a fair value of
approximately HK$36,993,000 were reclassified from available-for-
sale financial assets to financial assets at FVTOCI and impairment
loss of approximately HK$36,250,000 charged to profit or loss in
prior years were reclassified from the accumulated losses to the
investment revaluation reserve on 1 January 2018. Unlike HKAS
39, the accumulated fair value reserve related to these investments
will never be reclassified to profit or loss.

(48)
BB BREERE R 2B T A (B)
GEE

@ ZERARERAEEENER B WL
BENRE - AEERETEHME2E K
FENZERENAFEEZE EA%
EREREARMRBKILERSH BT
SERHERHRNLE At RZT—N
F—H—B  RFEERR36,993,000/%
THEERAIHILESREESN2E
ZEBEMEEMKEUATFEBEIENS
MEE BAFERBRHNKRZBERE
#936,250,0008 T Rt EEHHEE
BEEGRHEE - TRREB G AERIE30
$EZEREFENRFA AT EERE

BrEEMsHERE-

(b) Equity securities — held for trading financial assets are required to ) BREFSHF-FIEEECREEARERE
be held as FVTPL as under HKFRS 9. There was no impact on the B MEERESRIEABBEBEZEUATF
amounts recognised in relation to these assets from the adoption BEVKRNE KMEBUBRELNE
of HKFRS 9. SR ZEEERRN AL ETE-

(© Unlisted investments fund that was previously classified as (© RIE BB ISIRE &R E%R - LRINER
available-for-sale financial assets is now classified as FVTPL under AHEESREECZHF EMREESHR
HKFRS 9. It does not meet the HKFRS 9 criteria for classification ENMHEESERBEUNATEAYK K
at amortised cost. As a result, assets with a fair value of REEBBMBRELABIRANER
approximately HK$156,000 was reclassified from available-for-sale BIERASBR 2 AR Bt - R —N\F
financial assets to financial assets at FVTPL on 1 January 2018. —A—8  AFEEX A156,0008 THE

ENELESREEENHEEFEBIE
HURTFEEIIENSREE-

(d) Trade and other receivables that were classified as loans and (d) REEFBSHELNERNBAERLE
receivables under HKAS 39 are now classified at amortised WERIER B 5 & H A B WGRIAIR B B #H
cost. The application of the ECL model does not result in earlier HRREBHERAY R EABHEESE
recognition of credit losses at 1 January 2018 on transition of BAXAEHR—T—N\F—A—HBE
HKFRS 9. ZEBMBREEEIORFIRATERE

BB
) Pledged bank deposits and bank and cash balances that were ) REEB S ENERDELERLIE

classified as loans and receivables under HKAS 39 are now
classified as amortised cost. No further impairment allowance was
recognised in opening accumulated losses at 1 January 2018 on
transition to HKFRS 9.

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

For assets in scope of the HKFRS 9 impairment model,
impairment losses are generally expected to increase and
become more volatile. No additional allowance would be
resulted under the application of HKFRS 9 impairment model
requirements at 1 January 2018 as the Group has determined
that the effect on the application is not significant.

Impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are
presented separately in the statement of profit or loss. As a
result, the Group reclassified reversal of impairment losses
amounting to approximately HK$55,000, recognised under
HKAS 39, from “others” in “other revenue” to “reversal of
impairment loss on trade receivables” in the statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2017.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. It replaced HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any difference
at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
accumulated losses (or other components of equity, as
appropriate) and comparative information has not been restated.
Furthermore, in accordance with the transition provisions
in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply the standard
retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed at 1
January 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative information may
not be comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 18 Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts
and the related interpretations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Under HKFRS 15, revenues are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending on
the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
control of the asset may be transferred over time or at a point of
time. Control of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

- do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the asset.

The Group recognises revenue from the following sources which
arise from contract with customers:

o Research, development and distribution of computer and
mobile phone software and toolbar advertisement

- Revenue from the sale of computer and mobile
phone software

- Revenue from toolbar and advertisement
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(@)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Provision of corporate management solutions (‘CMS
services”) and I.T. contract services

- Revenue from CMS services
- Services fee income from I.T. contract services
including I.T. maintenance services and system

integrated services

- Revenue from the sales of hardware and software
products

Provision of kindergarten education and self-improvement
and self-enhancement training programs

Information about the Group’s accounting policies resulting from
application of HKFRS 15 are disclosed in note 4(s).

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have significant impact on
how the Group recognises revenue from the provision of services
and sale of goods. However, the adoption of HKFRS 15 would
affect the presentation of amounts due from contract customers,
deferred income, contract assets and contract liabilities. The
accounting policies and presentation of contract assets and
liabilities are further disclosed in notes 4(k) and 32.

Reclassifications were made as at 1 January 2018 to consistent
with the terminology under HKFRS 15:

U]

(i)

Previously, contract balances relating to CMS services
contracts in progress were presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as “Amounts due from
contract customers” under trade and other receivables.

Previously, contract balances relating to the advance
consideration received from customers of L.T. contract
service in progress were presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as “Deferred income” under
trade and other payables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. BEMFFIRLIETEBMBREER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (#&)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (@ FEAFITRLETEBUEREER
(#&)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) BB IR R FE 16 E A Az
(4)
To reflect these changes in presentation, the Group has made ARMZESRNED  AEEREMNES
the following reclassification adjustments at 1 January 2018, as a Bk E LR B mMN = — N\NF— A
result of the adoption of HKFRS 15: —REETYESNHLE:

Impact on changes in accounting policies

HETBREHNSE
Adoption of
As reported Adjustments HKFRS 15
&R
At 1 January 2018 R=-ZE-N\E—A—H EREE HE 51558
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHET FHET
Contract assets BREE = 992 992
Amounts due from contract customers FEE R P HRIE 992 (992) =
Contract liabilities aHakE - (2,672) (2,672
Deferred income IRIE WA (2,672) 2,672 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. BEMFFTIRLETEBMBEREER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (#&)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (@ FERAFTRLIETE BV EREER
(#)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) BB IR R FE 165 E A KM as
(#)
The following tables summarise the impact of adoption of TR R AT S B 75 R4S 2R 551558 4
HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements AEBR-_ZE—N\F+_A=+—HZ&K
as at 31 December 2018, by comparing the amounts reported AUBBRERNTE HEALBRZEHRAH
under HKFRS 15 in these consolidated financial statements with B NIRIRE 7S B 15 R 5 22 RIS 1558 A
estimates of the hypothetical amounts that would have been ERETEERBRBEEBSH L FI8HK LD
recognised under HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 if those superseded B ERE RS THERANBRRSE R
standards had continued to apply to 2018 instead of HKFRS 15. (HZEERENR T \FEEDRR
This table shows only those line items impacted by the adoption BRI MEERIE155ER) - ZKRIBIE
of HKFRS 15: BTRRNE BB ME LB E
B4R 1E -
Amounts Hypothetical
reported in amounts Estimated
accordance under impact of
with HKASs 18 adoption of
HKFRS 15 and 11 HKFRS15
R
BiE BB ER B

EHRURERE F18%K K BFHBHBRE
% B 5E155% F115E 2 %ERIE155
ZERLHE BREeE ZHAHE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FAT FH&T
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZEB-—NE+=ZA=+—H
Amounts due from contract customers EWEHEPFRIE = 1,401 (1,401)
Contract assets BHEE 1,401 = 1,401
Deferred income EEWA - (5,904) 5,904
Contract liabilities BMaE (5,904) = (5,904)

EEZERERALT 2018E5%K 108
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning on 1 January 2018. These new and revised HKFRSs
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2019

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interest in
Associates and Joint Ventures

1 January 2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments and new standards is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has
identified some aspects of the new standards which may have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Further details of the expected impacts are discussed below.
While the assessment has been substantially completed for
HKFRS 16, the actual impacts upon the initial adoption of the
standards may differ as the assessment completed to date is
based on the information currently available to the Group, and
further impacts may be identified before the standard are initially
applied in the Group’s first quarter financial report for the three
months ending 31 March 2019. The Group may also change
its accounting policy elections, including the transition options,
until the standards are initially applied in that first quarter financial
report.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related interpretations.
The new standard introduces a single accounting model for
lessees. For lessees the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed and lessees will recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for all leases (with optional exemptions
for short-term leases and leases of low value assets). HKFRS 16
carries forward the accounting requirements for lessors in HKAS
17 substantially unchanged. Lessors will therefore continue to
classify leases as operating or finance leases.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019. The Group intends to apply the simplified
transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for
the year prior to first adoption.

Based on a preliminary assessment, the standard will affect
primarily the accounting for the Group’s operating leases. The
Group’s leases for office premises and office equipment are
currently classified as operating leases and the lease payments
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under
HKFRS 16 the Group may need to recognise and measure
a liability at the present value of the future minimum lease
payments and recognise a corresponding right-of-use asset
for these leases. The interest expense on the lease liability and
depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be recognised in profit
or loss. The Group’s assets and liabilities will increase and the
timing of expense recognition will also be impacted as a result.

As disclosed in note 44(b), the Group’s future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases for its office
premises and office equipment amounted to approximately
HK$3,504,000 as at 31 December 2018. These leases are
expected to be recognised as lease liabilities, with corresponding
right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The amounts
will be adjusted for the effects of discounting and the transition
reliefs available to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets, the Group expects that the transition adjustments to be
made upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 16 will not be material.
However, the expected changes in accounting policies as
described above could have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements from 2019 onwards.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@)

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. |dentifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwiill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUS”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right
contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Associates (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s
entire carrying amount of that associate (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated exchange reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant activities are
activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement.
When assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder
has the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A
joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the arrangement. The Group has assessed the type of each of its
joint arrangements and determined them to all be joint ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Joint arrangements (continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint
venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in
a loss of joint control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that joint venture and (i) the Group’s entire
carrying amount of that joint venture (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated exchange reserve. If an investment in a
joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in
the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L/{/%TL@J/T\)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. TE&EUR ()
(e) Foreign currency translation (e) IhEEBE

0 Functional and presentation currency 0 ThBER ZI|#R &
ltems included in the financial statements of each of AEBESERNIBREMSIER -
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of BAZER é%f?&i&/ﬁ%fﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁm
the primary economic environment in which the entity ([Thee&E#E | )E 2o R EMBHETD
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated LA R &9 I &5'] #Ef‘fm@%ﬁi
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, e
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial )  EERBYUBRFNKZRAE
Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(ii)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

119

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease term, if shorter

Office equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer hardware and software 3-5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property is
measured initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable
to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its fair
value based on valuation by an external independent professional
valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the
investment property are recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development
activities is capitalised as intangible assets if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes the costs
of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred.

Customer relationship and computer software are that intangible
assets with finite useful lives and are acquired through business
combination. The intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are stated at cost, being the fair value at the date
of completion of the business combination, less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

0)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Development costs on personal computer 2-9 years
performance software, anti-virus software
and mobile applications (“Computer and
Mobile Phone Software”)
— Customer relationship 10 years
— Computer software 6 years

The residual values, useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Operating Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as
operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note
4(y) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.

Policy prior to 1 January 2018

In the comparative period, contract balances were recorded for
contract for services at the net amount of costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses and progress
bilings. These net balances were presented as the “amounts
due from contract customers” (as an asset) or the “amounts
due to contract customers” (as a liability). Progress billings not
yet paid by the customer were included under “trade and other
receivables”. Amounts received before the related work was
performed were presented as “deferred income” under “trade
and other payables”. These balances have been reclassified on 1

January 2018 as shown in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

123

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Contract for services

Revenue from contracts with customers in the Group’s corporate
management solutions and I.T. contract services business (‘CMS
services contracts”) recognised over time when the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

When the outcome of a CMS services contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e.
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to
the estimated total costs. The directors consider that this input
method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under
HKFRS 15.

The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for rendering
of CMS services based on achieving a series of performance-
related milestones. When a particular milestone is reached the
customer is sent an invoice for the related milestone payment.
The Group will previously have recognised a contract asset for
any work performed. Any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at
which it is invoiced to the customer. If the milestone payment
exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost
method then the Group recognises a contract liability for the
difference. There is not considered to be a significant financing
component in contracts with customers as the period between
the recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost method and
the milestone payment is always less than one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0

Contract for services (continued)

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated
to exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognised.

Policy prior to 1 January 2018

Revenue from CMS services contracts under corporate
management solutions and I.T. contract services business was
recognised on a similar basis in the comparative period under
HKAS 11.
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125

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(m)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified under
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial assets (continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.

Policy prior to 1 January 2018

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an financial
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
financial assets within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of financial
assets at FVTPL.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at FVTPL, loans and receivables, and available-for-
sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)

Policy prior to 1 January 2018 (continued)

U]

(i)

(i)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are either financial assets
classified as held for trading or designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition. These financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of these financial assets
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. These assets are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method (except for short-
term receivables where interest is immaterial) minus
any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility. Typically
trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash are
classified in this category.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets that are not classified as loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial
assets at FVTPL. Available-for-sale financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of these investments
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, until
the investments are disposed of or there is objective
evidence that the investments are impaired, at which time
the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified from equity
to profit or loss. Interest calculated using the effective
interest method and dividends on available-for-sale equity
investments are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

()

(a)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group (i.e. the
operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group) that either has been disposed of, or is
classified as held for sale, and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of
a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the component meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if earlier. It also occurs
when the component is abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(r

Discontinued operation (continued)

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented in the statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

- The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

— The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of services may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer control
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FES:EBUER (&)

(s) WARER (&)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

IRFHA

) Service income i

Revenue from CMS services is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the contract in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4(l)
above. Payment for CMS services is not due from
the customer until the services are complete and
therefore a contract asset is recognised over the
period in which the CMS services are performed
representing the entity’s right to consideration for
the services performed to date.

Services fee income from |.T. contract services
including IT maintenance services and system
integration services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. Services are
fixed-price contracts that customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the
payments exceed the services rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FES:BUER (&)

133

(s) Revenue recognition (continued) (s) AR (&)
(i) Sale of goods )  HEEmSD

Revenue from the sale of computer and mobile
phone software is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the software when a contract is
agreed, the software is delivered and the customer
has the right to use it.

Revenue from the sales of hardware and software
products are recognised when control of the goods
has been transferred which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are delivered and
the title has passed to the customers. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customer as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time
is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii)

Toolbar and advertisement incorme

Toolbar revenue is derived principally from online toolbar
private label arrangements with toolbar service providers.
The Group allows toolbar service providers to launch their
toolbar installation application when the Group’s software
is installed by users. Toolbar revenue is determined based
on the number of qualified installations and as a share of
search based income when users use the search engine
incorporated in the toolbar to search for goods and
services and purchase goods and services advertised in
the search result.

Income from advertisement is derived principally from
online advertising arrangements. The Group enters
into advertising arrangements with advertisers to allow
them to put advertisements on particular areas of the
Group’s electronic platforms, or embedded hyperlinks to
advertisements in the Group’s electronic platforms. For
the hyperlinks embedded in the Group’s websites, the
advertisers pay the Group based on number of clicks on
the hyperlinks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

Toolbar and advertisement income (continueq)

The Group recognises revenue as a performance
obligation is satisfied over time when the related services
are rendered and also when the revenue can be measured
reliably and the collectability is reasonably assured.

Interest income

Interest income on loans are recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

Income from provision of kindergarten education and self-
improverment and self-enhancement training programs

Income from provision of kindergarten education and self-
improvement and self-enhancement training programs are
recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied over
time when the related services are rendered.

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over

the lease term as the performance obligation is satisfied
over time when the related services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FES:EBUER (&)

(s)

Revenue recognition (continued) (s)
(vi)  Bank interest income

Bank interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

(vii) - Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Policy prior to 1 January 2018

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:

(i) Service income

- Revenue from corporate management solution
service contracts and professional IT service
contracts is recognised on the percentage of
completion method, measured by reference to
the proportion of work completed to date to the
estimated total work of the relevant contract, where
the outcome of a contract cannot be measured
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that
the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.

- Revenue from IT maintenance service is recognised
when the service are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

Policy prior to 1 January 2018 (continued)

(i)

(i)

Sale income

Revenue from the sale of application software, sale
of goods, hardware and software is recognised when
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold.

Loan interest income

Interest income on loans are recognised on an accrual
basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset. When a loan
has been written down as a result of an impairment loss,
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash receipts for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

Policy prior to 1 January 2018 (continued)

(iv)

Toolbar and advertisement

Toolbar revenue is derived principally from online toolbar
private label arrangement, with toolbar service providers.
The Group allows toolbar service providers to launch their
toolbar installation application when the Group’s software
is installed by users. Toolbar revenue is determined based
on the number of qualified installations and as a share of
search based income when users use the search engine
incorporated in the toolbar to search for goods and
services and purchase goods and services advertised in
the search result.

Income from advertisement is derived principally from
online advertising arrangements. The Group enters
into advertising arrangements with advertisers to allow
them to put advertisements on particular areas of the
Group’s electronic platforms, or embedded hyperlinks to
advertisements in the Group’s electronic platforms. For
the hyperlinks embedded in the Group’s websites, the
advertisers pay the Group based on number of clicks on
the hyperlinks.

The Group recognises revenue when the revenue can
be measured reliably and the collectability is reasonably
assured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)
Policy prior to 1 January 2018 (continued)

(v)  Commission income

Commission income from provision of an online shopping
platform is recognised when the services are rendered.

Commission income from insurance and mandatory
provident fund schemes brokerage services is recognised
on an accrual basis based on the commissioning of the
respective insurance policies and mandatory provident

fund schemes.

(vi)  Training course income

Training course income from provision of education and
training program is recognised when the services are

rendered.

(vl Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

(vii)  Bank interest income

Bank interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

effective interest method.

(ix)  Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’

rights to receive payment are established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits

0

(i)

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates
and interests in joint arrangements, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax for such investment properties are measured
based on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group If that person:

(0} has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

Related parties (continued)

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
condlitions applies: (continued)

(vij  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(vi) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(Vi) The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provide key management personnel

services to the reporting entity or to the parent of
the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

BHE—

e MR M A

—N\F+A=t—HLFE

(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

4. FEETEHE (&)

(w)

B S (&)

B EEEEF SN TR - A 58

REFGRE - (&)
V) EEm ()Iﬁﬁﬁ}aAi% il gk 2t
a2 il

(Vi) (ANEFEEATHEEBBEEX
FENRAEEREEIAA

EEBABZ—-

(viiy EEE Sk—HEEZEMKE
QQ(%EIZJ$WWEW
ERNEREB G RARM
E%F‘E/\Eﬂ&ﬁ%

FERMEERE

FEBMAEENREENSRE AR
BERENR WEECREE REBRKA
BRRAMSXHREE GRS -7
YeBl & BT BRI B EREE - N A A
EEABOBYNEMBEEREEMLAH
BERA KO SRR EERBNRE
EHETEE - RSB AENEESRS
SEHETHEAEEEZELQFEERD
ERAMER 2LEE -

TCREEAREE, ReEDETMETRRK

FE&neEMNEE - BERRREBIERER

ﬁ?/ﬁé?ﬁﬁﬁ(a%%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ
BB AR RS E -

REeELETNREBREELSAREHESE
UEE NENREEHETHEMBEEZ
R LL ) 2 BL - BER (b AT & Eh G ey Al Y ml
SRR ABR BERRERE-

BZERBER AT 2018F K

144



145

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost, trade
receivables and contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L/{/%TL@J/T\)

FTEREFHE (&)

TREERSHNEEZRE (&)

(y) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (y)

(continued)
Significant increase in credlit risk (continuead)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(iii) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credlit risk (continuead)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

(v)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- The disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by
default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Policy prior to 1 January 2018

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether
its financial assets (other than those at FVTPL) are impaired,
based on objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its
cost is considered also to be objective evidence of impairment.

In addition, for trade receivables that are assessed not to be
impaired individually, the Group assesses them collectively for
impairment, based on the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the delayed payments in the portfolio,
observable changes in economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly
reduced by the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

(2)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the amount
of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed (either directly or by adjusting the
allowance account for trade receivables) through profit or loss.
However, the reversal must not result in a carrying amount that
exceeds what the amortised cost of the financial asset would
have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date
the impairment is reversed.

For available-for-sale debt securities, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in
the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss. In
respect of available-for-sale equity securities, an increase in fair
value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve;
impairment losses are not reversed through profit or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(aa) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(@) Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less costs of disposal
(“FVLCD") of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated. The
VIU calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate present value. Calculation of fair value
using a market approach requires valuation technique which
uses prices and other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical and comparable groups of assets
and liabilities or business, a control premium and marketability
discount. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the
reporting period was approximately HK$146,079,000 (2017:
HK$318,356,000) after an impairment loss of approximately
HK$166,934,000 (2017: HK$182,000,000) was recognised
during the year. Details of the impairment test for CGU containing
goodwill are set out in note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(b)

Recoverability of intangible assets

During the year, the management has evaluated the impairment
of intangible assets by way of higher of VIU calculation by
reference to the discounted cash flows derived from financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group or FVLCD
with reference to the latest market transactions. If the higher
of the VIU or FVLCD is less than the corresponding carrying
amounts, an impairment loss may be required.

0

Development costs on Computer and Mobile Phone
Software

During the year, the Group reconsidered the recoverability
of its internally-generated intangible asset arising from
the Group’s Computer and Mobile Phone Software
development. The projects continue to progress in a
very satisfactory manner, and customer reaction has
reconfirmed the Group’s previous estimates of anticipated
revenues from the projects. However, increased
competitor activities have caused the Group to reconsider
its assumptions regarding future market shares and
anticipated margins on these products. Detailed sensitivity
analysis has been carried out and the Group is confident
that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered
in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation will
be closely monitored, and adjustments made in future
periods, if future market activity indicates that such
adjustments are appropriate.

The carrying amount of development costs on Computer
and Mobile Phone Software at 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$75,022,000 (2017: HK$71,276,000).
No impairment loss (2017: HK$7,769,000) was recognised
during the year. Details of the impairment review refer to
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b) Recoverability of intangible assets (continued)

(i)

Customer relationship and computer software

The management determines whether customer
relationship and computer software are impaired
requires an estimation of the VIU of the CGU to which
the assets are allocated. The VIU calculation requires
the management to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate to calculate the present value. The carrying amount
of customer relationship and computer software at 31
December 2018 were approximately HK$2,083,000 (2017:
HK$7,284,000) and HK$252,000 (2017: HK$1,217,000)
respectively after impairment losses of approximately
HK$4,094,000 (2017: HK$NIl) and HK$494,000
(2017: HKS$NIl) recognised during the year. Details of
the impairment review are provided in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(c) Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets reflect

management’s estimation on the Group’s intention to

derive future economic benefits from the intangible assets.

The management performs annual reviews of whether the

assumptions made of useful lives continue to be valid. When

useful lives of intangible assets are different from those previously

estimated, the amortisation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December 2018
was approximately HK$77,357,000 (2017: HK$79,777,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(d)

(e

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or
it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at
31 December 2018 was approximately HK$290,000 (2017:
HK$1,877,000).

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and FVTPL

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and FVTPL that are
not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select and consider
information from a variety of sources and make assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the
end of each reporting period. Changes in these estimates and
assumptions could have a material effect on the fair value of the
financial assets at FVTOCI and FVTPL.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTOCI (2017:
available-for-sale financial assets) and at FVTPL that are not
traded in an active market at the end of the reporting period
were approximately HK$1,176,000 (2017: HK$1,933,000) and
HK$4,224,000 (2017: HK$6,420,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(f)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the
management of the Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that trade
receivables and contract assets are impaired. The provision
policy for bad and doubtful debts of the Group is based on
the evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of accounts
and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of
trade receivables and contract assets, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowance may be required.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$24,113,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of approximately HK$20,000).

Since the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the
management of the Group estimates the amount of impairment
loss for ECL on trade receivables and contract assets based
on the credit risk of trade receivables and contract assets. The
amount of the impairment loss based on ECL. model is measured
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where
the future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a material
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate carrying amount
of trade receivables and contract assets is approximately
HK$14,158,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
approximately HK$483,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(9)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

During the year, approximately HK$5,830,000 of income tax
from continuing operations was charged (2017: HK$14,443,000
income tax from continuing operations was credited) to profit or
loss based on the estimated profit from continuing operations.

Revenue and profit recognition

As explained in policy note 4(), revenue from CMS services
are recognised over time. Such revenue and profit recognition
on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date.
Based on the Group’s recent experience and the nature of the
CMS activities undertaken by the Group, the Group has made
estimates of the point at which it considered the work was
sufficiently advanced such that the outcome of the contract can
be reasonably measured. Until this point is reached the related
contract assets disclosed in note 32 do not include profit which
the Group might eventually realise from the work done to date. In
addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may
be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting
period, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

During the year, approximately HK$3,293,000 (2017:
HK$2,176,000) of revenue from CMS services was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(i)

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on
the results of the sole payments of principal and interest and
the business model test. The Group determines the business
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective.
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant
evidence including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect
the performance of the assets and how these are managed and
how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand the
reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent
with the objective of the business for which the asset was held.
Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of
whether the business model for which the remaining financial
assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model
and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets.
No such changes were required during the periods presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities
and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The effect of the strengthened or weakened of Hong Kong dollars
against US$ on the loss after tax is not significant.

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI (2017: available-for-sale
financial assets) and financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security
price risk due to the fluctuation of share prices of financial assets
at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL. The directors review
the exposure to the equity security price risk on the financial
assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL regularly.

If the share prices of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL increase/decrease by 10% (2017: 10%), the
other comprehensive income and loss after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$544,000 lower/higher (2017:
HK$3,715,000 higher/lower) and approximately HK$353,000
lower/higher (2017: HK$806,000 lower/higher) respectively,
arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of the financial assets
at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Price risk (continued)

At 31 December 2018, the Group had concentration of equity
security price risk on one (2017: one) of its listed securities
investments in Hong Kong accounted for 78% (2017: 64%) of
its financial assets at FVTOCI (2017: available-for-sale financial
assets) and one (2017: one) of its listed investments in Hong
Kong accounted for 99% (2017: 66%) of its financial assets at
FVTPL as at 31 December 2018.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and financial institutions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, contract assets, pledged bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents and financial assets at amortised cost.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because
the counterparties are well-established securities broker firms in
Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers and service providers, requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ and service providers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer and service provider
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer and service provider operate. Trade receivables are
due within 90 days from date of bilings negotiated on a case-
by-case basis. Normally the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. The directors are of the opinion that no
further provision for uncollectible receivables is required in the
consolidated financial statements. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral or guarantee from customers and service
providers.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 39% of the trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest debtor (2017: No concentration of credit risk).

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs which is
calculated using a provision matrix on individual segment. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer and
services provider segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer and service provider bases. The ECL on trade
receivables and contracts assets are estimated using a simplified
method. The Group has assessed that the ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets based on individually significant
customer and service provider or ageing of customers and
service providers collectively that are not individually significant.
According to different segments of the Group which include the
followings:

- Research, development and distribution of computer
and mobile phone software and toolbar advertisement
(“Software Business”)

- Provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services (“Corporate Management Solutions and
|.T. Contract Services Business”)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HKEREE (H)
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) REER(E&)

EESEUIEREEE (8)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

TRERTAEER-_Z-N\F+-A
=T -BENEERBIARE S EWHIESN

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31

163

December 2018: TEREEEENER:
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEBER HEREE BERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables g 2 rEWME Aot FHET FHET
At 31 December 2018 RZZT—N\F+=ZA=+—H
Software Business BHER
Not past due R ER 0% 6,893 =
Less than 1 month past due B HR T R i — @ A 0% 283 =
1 to 3 months past due wmE—==1EA 0% 142 =
More than 3 months but less than 12 0 B R 8 = 1 A B8 1 218
months past due A 0% 103 -
Corporate Management Solutions and ®¥EEMRFERETRE
L.T. Contract Services Business BRI EL
(i) e-Perfect IT () =
— Not past due — R - - -
— Less than 1 month past due — @ ER AR — @ A 4.96% 85 4
-1 to 3 months past due —mE—E==@A 517% 1,523 79
— More than 3 months but less — BB = A A ETEB
than 12 months past due 12{@ A 5.71% 88 5
(i) Wafer HK (i) LB BB
— Not past due — R 8.63% 2,017 174
— Less than 1 month past due — @ ERN AR — @ A 8.63% 907 78
-1 to 3 months past due —mE—E=@A 8.65% 495 43
— More than 3 months but less — BB = A A ETEB
than 12 months past due 1218 A 8.69% 622 54
— Over 12 months past due —mEAHR A 1218 A 39.76% 60 24
13,218 461
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Expected loss rate for current contract asset is assessed to be
2%. As at 31 December 2018, the loss allowance provision for
contract asset is amounted to HK$22,000.

Loss allowances for contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the customers and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(AETTHIR)

6. MBERERE (&)

(©

=EREE (&)

BN R EEE (8)
HHBREDENBEMFNEREBRL
% CHREL R EHRBBRARRPNRERE
BRI AR BN - BRI AL
I 5 e My R IR TR B AT A A B A B O B
BEZEMER-

BEAHNEBENBHEBRRETEA2% -
RZE—NF+ZA=+—H ANEEN
B8 845 /22,0007 T °

A WEENBIAREG—ERESRFHED
BHEEERNLEH - RS REED
B E EAIA TR AR E B R
RERE AR RERETHH LR,
AR EL R HE BB E I REAE
BAE RO £ 3P e B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

()

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Prior to 1 January 2018

Prior to 1 January 2018, an impairment loss was recognised

BHE—

—N\F+A=t—HLFE

(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

6. MBERERE (&)

(©

=EmkE (&)
R=F-NNF—HA—HA

RZZE-N\F—A—RA EREZTENR

only when there was objective evidence of impairment. At 31 EFERFSRAREER - R —tF
December 2017, trade receivables of approximately HK$20,000 +=—A=+—8" 420,000 T E 5 &k
was determined to be impaired. The aging analysis of trade FEWETLRRE HRALERENE
debtors that were not considered to be impaired was as follows: SRR ER ST
2017
—tF
HK$'000
FHET
Neither past due nor impaired B oK 480 B 71 R (B 19,715
Less than one month past due BEAT R —E A 1,561
1 to 3 months past due wmH—Z=={@A 1,796
More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due mEAEE=E A ET#ER121EA 939
Over 12 months past due B BB iR 1 21E A 102
4,398

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to
a number of independent customers and service providers
that had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no impairment allowance
was necessary in respect of these balances as there had been
no significant change in credit quality and the balances were stil
considered fully recoverable.

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

Credit risk (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loan receivable
from an associate, other receivable from Fragrant River
Entertainment Culture (Holdings) Limited (“Fragrant River”),
amounts due from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary and
other miscellaneous receivables.

For loan receivable from an associate of HK$27,230,000 (note
30(h)) and other receivable from Fragrant River of HK$20,400,000
(note 30(f)), the management performed assessment on the
recoverability of the outstanding balance periodically. The Group
has assessed lifetime ECL for the loan receivable from an
associate following the significant deterioration in the operating
results of the associate during the year which lead to a significant
increase in credit risk. Lifetime expected credit loss allowance
for the loan receivable from an associate of HK$27,230,000 was
recognised during the year as the management assessed the
ECL to be 100%.

For other receivable from Fragrant River, the Group has assessed
lifetime ECL following the default in payment from Fragrant River
during the year which lead to a significant increase in credit
risk. The lifetime ECL as at 31 December 2018 is based on the
valuation performed by an independent valuer using probability-
weighted method. Lifetime expected credit loss allowance of
HK$12,200,000 was recognised in accordance with the valuation
report.

For amounts due from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary,
the management makes periodic collective assessments as well
as individual assessment on the recoverability of the receivables.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these receivables are
not material under the 12-month expected credit losses method.
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised during the year.

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

6. MBERERE (&)

(©

&Rk (&)
REHH AT BN RN HEE

BEERATENEMSREEREEK
—fEHE R BB RE B TREX L (32
PR BRAT ([EIT])EMEKKIE &
W — M B R R SEE R R KA R R
ST R MO IR -

JRE U — Bt i X R) & 3R (B RE30(h) ) B 2R
B ET H E At 8 R (BT RE30(7)) 2 51 &
27,230,000/ 7T 220,400,000 7T - B E
TEBR EUR (B8 A5 R0 A IR B HE 7T AT A
EZBENRFANKEREREERL B
HEERBARENE REEERER—
M E R B ERTHBEEFESRNERAR
EBiE - AN ERENLSHNRRERES
1B R100% * B L FAE B EW — R LR
AEREREEATFESNARAEEHIER
27,230,000/ T

HNREETIHEMERRIR  #FTNF
PN 3 EBUE BRI AIRIE IR - R
SEEFHBREAFEANEREEHRE -1
“E-N\F+ZA=+—-REBEFEHAD
HHEEBBDERB I AEMEARA
RINEREITOGESH - RIB[ERS
EEFEMNTRHEEEE#12,200,000
BITE TR -

A R — [ BB R R 2 SRR s 5KOR -
BT [E T I e R Y BT I M R SR B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HMBEBREE (H)
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) REER(E&)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) AT ER R M EE ()
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade FRESHMEMERFIERENEERSE
and other receivables and contract assets during the year is as BEROEHNT
follows:
Other
receivable
from
Trade Contract Loan from Fragrant
receivables assets an associate River 2018 2017

E¥-B  REFIHN
B 5 FE R RNEE BEAREY HtEUIE —B-AF —T-LF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$j000

TET TER TER FTER TET FHT

At 1 January R—FA—8 20 - - - 20 304
Impairment losses recognised FRBROREERE

for the year 441 22 27,230 12,200 39,893 20
Amounts written off during the year ~ FERMENEE - - - = = (77)
Reversals of allowance RERE - - - = = (227)
At 31 December = E—E 461 22 27,230 12,200 39,913 20
The significant changes in the gross carrying amounts of trade FR ML B8 FE Uk — P B 4 R B B30 27,230,000
and other receivables and contract assets contributed to the 77T R BT H)50I812,200,0008 7T - B
increase in the loss allowance during 2018 because write-off of SREMBURRIBARENEEREER
loan from an associate of HK$27,230,000 and receivable from BEARRESE S _T— \FHERE
Fragrant River of HK$12,200,000. BRTIG M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities are due within 1
year.

Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s significant interest-bearing
assets and liabilities are bank deposits. As at 31 December
2017, the Group’s significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities
were bank deposits and loan receivable from a customer.

The Group’s interest income from bank deposits is dependent
on changes in market interest rates and will not have significant
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits are at fixed interest rates
and therefore are subject to fair values interest rate risk.

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(LABTTHIIR)

6. MBERERE (&)

(d)

()

RBE

REBBEK T ERERE R LIARREHE
SHREB - ARREREHRSREERMNEH
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BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HBEERERE (HE)
()  Categories of financial instruments at 31 December M RT-A=+—BWERIAEER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Financial assets: ERMEE:
Financial assets at FVTPL: BEBREBEREAATFEENEN
SRVEE
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEIEBEREUNATEEE
— Held for trading —BEEE 4,224 9,656
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESHEE - 37,149
Financial assets measured at amortised cost IRE K RN EHN L RMEE 175,825 =
Loans and receivables (including cash and ~ EFH KR EWHE (BFRE M
cash equivalents) REFEY) - 180,984
Financial assets as FVTOCI: FREMEEmKEAAFEESER
MERMEE:
Equity instruments RATEA 5,439 -
Financial liabilities: SWMEHE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHERATENCRBE 9,599 15,049
(g) Fair values (99 2 EE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and AEBGEMBRARFAIRERNEERS
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of BAEENRAEEESENATEEES

financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. ATV EEFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to AT EEEMSGSEEZERGEBREARFR

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants SHHEEEFR KIS EEE BT MOER-

at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value TXHRBEFAATFEESHRITENAFEE A

measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three EETERTFEENMER ZBAZBRERLS A=

levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: AR :

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for FE—HBASE: AEEURGTEBHFLAE
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can REEXBENERMISH
access at the measurement date. B CREHARE) -

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within FEABARE: BHEESHEBENEESARRA
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, B ABE MIEE &
either directly or indirectly. Fr B tE ) RIE -

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FE=MEAEE: EEIBEHTIUEZREA

Eg L

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out AEENBRREEREESHRELHRERE

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in EAER =R R EA RE BN -

circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 @ RTZA=+—HWATEESRE
December: &

Fair value measurement using: Total

ATVEEHEBFAABR: st

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018

F—8 F-H F=HK —BE-N\E

Description HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

- FTHT FHT THET FHT

Recurring fair value measurements: &HE 4D FEETE:

Financial assets CRMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBRAATER
RS REE
Listed equity securities LETRAES - - 4,224 4,224
Financial assets at FVTOCI BREMEERE
IAAFEEYRS
Listed equity securities R ES 4,263 - 1,176 5,439
Total @at 4,263 - 5,400 9,663
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

7. A¥

m
ﬂ_l't

=l

E (&)

P4

(@) TZRA=1T—HNAFEESRK

December: (continued) = (&)
Fair value measurement using: Total
NEEEFTEMAER: wast
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017
F— FE = —T—+EF
Description HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
H#E FHT FRET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: &&E %A FEEE:
Financial assets CRMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BBBREIAATFEEG
Listed equity securities ETRAES 3,236 - 6,420 9,656
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESHEE
Listed equity securities ETRAES 35,216 = 1,635 36,851
Unlisted equity securities EETRAE S - - 142 142
Unlisted investment fund FLEMBRERES - - 156 156
Investment properties REYHE
Commercial units — Hong Kong EEBEMN—BE - 38,300 - 38,300
Total wmat 38,452 38,300 8,353 85,105

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the

year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, two listed equity
securities which were classified as financial assets at FVTPL and
available-for-sale financial assets amounting to approximately
HK$6,420,000 and HK$1,635,000 respectively were transferred
from measurement based on Level 1 to Level 3 as these
listed equity securities were suspended of trading in the Stock

Exchange during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(AETTHIR)

7. AFEMEE (H)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based b) REF=REZEAFEEFENEESY
on Level 3: iR
2018
—B-N\F
Financial assets Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets at FVTOCI at FVTPL
BERAMZERES EBBG
URAFEETIRY URAFEETIRN
THEESHEE SREE EREE
Listed Unlisted Unlisted Listed Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity  investment equity equity equity  investment
securities  securities fund  securities  securities  securities fund
£ kL FLEm i FEH i FEH
RAE S RAES REES RAES RAE S RAES REES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TERT TAL TAR TAL TRT TAL
At 1 January 2018 R-ZF-\E—A—H 1,635 142 156 - - 6,420 -
Adjustments on initial application of BRERBBNBREER
HKFRS 9 FORHE (1,635) (142) (156) 1,635 142 = 156
Restated balance at 1 January 2018 R=ZZ-N\§-A-AR
mEF| 2 B8 - - - 1,635 142 6,420 156
Total losses recognised AT 5178 B B2
BRER
—in profit or loss — " - - - - - (2,196) (156)
~ in other comprehensive income -EzEkE - - - (459) (142) - -
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-\E+-A=1-H = = = 1,176 = 4,224 =

) Included in other gains and losses

® FEARAL W B 1R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTHITR)
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AT EESE (&)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based b) REF=REZELAFEEFENEEY
on Level 3: (continued) R ()
2017
—EtF
Derivative Contingent Financial
financial consideration assets at
instruments Available-for-sale financial assets receivables FVTPL
EiRBR
NATFER
5B &9
TESRMIA AHHECREE UK ARE SHEE
Listed Unlisted Unlisted Listed
equity equity investment equity
securities securities fund securities
il i} LT i}
BAFESH AR E S REES RRAEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET THT THT FTHT THT
At1 January 2017 i 959 - - 2147 18710 -
Purchases/additions BE/RE - - 1,781 - - -
Transfer into Level 3 BEE=4 = 1,635 = = = 6,420
Transfer to other receivables B H R - - - = (20,400) =
Total gains/(losses) recognised W38 B MRA Y/
(BR)Es
—in profit or loss —iRa (959) - - - 1,690 =
- in other comprehensive income —Hi2EKE = = (1,639) (1,991) = =
At 31 December 2017 RZZ2—+F+-A=+-H - 1,635 142 156 - 6,420
* Included in other gains and losses ) AR R REE
The total losses recognised in other comprehensive income are REMEEAREERNEBRBENGEIE
presented in fair value loss on financial assets at FVTOCI (2017: mkEMmEERERPEBEMEEKE
available-for-sale financial assets) in the consolidated statement NAFEBRIENSEE (ZS—tF:
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. AHEESREE) AT EEBEZY -
The total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss including those REBRERNKE (BE) BERERR
for assets held at end of reporting period are presented in other HHRMISEE  WHRERABRRPEMK
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. mREBES .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

()

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2018:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The management reviews the fair value measurements at least
once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the

valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
are mainly:

- risk free rate (estimated based on zero coupon rate)

- yield spread (estimated based on certain comparable
bonds)

- expected volatility (estimated based on historical volatility)

- dividend vyield (estimated based on no dividends will be
paid in the near future)

- present value of expected future share price (estimated
based on dividend yield is zero)

- probability-weighted profit
- discount factor

Level 2 fair value measurements

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(LABTTHIIR)

7. AFEMEE (H)

(©

BEAREER-Z-N\F+ZA=1t—
AFRAMGERR HERTRAFEE
STEARARE:
AEBEEREAERYBEHRELETNEE
ERBENATEENE (BEE=RQTF
EBEFE) BEEESFEL—RBIHLQF
BEAS-

HRE=RATEEFEMS FEEH-RE
CEABRAUEXEREREHRAELRN
SNEHEERK

E=RATEEMAEIETTHEREAK
BEERE:
-  ERERAE(REZTEEXRME)

-  hEEw(REETHELRESRG
&t

—  TEHKE (REBELIKEGE)

- BREX(BRBETAERTEIRMNER
&)

-  FEHRARENRE (RETREX
&)

—  FIREMEINEER A
- BBREAEE

FERATFEEE

Fair value

ATHEE
Description Valuation technique Inputs Carrying amount 2018 2017
F#iE fEER WAYE EEE ZE-N\% ZT+E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET TER
Commercial units located Direct comparison method Market price per square foot - - 38,300

in Hong Kong

&R 2 B EN HENEE BYHERME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(LABTTHIR)

7. AFEMEE (H)

() WEAKERZZE-—N\F+ZA=+-—
HETAGERE HERMTEAFERE

measurements at 31 December 2018: (continued) STEFAWMARE: (&)
Level 3 fair value measurements E=RAFEEE
Effect on fair
value for increase Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs Carrying amount 2018
BAHEEM ATEE
#f5 HEK BAHE gE HATEENTE REE —E-0\%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRBRNATEEE
NemAE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method  Share price HK$0.057 - HK$0.167  Increase 4,224 4,224
Return on relevant (11.08%) - (23.92%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 5%-35%  Decrease
- FiRAES RERRA RE 0057BTL-0.167EL %M
REMSEEER (11.08%) - (23.92%)  S& 10
REMERE 5%-35% D
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMEENG
AT EEF8RH)
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HKS$0.167  Increase 1,176 1,176
Return on relevant (2392%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
- kiR ES RERRE RE 0167 N
RETSEHER (23.92%) i
REMERRE B% B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

()

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(ABTTFIR)
7. DFEERE(E)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2018: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

© BWEAEER=ZE—NF+ZA=1+—
BATRAGERR HERITRAFEE
STEFAEARE (&)

E=RATEETE (B)

Effect on fair
value for increase Fair value
Description Valuation technique  Inputs Range  of inputs Carrying amount 2017
BABBEM LTEE
HE HER BARE 58 HATEENTE REE “E-tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRBREIATEEIR
NemAE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method  Share price HK$0.108 - HK$0.167  Increase 6,420 6,420
Return on relevant market 02%-4.46% Increase
index
Liquidity discount 30%  Decrease
- FiRAES RERRE RE 0.108%TT - 0167 &1
RATSEEER 02%-4.46% 10
REMERE 0% R
Avallable-for-sale financial
assets
AR ESHEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.16  Increase 1,635 1,635
Return on relevant market 4.46%  Increase
index
Liquidity discount 30%  Decrease
- I RAES RERRE RE 01687 #Em
RATSEEER 446% &M
RETRE 0% HY
- Unlisted equity Net asset value Net asset value per share HK$0.85  Increase 142 142
securities
- EMRAES EEFE GREEZE 08587 #Em
- Unlisted investment Net asset value Net asset value per share HK$142  Increase 156 156
fund
-k ITRERS EEFE BREERE 1428%  Em
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTHIIR)
8. REVENUE 8. WA
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@ WAED
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by FARBRERE DN REFBELLEEBLD
service line for the year from continuing operations is as follows: BEEAEHKRANT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHT
(Re-presented)
(E#5R)
Revenue from contracts with customers R & 8 B 3% % & % B 851555
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANEFSHWA
Sales of computer and mobile phone HEBMRTBERZREFUAR
software and toolbar advertisement TERES 85,823 109,209
Provision of corporate management RECEEERBRAIRR
solutions and I.T. contract services BB A& #) RS E T
business 40,967 60,949
Sales from online shopping business B LEEYEBKHEERA - 25
Provision of kindergarten education RIEHEEHRE 3,328 1,460
Provision of self-improvement and self- REBREA KRB RIGEEIEE
enhancement training programs 3,112 15,324
133,230 186,967
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8. REVENUE (continued)

(@)

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and
services over time and at a point in time in the following major

product lines and geographical regions:

(AETTHIR)

#)

8 WA(E

@ WAED (&)

U ONE

Corporate Management

Solutions and L.T. Contract

BEMERBES

REBEEATERERRMUIE RN —
B B i) T R M1 ey i A o

Software Business Services Business Others Total
For the year ended BE+t-A=1-H LEERBRAIRR
31 December JI2:3:5 BHEYR EANBANRBEYR Hit @t
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N\f ZT—+tF ZB-N\f CZTtf ZB-NFf —T-tf ZB-NF C—Ttf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAL FET TAL FET TEL FET TAL
Primary geographical IEHEFS
markets
- Hong Kong -&% 1,210 1,421 37,809 54,106 6,440 16,809 45,459 72,336
- United States -% 30,780 39,034 - - - - 30,780 39,034
- Russia —BES 3,511 3,733 3,351 7,001 - - 6,862 10,824
- Japan -AxX 7,625 7,697 - - - - 7,625 7,697
- Germany —EH 4,619 6,427 = - 5 L 4,619 6,427
- United Kingdom - 4,340 6,042 - - - - 4,340 6,042
- Canada VN 3,344 3,524 - - - - 3,344 3,524
- Australia —&M 2,352 3,429 - - - - 2,352 3,429
- Others (including Mainland ~~ — £ 4t (B 4& e
China) i) 28,042 37,902 - - - - 28,042 37,902
Segment revenue ELON 85,823 109,209 41,160 61,197 6,440 16,809 133,423 187,215
Intersegment revenue AEHEBA
- Hong Kong & - - (193) (048) - - (199) (248)
Revenue from external SREPHRA
customers 85,823 109,209 40,967 60,949 6,440 16,809 133,230 186,967
Timing of revenue KABRRH
recognition
Products and services ERRRBRE-RRE
transferred atapontintime &3 85,823 109,209 15,032 28,873 3,212 15,358 104,067 153,440
Products and services ERRRHR—BRER
transferred over time L EELS - = 25,935 32,076 3,228 1,451 29,163 33527
Total Fohs 85,823 109,209 40,967 60,949 6,440 16,809 133,230 186,967
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative AEECHARBYEEZHEREREENM

effect method. Under this method, the comparative information is
not restated and was prepared in accordance with HKAS 18 and

HKAS 11.

BEEREI1RER -

B EARBNEASSE - RIBUL TR - LLEEH
WAEH WAREEB G ELE18R R E

BZERBER AT 2018F K

178



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE=F—/\F+-A=t+-ALFE

(AETTHIR)

8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA (&)
(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining b =
performance obligation for contracts with customers %

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December
2018 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows:

BEEEFENRBENEENRSE

RZZE-NFE+ZA=+—-HIEZFt
BHEE (RBIOTRBABIT)NRZER
RIaHWm AR BRI T :

L.T. contract CMS services
services contracts
Bt TEEEFR
EHREE FRBEEH
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Within one year R—FR 5,664 787

More than one year but not BB —F AT BAME
more than two years 170 -
More than two years 1B 38 /R 70 -
5,904 787

9. OTHER REVENUE 9. HkA
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
(Re-presented)
(EF53R)
Continuing operations BESEEL

Bank interest income RITHBUA 594 88
Other loan interest income HAaEHF B H-A - 828
Rental income HEWA 988 1,604
Dividend income SV ON 234 1,598
Others Hh 22 253
1,838 4,371
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. HibRBREIE  FEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FA&ET
Continuing operations BERSEER
Foreign exchange gains, net PE N W e - R RE 210 16
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FRBHEANTEEIIENSHE
ERFEEEE (2,830) (31,240)
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHEESREERE
financial assets - (2,775)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL &5 BB % AR FEET R
SREEMRS (FH18) 103 (260,547)
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—MEECEEBE (1,144) =
Gain/(loss) on disposal of an investment property  HHEREWEN R (HE) 678 (2,477)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 42(o)()) s — M E R A E
(Kt EE42(0)()) 646 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HE %  BiE MR EH EE - (11)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 43)  BUH4R& ABRKMB A FEE
(Bt5¥43) (3,454) -
Impairment loss on amounts due from FEWEUE AR & ARRME A RIFIER
deconsolidated subsidiaries PERIEYEi} (570) =
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial AEHESREEREEE
assets (note 28) (FMf5E28) - (38,241)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 23) B R EEE (K23) (166,934) (182,000)
Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 24) mpEERAEEE (i) (4,588) (7,769)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 1% B RE & R & REE 1B
(note 21) (MF5E21) (300) -
Fair value loss on investment properties (note 22)  # &Y% N FEBEEE (Mi22) (800) (3,600)
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments MTEEBMTEAFEEEE - (959)
Fair value gain on contingent consideration ERFZAREQAFLEBE KRS
receivable - 1,690
(178,983) (527,913)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines and geographical locations. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has three (2017: four) reportable segments.

= Research, development and distribution of computer and mobile
phone software and toolbar advertisement (“Software Business”)

< Securities investment (“Securities Investment Business”)

i Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business

Money lending business operation (“Money Lending Business”) was
discontinued during the year ended 31 December 2018. Provision of
insurance and mandatory provident fund schemes brokerage services
(“Insurance and MPF Schemes Brokerage Business”) operation
was discontinued during the year ended 31 December 2017. The
segment information reported does not include any amounts for these
discontinued operations, which is described in more detail in note 17.

The Group’s other operating segments include, (i) provision of online
shopping business (“Online Shopping Business”), (i) provision of self-
improvement and self-enhancement training programs and (i) the
provision of kindergarten education, which do not meet any of the
quantitative thresholds for determining as reportable segments. The
information of these other operating segments is included in the
“Others” column.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

— Segment profit/(loss) represented profit earned by/
(loss from) each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, finance costs and income tax
expense and do not include share of loss of an associate
and share of loss of a joint venture.

— Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of other corporate
assets, interest in an associate and interest in a joint
venture.

— Segment liabilities include all current and non-
current liabilities with the exception of accrued central
administration costs.

Inter-segment revenue is priced with reference to prices charged
to external customers for similar orders.

BHE—

e MR M A

—N\E+ZRA=+—RHIFE
(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

DB & (4R)

DEEER BEREE

BBSE Z SR Y B AR A B RS SRR bt
FT4FTiE MR ©

REBDMERAMIESBZEHEIR:

- Ffras’il o EEM, (BB HIEL &
DEHRITEAA  BERKRRAE

BFX T 258 @ D SBARAREUEF,

(HREE) RTBERIE —HBE R
AERREE—HEEEEER-

- DHEEREMBANEE BE
E&uw@]ﬁ}x’ ﬁT’ﬂ%Efﬁﬁ%ﬁ
E —RABERRzEa N —REE
REMRELS

- HSHEEREMARDLIERDE
B N BEEA R RITER AR -

DEEBATI 2 ZES AU ERINRATS
WERH) (B AR E (B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

BHE—

11.

—NFTA=t—BIFE
(LA&E@J/T\)

7P E ()

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) () PHHEEBE - BEENREE (E)
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets BEDHBEHAEBREFELEEBHR
and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment is ENEEE EERBESNWT:
as follows:
Corporate
Management
Solutions and
Securities L.T. Contract
Software Investment Services
Business Business Business Others Consolidated
LEER
BRARK
EANEAN
BHER  REREEK BREES Het &E
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
“E-N\§ “B-N\§ —E-0\F —E-)0\§ “E2-N\§
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FRL FET FET
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers SREFWA 85,823 - 40,967 6,440 133,230
Inter-segment revenue AEHEBA - - 193 - 193
Reportable segment revenue BEFBEA 85,823 - 41,160 6,440 133,423
Reconciliations: HiE:
Elimination of intersegment revenue HEHBEKA (193)
Revenue WA 133,230
Results &
Segment results DEEE (130,895) (2,636) (16,348) (2,762) (152,641)
Reconciliation: HiR:
Interest income FIEKA 594
Unallocated income RABEBA
- Rental income -HERA 988
- Gain on disposal of an investment property  —H &R AN E Y E 678
- Loss on disposal of a joint venture -HE-RHARLEEE (1,144)
- Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries ~BUBGRA NRHBARER (3,454)
- Impairment loss on other receivables - EfER AR EESE (39,430)
~ Fair value loss on investment property ~-RENENTEESRE (800)
- Foreign exchange gains, net —ER s FE 193
Unallocated expenses AT
- Corporate expenses —ERY (20,568)
Loss from operations TEER (215,584)
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE-HBARLEEE (1,174)
Share of loss of an associate ElE—REHE AR (21,704)
Loss before tax BRRAIEE (238,462)
Income tax expense FBRAR (5,830)
Loss for the year AEEER (244,292)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. DEP|E ()
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) () 2HEE-BEERERE(E)
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets MENPHEARAEFB R BIFELCEEROR
and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment is EoHESE BENBEAIMWT: (8)
as follows: (continued)
Corporate
Management
Solutions and
Securities L.T.Contract
Software Investment Services
Business Business Business Others Consolidated
LEEE
BRARR
BANEEH
BHER BEREER R %K 2t &e
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
—B-N\F —B-N\§ —E-N\F —E-)0\F “E-N\§
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHT FET FET
Assets BE
Segment assets AHEE 245,497 21,843 44,671 11 312,022
Reconciliation: HiR:
Assets relating to discontinued operation BRERIEEEERNEE 256
Unallocated assets APREE
- Property, plant and equipment 0% BEREE 9%
- Investment in an associate -R—EEEARNRE 6,719
—Trade and other receivables -BHRAMERTE 8,974
- Cash and cash equivalents ~-BERBELEEN 104,966
Total assets BERE 433,035
Liabilities aff
Segment lzbilties AHaME 39,683 60 1,713 23 51,479
Reconciliation HE:
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation ERCRIEBEERMNER 50
Unallocated liabilties FAWERE
- Trade and other payables -BARAMERTE 2,129
— Current tax liabilties -EHHEAE 65
Total liabilities BELE 53,723
Other segment information: Hit 2 BER:
Additions to property, plant and equipment RENE BERRE - - (55) - (55)
Amortisation of intangible assets BN EERH (22,011) - (1,578) = (23,589)
Depreciation & - (10) (228) (642) (880)
Development costs capitalised RERAEAL (25,757) - - - (25,757)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVIPL ~ H&FEBEZUATEETIEN
SREENNS - 103 - - 103
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL BRBRALTEENRS
SHEENATEESR = (2,830) = = (2,630)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BV EEREER - - (4,588) = (4,588)
Impairment loss on goodwil HERESE (163,000 - (3,934) - (166,934)
Impairment loss on property, ¥ BEREEOHESE
plant and equipment - - (300) - (300)
Impairment loss on other receivables HivERHIBERESE - - - (39,430) (39,430)
Impairment loss on amounts due from FEWEEERA AR
deconsolidated subsidiaries KBARFENRESE - - - (570) (570)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUBGRa NRHB AR EE - - - (3,454) (3,454)
Legal and professional fees EEREEER (1,262) (46) (69) (8,860) (10,231)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets
and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment is

as follows: (continued)

(ABTTHIR)
11. 2R
@ =
4
4

= ()

BRE - BEEREE (B)

BEAEEREFELEEBHR

DEEE BERBESFTOT : (H)

Corporate
Management
Securities  Solutions and I.T.
Software Investment ~ Contract Services
Business Business Business Others Consolidated
rEER
BRARR
BRBRAN
B BHEREER R %R Hito &a
2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
—E—tF ZE—tF I S 3 ZE—tF “E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FEL TET ThET FAR
(Re-presented)
(B#31%)
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers MREPKA 109,209 - 60,949 16,809 186,967
Inter-segment revenue AERERA - - 248 - 248
Reportable segment revenue BEFBEA 109,209 - 61,197 16,809 187,215
Reconciliations: HiR:
Elimination of intersegment revenue HEDBRWA (248)
Revenue ['ON 186,967
Results £
Segment results SHLE (137,321) (332,435) 4,881 (518) (465,393)
Reconciliation: Ui
Interest income FIEKA 88
Unallocated income RABEBA
- Rental income -HEWA 1,604
~ Fair value loss on investment properties ~-RENELNTEEFE (3,600)
- Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments—#74£ £ B T A AT EEFE (959)
- Fair value gain on contingent consideration ~ — B AREAFERKE
receivable 1,690
- Loss on disposal of property, plant and -HMENE BELRSESE
equipment 1)
- Loss on disposal of investment property ~HERENESE 2,477)
- Other income —HBA 829
Unallocated expenses AARHAZ
- Corporate expenses -hERX (16,999)
Loss from operations TEmHR (485,228)
Finance costs HENK (13,720)
Share of loss of an associate 3ol AN 57 (15,644)
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE-HAELEERE (2,932)
Loss before tax BRERIEE (517,524
Income tax credit FEHEL 14,443
Loss for the year rEEBE (503,081)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTHIR)
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 11. DH®wE (K)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) () PHEEBE - BEENREE (E)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets
and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment is

as follows: (continued)

R
“
=

DEEAREE R GFHFBELE EBHR
MEE EENRBEAINMT : (&

Corporate
Management
Solutions and
Securities |.T.Contract
Software Investment Services
Business Business Business Others Consolidated
hEER
BRARR
BAMEAN
BiEB BEFREEH REER Hify &8
2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
—T—tF —E—tF —E—tF —EtF —TtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TR TR FAT FHL
(Re-presented)
(B#31%)
Assets &E
Segment assets PHEE 410,170 47,358 57,313 11,987 526,778
Reconciliation: HE:
Assets related to discontinued operation EHCRIEEERNEE 12,775
Unallocated assets ADREE
— Property, plant and equipment S EN T E 190
- Investment property -RENE 38,300
- Investment in an associate i il -UNGIf: o & 28,182
- Investment in a joint venture -R—EABLENRE 3418
~Trade and other receivables -85 REMERFE 48,474
— Cash and cash equivalents -REeRREEED 47,563
Total assets BELE 705,680
Liabilities aff
Segment liabillies AHEE 39,279 200 9313 5,713 54,505
Reconciliation HE:
Liabilities related to discontinued operation BHBRICEEBRNARE 164
Unallocated liabilties FAWERE
—Trade and other payables -BARAMERTE 2,178
Total liabilities afEeE 56,847
Other segment information: HitHHER:
Additions to property, plant and equipment NEME BEREE - - (354) (127) (481)
Amortisation of intangible assets BN EESH (20,024) - (1,578) - (21,602)
Depreciation b1 - (60) (229) (1,318) (1,607)
Development costs capitalised R %N-v N4 (27,107) - - - (27,107)
Fair value loss on financial assets BRBREANTEERN
at FVTPL SHEENTEERE = (31,240) = S (31,240)
Loss on disposal of financial assets HERBBEUATEENENE
at FVTPL HEERNEE = (260,547) = S (260,547)
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEAREESREE
financial assets MEE = (2,775) = = (2,775)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AfLEEeREERERR
financial assets - (38,241) - - (38,241)
Impairment loss on intangible assets EWEEREER (7,769) = = S (7,769)
Impairment loss on goodwill HERNESE (182,000) - - - (182,000)
Legal and professional fees EEREXER (1,367) (14) (23) (5,379) (6,783)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 11. 2EFHE (7)
(b) Geographical information b) HEER

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of () the Group’s revenue from continuing operations
from external customers and (i) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, investment property, intangible assets and goodwill,
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location of
customers is based on the location at which the services were
provided or the goods delivered. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the physical location
of the asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment and
investment property and the location of the operation to which
they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets and goodwill.

TRV BB EEERBINATPHEL
BEBRAR AR B - B E RR
e REME BYEENEBER ([FEHFR
PEE]) WREMN B NMIEMLE R
BRERBAZNEROLBERE - FEHE
MBEENMIBUEZREBEEEERMEM
BE(WNENE BEEREBIEEDE) R
EOREBNLE (WBETEERDE)
EE-

Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
SREFBA REFRBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-N\F CZT—+F “E-N\E —Z—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET THERT THET

(Re-presented)
(EF518)

Hong Kong 5 45,266 72,088 223,726 438,310
United States of America E3E 30,780 39,034 - =
Russia 2R A 6,862 10,824 - -
Japan =N 7,625 7,697 - -
Germany = 4,619 6,427 - =
United Kingdom s 4,340 6,042 - =
Canada ngx 3,344 3,524 - =
Australia SEM 2,352 3,429 - -
Others (including Mainland China) Hith (BEFEAM) 28,042 37,902 - =

133,230 186,967 223,726 438,310

() Information about major customers 0 BEXEEZFHEHR

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no individual
customer contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
12. FINANCE COSTS 12, @EKAR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—t%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHEIT
Continuing operations FESEEL
Effective interest on convertible notes AHRBREENERFE - 3,419
Interest on loan notes BEREBENFE - 10,301
- 13,720
13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. KRBLATES B
Loss before tax from continuing operations has been arrived at after REFECEEBNRTAIEREINR, (GFA)
charging/(crediting) the following: PONE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
(Re-presented)
(EFHIHR)
(@) Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration):  (a) B TR
(BIEEFME) :
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe ITERHEMBR 31,664 29,007
Retirement scheme contributions RIKET B 1,132 1,115
32,796 30,122
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

13. BRRBLATEE (H)

2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
(Re-presented)
(EF5IH)
(o)  Others items: () HMbIEAB:
Amortisation of intangible assets* B A 23,589 21,602
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EREM N & 1,460 1,980
Bad debt written off RS 27 -
Depreciation neE 880 1,607
Fair value loss on investment REMENFBERKE
properties” 800 3,600
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE BEKZE
plant and equipment* 3N - 11
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of HEREWE (Ws),/
an investment property* [Sticl (678) 2,477
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary* HE —EHE QR ke (646) =
Loss on disposal of a joint venture* HE—HeEEEIE 1,144 =
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries* BUB#RE AR B A A
Eigt 3,454 =
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AftHESREERE
financial assets" =3l - 38,241
Impairment loss on goodwill* B R EREE 166,934 182,000
Impairment loss on intangible assets* EREEREEE 4,588 7,769
Impairment loss on property, - BER
plant and equipment* SRR E R 300 -
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) B 5 K E fth fE YR IE K
on trade and other receivables and BHBERERBE,/
contract assets CREE1E#ED) 39,893 (55)
Impairment loss on amounts due from FEWEUE RS AR S
deconsolidated subsidiaries* NEIFIAR R E R EY 570 -
Operating lease charges: KEHESBR:
— hire of office premises —HERAEME 5,555 7,152

@ Included in other gains and losses

o Included in administrative expenses
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

() Income tax relating to continuing operations recognised in the

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(AETTHIR)

14. FBBiMAY (ER)

@ HFABERRABHEFELEEBNEER

consolidated statement of profit or loss represents: Frig#its :
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—+t&
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(Re-presented)
(EFHR)
Current tax EHTIE
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BENEH
Provision for the year (note (i) INEE A (FEE®)) 4,561 6,922
Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEFEREBTIR, (BEEHE)
prior years 1,489 (9,587)
— Withholding tax (note (ii)) —TEF (P EE(i) ) 246 229
6,296 (2,436)
Deferred tax (note 36(a)) IRERETE (M 5E36() ) (466) (12,007)
5,830 (14,443)

note (i):

note (ii):

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
of the estimated assessable profit for the year.

On 21 March 2018, the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.
7) Bill 2017, which introduces a two-tiered profits tax regime,
was substantively enacted. Under the two-tiered profits tax
regime, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of qualifying
corporations will be taxed at 8.25% with effect from the year
of assessment 2018/2019. Profits above HK$2 million wil
continue to be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries in which
the Group operates based on existing legislation, interpretation
and practices in respect thereof.

Withholding tax, regarding the external sales for which
customers are located outside Hong Kong, is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in relevant countries.

FEEE(Q) -

B & (i)

FENEHBEIIRAFE RN E
FERUE MR R16.5%5T & ©

RZE—NFE=ZA=+—8 3| AmHK
HAMEBREEN T —LFHRB (S
) (BTRRPIEREEE X
REMBHFEHEHE cEREE
) # 2,000,000/ T FEFL R FI B B =
T—N\E/ —E-NEFEEFLIN
8.25% )Tt AT < #B382,000,00075 7T
255 F 5 LA16.5% B0 B SR B -

BN B RABMRATRBEAKEZ
BARERRBRORALN  2ERIE
PIRRBITERN R ETE -

MR BB HING R PR TI R E
Fip R BB R BER R T
FMBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 14. FIEHMAYX (E&) (#&)

(o)  The reconciliation between income tax expense/(credit) and the (o) FTERRY (Ke)BRAFECEER
product of loss before tax from continuing operations multiplied MR AT BRGER B REE 2 ¥R
by the applicable tax rates is as follows: S8

2018 2017
—2-NF —E—t
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
(Re-presented)
(EFH®R)
Loss before tax (from continuing operations) BRELATE 1B (R B35 B L ¥£75%) (238,462) (5617,524)
Notional tax credit on loss before BT EA16.5%5T E KR T AT
tax, calculated at the rate of BERAETEER
16.5% (39,346) (85,391)
Income tax on concessionary rate (note (i)  IREEHEZRTEH
FrEEE (M) (165) -
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BEARBBANRIEZE (167) (©51)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible “~ 7] 178 5 Sz #7775 52 & 37,178 57,099
Tax effect of share of loss of an associate M — e AREENT S E 3,581 2,581
Tax effect of share of loss of a joint venture  [B{f—H& & ¥ B ENHEZE 194 484
Tax effect of temporary differences RERLREZENTIBETE
not recognised (381) (8,861)
Tax effect of unused tax losses REAAERDEBEENOREZE
not recognised 6,204 32,073
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not HRBTARERBEEENNEEE
previously recognised (3,001) (2,117)
Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years #87 F E E &2, (B EE) 1,489 (9,587)
Withholding tax AR 246 229
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MERR TR ENTE (1)) ©)
Income tax expense/(credit) SRR (K&)
(relating to continuing operations) (HRBEKEEBER) 5,830 (14,443)
Note (i): BRFEE()
For the year of assessment 2018/19, a two-tiered profits tax rates was RZZ—N/—NTFREE MEHFIEHED
introduced of which one subsidiary of the Group can elect 8.25% for its o ANEEBEF B AR A E B EER
first assessable profits of HK$2,000,000. i34 #12,000,00078 T8 1251 K8.25% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2017: one) of
them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 16. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2017:

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

15.

REHMAL

EREBaFMALTEY EPmE( 22—+
F—RRRFHMALRES MW
BE-TIAEB=2(ZF—t&F : HR)ES

16

four) highest paid individuals are as follows: A TR & 8%
2018 2017
—2-N\% —T—+t%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and other emoluments HeRHEMBE 4,167 4,586
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET IR 54 72
4,221 4,658

The emoluments of the three (2017: four) individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

=R (22 —tF OB REFHALOMEN

FRTINEE :

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—tF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AE

HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 =% 7T 21,000,000/ 7T - 2
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £=1,500,0007%8 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2,000,000/ 7T 1 1
3 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

HE-_Z-\GEET—tF+-A=+—8H1t
FE - AEEYETFTAMS T IR H
AT EERE M SN AN Bl /2 B 1+

HAE AR E -
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192



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EEREANRESR
(a) Directors’ remuneration (@ E=FH
The remuneration of each director was as follows: BFEEHFHOT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a
director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REARAES (FRALRARANBLARER) BEEAREROHE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary Share based scheme 2018
fees in kind bonuses payments contributions Total
e 2R R4 “E-N\E
EENS BEVAG METAL AERNHIN BAGTEHRR @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR TR TR TR FRT

Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (note (vil)) & %% %4 (Fi&Evi)) - 210 - - 3 213
Ms. Hung Yvonne (note (i) et (MHEEe) - 142 10 - 7 159
Mr. Lee Kin Fai (note (x)) FREBEA (X)) - 1,110 201 - 17 1,328
Mr. Wong Hin Shek (note (i) T B2 50 4 (P &E(i)) - 1,200 33 - 18 1,251
Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey BRI R (HEEW)

(note (iv)) - 596 10 - 15 621
Independent BUFHTES

non-executive directors
Ms. Xiao Yiming (note (vii) B —1e 2+ (B vii) 108 - - - - 108
Professor Chui Tsan Kit REHEHER 120 - - - - 120
Professor Lee T.S. (note (x) ~ ZRAEHRE (MiFK) 119 - - - - 119
Mr. Chan Yung (note (v)) BB LA (M) 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (note (vi)  ZBRRAE L4 (FiEEW) 120 - - - - 120

587 3,258 254 - 60 4,159
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EEEMRER (F)
(continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued) (@ ESZFHFM (&)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person'’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REARTES (THALLAREMBARNER BHEARERNH S

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary ~ Share based scheme 2017
fees in kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
e ERR PARR 1R ZT—tF
EZHe ENFH WEEA REREMXN RIAGEMRR st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET

Executive directors YTES
Mr. Kuang Hao Kun Giovanni #3548 5t 4 (FT3E())

(note (i) - 41 - - 5 496
Ms. Hung Yvonne (note (i) et (M) - 120 - - 6 126
Mr. Lee Kin Fai (note (ix)) FREBLA (X)) - 850 - - 22 872
Mr. Wong Hin Shek (note (i) T B2% 50 4 (P =E(i)) - 400 - - 6 406
Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey BRI E (M)

(note (iv) - 119 - - 3 122
Independent BUFHTES

non-executive directors
Ms. Xiao Yiming (note (vii) B —1ez+ (B vii) 120 - - - - 120
Professor Chui Tsan Kit BREBEHE 120 - - - - 120
Professor Lee T.S. (note (x)  ZRAHRE (MFK) 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yung (note (v)) BB L (M) 12 - - - - 12
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (note (vi)  EBRRAE L4 (FiEEW) 12 - - - - 12

384 1,910 - - 42 2,336
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EEEAMRER (F)
(continued)

(@) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Ms. Hung Yvonne was appointed as acting chairman of the
Company on 31 March 2017. On 12 June 2018, Ms. Hung Yvonne
has retired as executive director of the Company.

Mr. Kuang Hao Kun Giovanni resigned as executive director of the

Company on 31 March 2017.

Mr. Wong Hin Shek was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 1 September 2017.

(@

EEHM (&)
P i

() HEMZEIN_T—EF=ZA=1+—H%E
RERKRRARBER -R_F—N\FRX
A+ B {@EmE T RERDRBRNTE
-

(ii) BRELER-_T—+F=-A=+—H#
EARAITESE

(iii TRELER-T—tFNA—AEER
RARBRITES -

(iv) Mr. Pon Kai Choi Phemey was appointed as executive director (iv) BRAEER_T—tF+—AZAEZ
of the Company on 2 November 2017 and resigned as executive EARARWMTES YR _T—\F+
director of the Company on 29 October 2018. A=+ NBEERARARIRITES-

v) Mr. Chan Yung was appointed as independent non-executive v) REEER-_T—+F+—A=-THBEE
director of the Company on 24 November 2017. EAEBERRRBYIENTES-

(vi) Mr. Cheng Hong Kei was appointed as independent non-executive (vi) BEHAER-_T—+F+—A=+mA
director of the Company on 24 November 2017. BEEEARNARBYIERITES

(i) Mr. Wong Jing Shong was appointed as chairman and executive Vi) BEEEEER-ZT—)/N\F+AZT+IAE
director of the Company on 29 October 2018. ZRRERRRERERATES -

(vii)  Ms. Xiao Yiming was resigned as independent non-executive viiy H—BEZEITR—_ZT-—N\F+—A=+=H
director of the Company on 23 November 2018. BERRRBYIFERITESE

(ix) Mr. Lee Kin Fai was resigned as executive director of the Company (ix) FRIBAER T N\F+—A=1+H#
on 30 November 2018. AERRRBITES -

x) Professor Lee T.S. was resigned as independent non-executive x) FREHER=_FE—N\F+=-A=1+/\HB

director of the Company on 28 December 2018.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

No director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(b)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

17. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(@)

Money Lending Business

On 25 September 2018, after the expiration of money lenders
licence granted under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter
1683 of the Laws of Hong Kong) held by Citi Profit Finance Limited
(“Citi Profit”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
the Money Lending Business was ceased and classified as a
discontinued operation.

mE MR R M
HE-2—\F+-A=t+—ALFE
(XBTFIR)

16. EEEARER (&)
b) EBRRZ ZHREHNNEAHER

AN A R A BT S AR R SR F A A AR B
AR GREEEXBEEMARREER
EEHMEANTERIMERAEAER
MERRZ S THREH -

17. BRILEEEK
(@ BEER

RZZE-NFAAZTHA BEIBER
~E ([BE]D) (FEENREZENBA
B ARIBERENFE163EHMEA K
PIRH 2 MIEARIRB R BEEBER
IFRSIEE R IEE = ER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
17. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 17. CRIEEEEE (18)
(a) Money Lending Business (continued) (@ EEXEK(E)
The results of the discontinued operation for the year are ZEENERICEEBEEYRIDT

presented below:

2018 2017
—2-N\% —F—t%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Profit for the year from REFERE DRI EEBD
discontinued operation: Al
Revenue WA 50 813
Other revenue E A 7 152
Selling and administrative expenses HE RITBAX (78) (212)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B1E) R (21) 753
Income tax credit/(expense) FrE#EE, (FX) 46 (5)
Profit for the year from REFERE DKL EETED
discontinued operation (attributable to owners i | (A2 B A AFE(L)
of the Company) 25 748
Profit for the year from discontinued operation AR E KB DR IFE L EEH
includes the following: EABIEAT&IE:
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEE B &
Current AHA 50 150
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEERE ) =
43 150
Cash flows from discontinued operation: REEKRIEEEEBNRESR
Net cash outflows from operating activities RELE TSRS L FE (6,388) (580)
Net cash outflows RemtFeE (6,388) (580)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

(@)

(b)

Money Lending Business (continued)

For the purpose of presenting the discontinued operation of Citi
Profit, the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2017 and the related notes have been re-
presented.

Insurance and MPF Schemes Brokerage Business

On 21 March 2017, the Group disposed of an aggregate
of approximately 32% of the issued share capital of GET
Mdream Wealth Management Limited (“‘GET Mdream”) to two
independent third parties at an aggregate cash consideration of
HK$3,000,000. After completion of the disposal, the Group held
approximately 19% of the issued share capital of GET Mdream.
GET Mdream ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and
became an investment of the Group without control. GET
Mdream was then accounted for as an available-for-sale financial
asset for the year ended 31 December 2017. Accordingly,
the Group discontinued its operation in Insurance and MPF
Schemes Brokerage Business as one of its principal business
activities. Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the
investment in GET Mdream was transferred from available-for-
sale financial assets to financial assets at FVTOCI. Details of the
disposal were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 21
March 2017.

Details of the assets and liabilities being disposed of, and the
calculation of the gain on such disposal are disclosed in note
42(b)(ii).

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

17. BRIEEEE (E)

(@

(b)

BEXEH% (&)

REBBENERLILEER BE_F
—tF+ A=+ -HIEFEFABERAR
R EB EH TR -

R R BE ST BIRALER

RZT—tF=A=+—8 KXEEUR
£ #L{E3,000,0008 T MM B BLE=T7
HERZEINEERARAF (BB
1) B HKB2%E BHITRA - REEFIET
i AEERABHEE ZNA19%E EIT
BA-BMERZTBRARARNKERR

A AREE - BEZHERE -BE_F
—tF+-A=t—BILFE HEBSE
ZEATTHHESREEAR I K&
EERIEEERBREBESFBELE
BREFEXEBEHZ — N _FT—/\F—
HA—BRATEHMHHREERESRE 1
BHEESNRENAATHEEEREEE
ZEBEMEAWNRNARNFEEIENS
BEE - HWEFEFBERARRAMLH -
E—+F=A=-+—BHASE-

BEHENEERBE URFTEHESZHEK
5 2 FHIE P I E42(0) (i) B B& ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-ZT/\Ft-A=+—ALFE
(ABTTHIR)
17. BRIEEEXEK (H)

(b) Insurance and MPF Schemes Brokerage Business b) REREESTELLCER (F)
(continued)

17. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The results of the discontinued operation for the year are EFEENERIEEEEHEEYROT

presented below:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Profit for the year from discontinued operation: ~ AN E 5K B B4R IHE & E T
i ) ¢
Revenue WA 29,940
Cost of sales HEK AR (23,768)
Gross profit EH 6,172
Other revenue E A 41
Selling and administrative expenses HERITHAX (4,935)
Profit before tax FR 75 A1 A 1,278
Gain on disposal of operation (note 42(b)(ii)) HELEEEBHWE
(Bt sE42(0)(i) ) 1,845
Profit for the year from discontinued operation ~ ZNEE K B B R IHE S E/KH
pingil 3,123
Profit for the year from discontinued operation ~ ANFE R HE KR I EEBKH
(attributable to owners of the Company) wmA (AR BHA AFERN) 2,497
Profit for the year from discontinued operation ~ AN E 5K B B4R IHE & ETEH
includes the following: w AN BIEA T &I
Staff costs: BIRA:
Salaries, wages and other benefits I8 HekHMERN 2,041
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET &L 76
2,117
Other items: HMIgH :
Depreciation e 101
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SRR B & 75
Operating lease charges: KEREER:
— hire of office premises — TSR EME 1,094
Cash flows from discontinued operation: REEKIEEBHNRER:
Net cash inflows from operating activities RELEEHRESRAFRE 5,229
Net cash outflows from investing activities REREETHNRE R F8E (125)
Net cash outflows from financing activities REMEFDHHNIR SR FE (2,000)
Net cash inflows REeRANFE 3,104
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$NIl).

19. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share
) From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

18. KRB

EETEEMEE—_ZE—N\E+-_BA=+—81F
FERMEMBRE(ZZE—+F THBT) -

19. 2R (BR) BF
@ SREX(FR) B
0 KERECERELUSELE

FRERERVREBEAFERRTE
BAREERREEITE AR INE

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the R EGTE -
year.
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Loss BB
Loss attributable to owners of the RRRHEB AEERBEGTE
Company and loss for the purpose of BREAREBENEE
calculating basic loss per share (251,411) (612,327)
’000 ‘000
T T &
Number of shares RHHE
Weighted average number of ordinary REFTEREREEN
shares for the purpose of calculating LB TR EL
basic loss per share 444,448 425,879
Basic loss per share (HK cents) TRREAREE (BI) (56.56) (120.30)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAETTEIR)
19. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 19. B8R (B#8) BR (&)
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (continued) @ EBREXR(EE) BF (E)
(i) From continuing operations i)  KEFEEEES
2018 2017
e —B—t&
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FA&T
(Re-presented)
(EHHR)
Loss BB
Loss from continuing operations RABIEB ANELBFESEES 2
attributable to owners of the Company BB RBIETE
and loss for the purpose of calculating BREXNEBERNER
basic loss per share (251,436) (615,572)
’000 ‘000
TR T A%
Number of shares RHEHE
Weighted average number of ordinary RIEsTEREREEN
shares for the purpose of calculating TR AR N AE T MR B
basic loss per share 444,448 425,879
Basic loss per share from continuing FECEEE 7 BREAR
operations (HK cents) EiE OB) (56.57) (121.06)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
19. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 19. Bk (BER) &F (F)
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (continued) @ EBREXR(EE) BF (E)
(i) From discontinued operations (i)  KEERIAEEET
2018 2017
—EB-N\F T+
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET TET
(Re-presented)
(EH7IHR)
Earnings b=
Profit from discontinued operations ARRHEE ABLE&LE
attributable to owners of the Company BT 2w F &
and earnings for the purpose of RETTEGRER
calculating basic earnings per share AR E BT 25 3,245
’000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares BR#DEE
Weighted average number of ordinary RIEFtEEREARRT
shares for the purpose of calculating B 38 AR N T 35 AR 2L
basic earnings per share 444,448 425,879
Basic earnings per share from BRI EER 2 FREAR
discontinued operations (HK cents) AF) (B 0.01 0.76
Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares in Misr: RoZT—+EMTERINEES R
2017 had been adjusted for the rights issue which was BEMRR - E—+E-_A+HAR
completed on 15 February 2017. A RS VB T R o
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b) EREE (FE) BA
No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings per RAREE  ARAA B ET AR BT
share for the year ended 31 December 2018, as the Company BELERR BHYERABREE_—_ZT—N\E
did not have any outstanding dilutive potential ordinary shares +-A=t+—BUHEENESRER(FE)
during the year. e v
No adjustment had been made to the basic (loss)/earnings AR M ARITE MY E e 22 . (3
per share presented for the year ended 31 December 2017 in mHEBRyEE T —+F+_HA=+—HI
respect of a dilution as the share options outstanding had no FEGBEMZNERER(EE) B
dilutive effect. F o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTHIR)
20. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 20. HEM2mEkE
Tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income for the AEEEME2HEKESEEBBNRBEE:
year:
2018 2017
—B-N\§ —T—+F
Before tax Tax Net of tax Before tax Tax Net of tax
amount expenses amount amount expenses amount
3T BRI X BHkLH BREAIEE HERX BHEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THRT THT FTHT FTHT FHT
Financial assets at FVTOCI FREM 2 E RS
(2017: Available-for-sale WA TEETIRE
financial assets): SREE(ZE—tF:
AfLESRHEE):
Fair value changes AT EEES
— Equity instruments -BRAIE (17,428) - (17,428) (44,046) - (44,046)
Exchange differences on translation of 47 & /& 5MiT B A 8] I
financial statements of overseas —FgE AR R BEE
subsidiaries and an associate EENELER 241 - 241 4,887 - 4,887
Reclassification adjustment to REEAHEESHEER
profit or loss on disposal of BN EREZEH
available-for-sale financial assets - - - 2,733 - 2,733
Reclassification adjustment to RAIRHESREERERSE
profit or loss on impairment loss on BN BAEEER
avallable-for-sale financial assets - - - 38,241 - 38,241
(17,187) - (17,187) 1815 - 1815
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

HE_Z-/\F+__A=1+—RHIFE
(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

21. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 21. ¥ BRERRZE
Computer
Leasehold Office  Furniture and hardware and
improvements equipment fixtures software Total
HENE BAE B EKES
£ R REE REH @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT AT FHT
Cost A
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+F—HA—H 3,089 580 508 2,406 6,583
Additions NE 185 9 4 408 606
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 42(a)) W8 —EHT B 2 A (Hi542()) 1,005 83 13 = 1,101
Disposals HE = = = (44) (44)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 42(0)(ii) HE—FEHEAF
(B EE42(0)(i)) (1,183) (19) (13) (343) (1,568)
At 31 December 2017 and RZB—tF+ZA=+—HK
1 January 2018 —2-\5—-A—H 3,096 653 512 2,427 6,688
Additions NE = 19 32 4 55
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HIBAR
(note 42(b)(i) ( Wt zE42(0)()) (1,008) (83) (14) = (1,103)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries HEAANRHBA
(note 43) ( Fiz43) (1,339) (182) (69) = (1,590)
At 31 December 2018 “Z-N\¥+ZA=+-H 751 407 461 2,431 4,050
Accumulated depreciation R HERAE
and impairment
At 1 January 2017 N\_E—+4§—-H—H 1,842 268 398 1,593 4,101
Charge for the year AEEZH 1,118 193 33 364 1,708
Written back on disposals HERER - - - (39) (33)
Written back on disposal of HE—HIBARKED
a subsidiary (note 42(o)(ii) (P =E42(0)i) ) (820) 9 ) (130) (965)
At 31 December 2017 and RIB—+ETZA=+—-HRK
1 January 2018 —E-NF-A—H 2,140 452 425 1,794 4,811
Charge for the year AFEEXH 574 7 23 212 880
Impairment loss REBE - - - 300 300
Written back on disposal of HE—HIBARRKERD
a subsidiary (note 42(b)(i) (B zE4200)()) (714) (43) 8) = (765)
Written back on deconsolidation of ~ EUB&A ARKE A A E R
subsidiaries (note 43) GEZX) (1,339) (94) (33) = (1,466)
At 31 December 2018 —T-\f+=-A=1+—-H 661 386 407 2,306 3,760
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZB-NE+ZA=+-H 90 21 54 125 290
At 31 December 2017 R-_E—+F+-A=+—H 956 201 87 633 1,877

RAFE AEEFGEEEMZAERARREE
HETHAIKRE SR ITRZAREELETNE
P52 {1 % 358 1 i 57 Bk (5 48 49.300,00008 7T © 5
IRERT (4 H) S 15 B M E23 5 55 o

During the year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of CGU
of e-Perfect IT Limited and as a result recognised an impairment loss
of approximately HK$300,000 in respect of computer hardware and
software attributable to that CGU. Details of the impairment assessment
are disclosed in note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 22, BEWE
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
At 1 January ®n—A—H 38,300 62,400
Fair value losses NEEEEIE (800) (3,600)
Disposal HE (37,500) (20,500)
At 31 December e e e - 38,300
On 16 October 2018, the Group entered into an agreement with —E-N\FTATA B AEBEBIE=ZAT
an independent third party to dispose the investment property at a SR EWEET N a%  {8 /38,600,000 7T
consideration of HK$38,600,000. The transaction was completed on 28 ZEBEBEER - N\F+ZA=+N\BZEX-
December 2018.
Investment property were revalued at 30 September 2018, 30 June REYWER_ZT—NFHLA=TRH - ZT—N\F
2018 and 31 December 2017 on the open market value basis NAZ+HRZZ—+tF+=ZA=+—HHINSB
by reference to market evidence of recent transactions for similar BUSXGEMSCL2ZHUMELRR SIS
properties by an external independent professional valuer. BEBANFMEEESE-
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under non- AEBERBET AL EHER S EUCRRKIE
cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows: HERIBRBENOT :
2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Within one year —FR - 996
At 31 December 2017, operating lease receivables represented RZTE—tHF+A=+—H BEHKEHER
rental receivable by the Group for letting its properties. The lease was CIEASEFREEEYEER S - &KFR M
negotiated for an average term of 2 years and rentals were fixed over ETHHRAMT HeNHEHMERE ETE
the lease terms and did not include contingent rentals. FERAREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTHIR)
23. GOODWILL 23. HE

Corporate Corporate

Management ~ Management

Solutions and ~ Solutions and

Insurance LT Contract  LT. Contract

Software MPF Schemes Services Services

Business Brokerage Business Business
(note a) Business (note b) (note ¢) Others Others Total

PEEB@RR  LEEERR

HER HER

BRER  BESHE  SNREER ANREER

(GEL)) REEH (HEb) (GED) Hit Hit EE
Boom Max
International AP Group
Limited Investment
(“Boom Max”) Holdings
and its Limited Nobel
subsidiaries Wafer  (“AP Group Education
(collectively Systems  Investment”’)  Organisation
referred to as e-Perfect IT  (Hong Kong) and its Limited
“Boom Max Limited Limited  subsidiaries (“Nobel
Group”)  GET Mdream (‘e-Perfect IT”)  (‘Wafer HK”) (‘AP Group”)  Education”)
Boom Max
International EREEER
Limited ARAR
([Boom Max ) ([EHER E5 1)
REKEAA FEES BRI R HEHE
(%% Boom BENK (B#) HHBARA BRAT
Max ARAR BRAT (478 (T8 5%
8] K285 ([&€)) ((HBEE]) [EH£E]) #E))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhEx TR FiEn FHEx TAx FiEn TR
Cost BA
At 1 January 2017 R=%—+t%-A-A 757,662 865 3934 20913 4,581 - 787,955
Avrising on acauisition of a subsidiary WE-FRBARNES
(note 42(a)) (Hs42(@)) - - - - = 762 762
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary & —FIMB A AIE H R
(note 42(o)() (HtE420))) - (865) - - - = (865)
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 W=Z—+E+ZA=F+—-Hk
—2-\&-f—-H 757,662 - 3934 20913 4,581 762 787,852
Derecognised on deconsolidation of e AEHER RN
subsidiaries (note 43) SRR (H13E43) = = = = (4581) = (4581)
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidlary ~ tHE— KB 2 7B HEER
(note 42(0)) (M2 = S = = = (762) (762)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZA=t+-8H 757,662 - 3934 20913 - - 782,509
Accumulated impairment losses RitHESE
At1 January 2017 W=Z—+%—-f—-A 287,496 - - - - - 287,496
Impairment loss recognised ERRRESE 182,000 - - - - - 182,000
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 R=ZF—+E+-A=+-HkK
“%-\5-A-AH 469,496 - - - - - 469,496
Impairment loss recognised BRERAESE 163,000 - 3,934 - - - 166,934
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NF+ZA=+-H 632,496 - 3934 - - - 636,430
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NE+=B=+-8 125,166 - - 20913 - - 146,079
At 31 December 2017 RZE—t%+-A=1+-8 288,166 - 3934 20913 4,581 762 318,356
Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated, at acquisition, BREKESHRENEZERARERS S EZEARE
to the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business TEHARERNZEBAHNREEL ST
combination.

EEZERERAQT 2018FE8K 206



207

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment
of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the
CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU,
including goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU.

The recoverable amounts are the higher of the VIU and the FVLCD.

@)

CGU of Boom Max Group

The Group determined the recoverable amounts of Boom Max
Group’s CGUs on the basis of their VIU using discounted cash
flow method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period. The
Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on
long-term average economic growth rate of the geographical
area in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted
gross margin and revenue are based on past practices and
expectations on market development.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group prepared cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rates as stated below. These rates do
not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant
markets.
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BRReEHETIRRAER BBHLRS
ERETZERE(RERE) BERSERETZ
DR {Eka i
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B -

(8)  Boom MaxiE [F#9 5 2 # T

AEBRABBERESRELAREFEAEE
& T Boom Max = B3R & ) B n Ay AT ik )
SR -BRBERELINEBHMEEHR
WATIR R R ERURBEEFNERIKAR
B o ANEBEABRBIAT L RAAE RN R - 5%
BRERATLL RERBRSE L E TN EBEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

@

CGU of Boom Max Group (continued)

During the year, the directors noted that the financial performance
of the Software Business did not pick up as expected and
has further declined due to various factors which included the
slower-than-expected development pace in the Asian market,
the volatility of the global economy, the keen market competition
in the I.T. market and the decline in the demand for personal
computers. In view of the decrease in revenue of the Software
Business of approximately HK$43,115,000 for the six months
ended 30 June 2018 to approximately HK$56,844,000 for the
corresponding period in 2017, the directors considered that this
might be an indicator of potential impairment on the carrying
amount of the goodwill of Boom Max Group, the CGU of the
Software Business. The Group revised the 5-year cash flow
forecast of the Boom Max Group with reference to the actual
financial results of the Boom Max Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2018 and assessed the recoverable amount
of CGU of the Boom Max Group (“June 2018 valuation”). The
recoverable amount of the CGU of the Boom Max Group as
at 30 June 2018 attributable to the Group was approximately
HK$176,515,000 which is lower than the carrying amount
of this CGU attributable to the Group of approximately
HK$339,523,000. The CGU of the Boom Max Group has
been reduced to its recoverable amount of approximately
HK$125,166,000 and an impairment loss of approximately
HK$163,000,000 was recognised on goodwil. The impairment
loss is included in other gains and losses. Details of the
impairment testing of the CGU of the Software Business as at 30
June 2018 are set out in the Company’s interim report dated 13
August 2018.

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(AETTHIR)

23. ®E (&)
BEHENREERETHRERR (&)

@

Boom Max% BFy 5 2 Z BT ()

RAFE  EFFEINEHEBNVIERER
WRMBHAREF TESERRME—F
TH SEEAENTSEHERIEKIENE
B 2HEERS) - AR TS5 TR
LA B2 {8 A B B 80 7B SR B0 7% o BB R 3R B EX A
E¥RHRFEREBEE_E-N\FXA=1H
1B B & = F — + 4 [ 81 4956,844,000
HBITR D EH43,115,0008 T EER AR
BT Boom Max® B (B EE IR E N
BIL)MAENEEAENEDERE A&
B2 %EBoom MaxEBREBE-_T—N\F
NA=ZTREXNEANERMBEEEIET
Boom Max%k B &) A F IR &7 2 88 W T
Boom Max(kBH e E T BTl kE £
BZE—NFRNAGBED NEBEEG
Boom Max(kBHEHE TR T —N
FRA=THAAYE 2 FEL176,515,000
B BERAEEEEZBECELETY
BR T 18 £9339,523,000/% JT © Boom Max%
EReCEHETERERETKEESEL
125,166,000/ 7t * 3 2 Bt 7 2 0 52 R B S
$849163,000,000%8 7t o BB E B E A K
lEEER - RS- \EXA=1+H"
BHEBOHBRSEDETARENRFS
NERARRBRHA-ZT—N\FENA+=
AR EImRS -

BZERBER AT 2018F K

208



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. GOODWILL (continued)

209

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

@

CGU of Boom Max Group (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the management re-assessed the
recoverable amount of CGU of Boom Max Group on the same
major assumptions and/or bases as adopted in June 2018
valuation. The recoverable amount of this CGU attributable to
the Group is valued to approximately HK$191,688,000 (2017:
HK$380,847,000), which is higher than the carrying amount of
this CGU. The directors considered that no further impairment
loss is required.

The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited
(“Ascent Partners”), an independent valuer to determine the
recoverable amount of the CGU of the Software Business as at
31 December 2017, 30 June 2018 and 31 December 2018.

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Boom
Max Group are as follow:

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

23. ®E (&)

BEEENREEHETARERNR ()

@

Boom Max% BF B 2 Z BT ()

R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—8 EEEBZKR
ZE-N\FRNAHERANEREZ®EE L
/S REEEH T EBoom MaxEEH & E H
BRI E &R - AR B EGZIR S ED
BTz Al Uk Bl £ BE49191,688,000/8 T (=
T —+4F:380,847,00087T)  mR%E S
EHETEAE EERAEAFEHE—
SR EEE -

AEEEREB Y GEMIATEZAEGR
RAN(THADNEEEHEBHNREELE
TRZZE—tF+=ZA=+—H ZF—N
EXA=Z+BERE_E—NE+_A=+—
H #) A Y [B] & 58 o

Boom Max&E X R £ EH ETHERER
AEERANEEMRAT

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

31 December 30 June 31 December

2018 2018 2017

—E-N\E —E-N\E —E—tF

+=A=+—H AA=+H +=ZA=1+-H

Gross margin EME 77.90% 77.72% 78.25%
Growth rate ERE 2.90% 3.08% 3.08%
Discount rate BRI X 20.43% 18.37% 20.45%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

®)

CGU of e-Perfect IT

The recoverable amount of e-Perfect IT's CGU has been
determined based on FVLCD (2017: VIU). The Group engaged
Ascent Partners, an independent valuer, to determine the
recoverable amount of e-Perfect IT's CGU as at 31 December
2018 by adopting asset-based approach as cash flows from
operations were expected to be minimal. The decline in the
performance of this CGU was primarily attributable to the
decrease in the number of sizeable project contracts compared
with the year of 2017 and the keen competition in the I.T. market.
In view of the deteriorating financial performance of this CGU, the
Group has considered not to invest further resources to e-Perfect
IT.

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(LABTTHIIR)

23. ®E (&)

BERENREEHETARENR (&)

®)

BIERY B 2 1 T

LTEESELETHATREOSEDRER
FEERLERES (ZZ—t%F : #AEE)
EE -AREEZRBIAEMTHERE
EAREZETEBReELE TN -_F—N\
FH-A=+—AAKREeE  RERE
HEBELNRSREG ) - WWREEHE
THRREBRE T EMNAIIAR K8
ER-Z—+F4 BEMRETISHIH
l-ERNREELETHPBHRRERE
FAEBEEETEHEERAETZER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

®)

CGU of e-Perfect IT (continued)

After consulted with professional parties, the management
considered that the asset-based approach is more appropriate
to estimate the FVLCD of e-perfect IT's CGU as e-Perfect IT
had achieved minimal financial performances for the year ended
31 December 2018, its current operation is not expected to
generate any positive cash flow in the foreseeable future, so VIU
and market approach are not appropriate.

The fair value measurement of the CGU falls within Level 3 of the
fair value measurement hierarchy. During the year, there were no
transfers into or out of Level 3.

Pursuant to the valuation report from Ascent Partners, the
recoverable amount of e-Perfect IT's CGU as at 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$2,490,000 which is lower than its
carrying amount of approximately HK$11,312,000. Therefore,
impairment losses of approximately HK$3,934,000, HK$300,000
and HK$4,588,000 were recognised in respect of goodwill,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets respectively,
based on the best estimate by the Directors with reference to the
valuation report.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the recoverable
amount of this CGU was determined based on a VIU calculation
using discounted cash flow method. The Group prepared cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets for
the next five years with the residual period using the growth rates
of 3.08% and a discount rate of 21.57% per annum. This rate did
not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant
markets. Other key assumptions for the VIU calculation related to
the cash flow projection’s included gross margin of 25.5%, such
estimation is based on past performance and management’s
expectations of market development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

(©

CGU of Wafer HK

The recoverable amount of Wafer HK’'s CGU has been
determined based on FVLCD (2017: VIU). The Group engaged
Ascent Partners, an independent valuer to determine the
recoverable amount of Wafer HK's CGU as at 31 December
2018. In determining the FVLCD of the CGU, management has
adopted market approach (level 3 fair value measurements),
which have adopted price to sales multiple and enterprise
value to sales multiple in the valuation. Several companies with
business scopes and operations similar to those of Wafer HK
were adopted as comparable companies. The comparable
companies were selected mainly with reference to the following
selection criteria:

(i) the comparable companies selected are principally
engaged in Corporate Management Solutions and I.T.
Contract Services Business in Hong Kong; and

(ii) the companies have sufficient listing and operating
histories; and

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(LABTTHIIR)

23. ®E (&)

BEHENREELETARERNR (B)

©
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REEBRSELETHAKOSEDR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23.

213

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

(c) CGU of Wafer HK (continued)

(iii) the financial information of the companies is available to
the public; and

(iv)  the share price of the comparable is available in the stock
exchange.

Key assumptions used in the FVLCD calculation of the CGU for
31 December 2018 included the price to sales multiple of 1.1 and
enterprise value to sales multiple of 0.7, marketability discount of 15.8%
and control premium of 25%.

At 31 December 2018, with reference to the assessment by Ascent
Partners, the directors were of the view that the recoverable amount of
the CGU of Wafer HK exceeded its carrying value and thus there was
no impairment indication.

At 31 December 2017, the recoverable amount of CGU of Wafer HK
was determined by VIU approach using discounted cash flow method
which used cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period approved by the management of the Group. The key
assumptions determined in the computation were discount rates of
16.51%, growth rate of 3.08% and gross margin of 28.95%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
24. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 24 BLEE
Development
costs on
computer and
mobile phone Customer Computer
software relationship software
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (b)) Total
ERRRE
EFBMHN
B BB A BEFERF s
(Fi=E(a)) (M= (b)) (BHEE (b)) mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
Cost R
At 1 January 2017 R-ZZT—tF—A—H 138,777 11,066 2,826 152,669
Additions through internal BRNTHRBERE
development 27,107 - - 27,107
At 31 December 2017 and RZT—+tF+=A=+—H
1 January 2018 E_Z—-—NF—H—H 165,884 11,066 2,826 179,776
Additions through BRNEFRERE
internal development 25,757 - - 25,757
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\E+ZA=+—H 191,641 11,066 2,826 205,533
Accumulated amortisation and R EHERBEEIE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2017 RZZT—tF—H—H 66,815 2,675 1,138 70,628
Amortisation B 20,024 1,107 471 21,602
Impairment loss REEE 7,769 - - 7,769
At 31 December 2017 and RZE—+tF+=-A=+—H
1 January 2018 rE=E—-—NF—HA—H 94,608 3,782 1,609 99,999
Amortisation i 22,011 1,107 471 23,589
Impairment loss BEEE - 4,094 494 4,588
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+=A=+—H 116,619 8,983 2,574 128,176
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2018 R-B-NE+=ZA=+—H 75,022 2,083 252 77,357
At 31 December 2017 RZZB—+&F+_HA=+—H 71,276 7,284 1,217 79,777
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(@)

The capitalised development costs for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 represented the expenditure incurred
for developing computer and mobile phone software.

The average remaining amortisation period of the computer and
mobile phone software is four years (2017: four years).

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
development costs on computer and mobile phone software as
at 31 December 2018, having regard to the market conditions
of the Group’s products. These assets are used in the Group’s
Software Business segment. The management is of the view
that the carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December
2018 could be supported by the future economic benefits. For
the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group carried out the
impairment review and led to the recognition of an impairment
loss of approximately HK$7,769,000 for six products of
computer and mobile phone software that had been recognised
in profit or loss. The management reviewed total cash inflows
generated to the Group from these products for that year and
noted nearly no cash inflow was contributed to the Group by
these products. As these products were no longer expected to
generate any future economic benefits for the Group, the carrying
amount of these intangible assets were fully impaired during the
year ended 31 December 2017.

Computer software (the “Software”) and the customer
relationship (the “Customer Relationship”) were acquired
through business combination. The Software are used for the
development of tailor-made programs to the Group’s customers
and the Customer Relationship represents certain contractual
relationship with its existing customers at the date of acquisition
of e-Perfect IT in 2014. These assets are used in the Group’s
Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business segment.

The recoverable amounts of the Software and the Customer
Relationship are allocated to CGU of Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of e-Perfect IT
(note 23).

As the economic benefits arising from these intangible assets are
totally integrated with the Corporate Management Solutions and
I.T. Contract Services Business, these carrying amounts have
been taken into consideration for the impairment assessment of
goodwill allocated to this segment (note 23).

Details of the impairment recognised are disclosed in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(AETTHIR)

25. RIBLTWIRE

Particulars of the material subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are as

RZFBE—NF+-_A=+—H8 RAEBEEXEWE

follows: NEIWFBEET -
Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
Place of incorporation/ fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary registration and operation  capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
EMERL/ BRIRBERE/ FraRER/ RNE/
WEARERE BEREELE aMERFE AERNED TEXH
Direct Indirect
HE B
Lucky Famous Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI") 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Lucky Famous”)
Lucky Famous Limited RBREIHS 1REBRIET REER
(TLucky Famous | ) (RBEx#ES])
Jade Fore Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Jade Fore Group Limited RBREIHS 1REBRIZET REER
Citi Profit Holdings Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Citi Profit Holdings Limited RBREIHS 1REERIZET REER
Citi Profit Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
Bz Bk REBRIET e
Perfect Growth Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Securities investment
(“Perfect Growth”)

ERERAR ([ER]) BE REBRIET FrRE

Supreme Right Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
Development Limited

EMERARAF BE REBRIET Tmex

Apperience Corporation Cayman Islands 20,666,667 ordinary shares of = 50.5%  Inactive
(“Apperience’) US$20,667

Apperience Corporation REES 20,666,667/ & 1 %20,667% 1L Emex
([ Apperience |)

Imidea Limited Hong Kong 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
software and provision of
toolbar advertisement

Imidea Limited Bk 10REBR10E T FEREERHAR
RETARES

[Obit Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 65.177%  Inactive

I0bit Limited ABRARE REBRIET TEex
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)
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25. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 25. KRB ARMKRE (&)
Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
Place of incorporation/ fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary registration and operation  capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
EMERE/ BRTRBERE/ FreRER/ RE/
WEAREE BRREEDEY aMERFEE AEBNED TEXH
Direct Indirect
H# B

Both Talent International Limited ~ Hong Kong 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 - 65.177%  Development and sales of
software and provision of
toolbar advertisement

ERBERARAT BE 10RERBRI0ET RERHEERHIAR
RUTERES

Mission Win International Limited ~ BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding

Mission Win International Limited ~ EBEZ#S 1REBBIET REER

e-Perfect IT Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  Provision of corporate
management solutions and
|.T. contract services

L &R 10,0008 & iR 10,0007%8 7 REPREBBRANER
BB A NRE

e-Perfect Information Technology ~ People’s Republic of China Registered capital and paid up of - 100%  Inactive

(Shenzhen) Company Limited *  (The “PRC’) RMB500,000

EEGERE (RINERAF HEARANE ([HE]) SHEHRZERARE500,0007T TmEE

Wafer HK Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of corporate
management solutions and
|.T. contract services

BERE Bk 10,0008 & iR 10,0008 7T REPREBBANRR
BB A ORE

Perfect Win Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive

KOHBERAR 5% 1IREBBIBT EmE%

Wise Cheer Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive

EBFERAR 55 IREBBIBT Eme%

GET Financial Group (International)  BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding

Limited
B5ensE (BR)ERAT HBERIHEE 1REBBIET REER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
25. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 25. KRB ARIMERE (&)
Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
Place of incorporation/ fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary registration and operation  capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
ERERL/ BRTRBERE/ FreRER/ RNE/
WEAREE BRREELEY aMERFE AEBNED TEEH
Direct Indirect
H# &
GET Development Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 = 100% Inactive
BHERARAT Bk 1008 & 7% 10078 7T TEex
Boom Max BvI 100,000 ordinary shares of = 65.177%  Investment holding
US$100,000
Boom Max RBRAES 100,000 ¥ i# 100,000 7T REER
Profit Winner International BV 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Inactive
Corporation
Profit Winner International RBREIHS REBRIZET EmE%
Corporation
Service Winner Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
Service Winner Limited 55 1REBRIBT EmE%
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited  BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$100 - 100%  Inactive
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited %@ X # & 100 & BAR100E T EmE%
Million Worldwide Investment BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$100 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Milion Worldwide Investment EBRAHE 100k & BMR100E T REER
Limited
Talent Vision Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
Talent Vision Limited 55 1REBRIBT Eme%
* This subsidiary is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the . ZHBARARPEKIMINEEERE-
PRC.
# The English name of this Company is for reference only and has not been # ZAR RN EBERDEREREHER -
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

eliminations.

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

25. RMBARNKRE (&)

TRETHEAHASEM S BEANIFERER
(TFFizfitEm ) B AR ER - B ERRE

ERREYHEA SR

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —FE—tF
Principal place of business/country of TELENE Hong Kong/ Hong Kong/
incorporation AL B R BVI BVI
&8 BB/
REREZHEES RBREZHS
% of ownership interests/voting rights IR E R TR B 4 34.82% 34.82%
held by NCI R/ RAREEDL
Financial information is HIEERBERENT
disclosed as follows:
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Non-current assets EmBEE 75,022 71,276
Current assets MBEE 44,222 49,536
Current liabilities mEaE (3,541) (3,506)
Non-current liabilities SEmEBE (11,450) (10,898)
Net assets BEFE 104,253 106,408
Accumulated NCI 2t IEHE R RE RS 36,301 37,051
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25.

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(AETTHIR)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 25. RMIBRARIMIRE (F)
Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &
Year ended Year ended
31.12.2018 Sils2:2 017
= HZE
=E-N\F —E—+tF
SR=VEISSREE. = A =F=H
WHFE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Revenue WA 85,823 109,209
Profit gl 25,004 36,375
Total comprehensive income 2HENE BT 25,004 36,375
Profit allocated to NCI BB T IR MR 1 T 8,707 12,666
Dividends paid to NCI BRI AR A ) R B (9,458) (10,810)
Net cash generated from operating activities KEESMBRSFE 43,004 68,052
Net cash used in investing activities WEEEMARESFE (24,739) (27,121)
Net cash used in financing activities ME TR S F5 (27,160) (38,800)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReERBSFEY (D) EINFE (8,895) 2,131

and cash equivalents
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 26. R—EHEQARANRE
2018 2017
e —E—t5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Unlisted investments: FLETRE:
Share of net assets EEEEFE 6,719 27,426
Goodwill Bl - 756
6,719 28,182
Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2018 are as follows: AEBR-_Z-N\FE+_A=+—HHEZE QA
HBEWT:

Percentage of
ownership interest/

Place of Issued and voting power/
Name incorporation paid up capital profit sharing Principal activities
FiEEEs/
RpE/
8 SER AR L it B BROTRAZRE AEBEFESE TEEH
2018 2017
“E-N\E _Z—+tF
Jun Yang Energy Holdings Limited Cayman Islands 35,566 ordinary 35% 35% Investment holding
(“Jun Yang Energy’) shares of US$1
BB RERERAR ([EHER]) HE/S 35,566/ & iE R BEER
e
Wink Sky Company Limited BvVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 35% 35% Investment holding
BERBERAF KBRS REBRIZT BAEER
Jun Yang Solar Power Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 35% 35% Investment holding
EERERERARRA B REBRIBT REZR
IREGRERRAF" The PRC Registered capital of 35% 35% Investment holding
US$55,000,000
(of which US$40,000,000
has been paid up)
ErEGREBERAR HE & 7855,000,000% 7T REER
(£140,000,000% 7T
B#R)
AEEGENARLR" The PRC Registered capital and paid up 35% 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
of US$3,400,000 thin-film solar photovoltaic
power station
AEEBENERAR" HE A RS RER EE I REEEAIGR R RS
3,400,000% ¢
HFEEGENARAR The PRC Registered capital and paid up 35% 35% Operation of solar photovoltaic
of RMB20,000,000 power station
HEERENBER AR HE AMEBREARARE ma XL REL
20,000,0007T
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 26.

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

HE-T

e MR M A

—N\E+ZRA=+—RHIFE

(AETTHIR)

R—EBEATNRE (&)

REER-_Z-—N\F+ZA=T—HHKEQA

(continued) BT (F)
Percentage of
ownership interest/
Place of Issued and voting power/
Name incorporation paid up capital profit sharing Principal activities
FiaEEs/
RriE/
a8 SER AR L it B ERTRAZRE AEBEFELE  TEEH
2018 2017
“E-N\E _T—+tF
BABRERERAR! The PRC Registered capital and paid up 35% 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
of RMB38,167,939 thin-film solar photovoltaic
power station
ERORERERAR HE MRS REARARE eI RIEEEAIGR LIRS
38,167,9397T
Rongcheng Jijun Power Co., Ltd.% The PRC Registered capital of 35% 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
US$6,000,000 thin-film solar photovoltaic
(of which US$4,000,000 power station
has been paid up)
KRERENBRAAN HE FEff & 46,000,000 7T (KA BEREEERGR A REY
4,000,000 TEHR)
Jining Junyang Electric Power Co.,Ltd.® The PRC Registered capital of 35% 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
US$17,520,000 thin-film solar photovoltaic
(of which US$14,520,000 power station
has been paid up)
BEERENBRAAN HE & A17,520,000% T EEERIEERAG R KB
(E 14,520,000 L2402 )
Longkou Jijun Power Co., Ltd.® The PRC Registered capital of 35% 35% Operation of amorphous silicon
US$6,000,000 thin-film solar photovoltaic
(of which US$2,200,000 power station
has been paid up)
EOSESHERAA" HE & 786,000,000 7T BEFERIETREAG X RE
(HH2,200,000% LE AR )
IREGEENEERAR The PRC Registered capital of 35% - Business not commenced
RMB10,000,000
(of which RMB2,900,000
has been paid up)
TREBEEREERRA" HE & A& A R #10,000,0007T B mARR
(E A AR H#2,900,000
BAR)
. The associates are wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the * ZEBMERNTARPREAK IO EBEERE-
PRC.
# The associate is a sino-foreign equity joint venture in the PRC. g ZHENR BREPIEGE QT
e The English name of this Company is for reference and has not been e FZARRNEHEHRDE R ARLEER
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 26.

The following table shows information on the associate that is material
to the Group. This associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method. The summarised financial
information presented is based on the HKFRS financial statements of

the associate.

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE

(AETTHIR)

=N

R—EBEATNRE (&)

TRINTEHAEEEBEZ N L R BER B
A AEREREE B RRAAR AT
BIEMBERTDERNE SR
AIEA T ¥R -

Az E BB mELE

Jun Yang Energy and its subsidiaries

EBERREMEAR
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —FE—tF
Principal place of business/country EBNETEE MK TER People’s People’s
of incorporation Republic of Republic of
China/Cayman China/Cayman
Islands Islands
REARKEME PEARLME
HEHS FEHS
% of ownership interests/voting rights held NEBAEHAERER 35%/35% 35%/35%
by the Group RAEARS L
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At 31 December: R+=—BA=+—8:
Non-current assets EmBEE 431,795 530,472
Current assets mENEE 112,591 158,795
Current liabilities mEIBE (484,373) (570,090)
Non-current liabilities SEREBE (40,815) (40,815)
Net assets BEFE 19,198 78,362
Group’s share of net assets REBFLhEESFE 6,719 27,426
Goodwil mE - 756
Group’s share of carrying amount of interests AEEMLERREE 6,719 28,182
Year ended 31 December: BE+-—A=+—HILEE:
Revenue ILPN 75,990 84,719
Loss for the year KEEEIE (59,853) (44,524)
Other comprehensive income EfemEmlas 689 27,004
Total comprehensive income 2HEBERE (59,164) (17,520)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the bank and cash balances of the Group’s
associates in the PRC denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
approximately HK$2,334,000 (2017: HK$15,754,000). Conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

27. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

26. R—EBEQNTHRE (F)

RZE—NE+—A=+—B AEBEFEHH
BENTIUARE (ARE D FHEZRITRES
KRR /2,334,000 7T ( = F—+4F 1 15,754,000
BIT) c AR EF AR HIRKINER - BESFH
B SN E B IR ) S 45 0 - 5B RASEE B IR ARE o

27. R—HEEEEENRE

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Unlisted investment in Hong Kong: REBIELTRE:
Share of net assets R EESE - 3,418

Details of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2018 are as

RZB-NF+ZA=+—"BEXEERLELEZ

follows: FEIEWT
Percentage of
ownership interest/
Place of Issued and voting power/
Name incorporation paid up capital profit sharing Principal activities
FiEEEs/
RorE/
A8 TEA A S 3t B ERTRAZRE EEFESE  TEEH
2018 2017
“E-N\f ZZT—+tF
Creative Lead Limited (“Creative Lead”) Hong Kong 14,710,000 ordinary shares of - 50% Not yet commenced business
HK$14,710,000
BERAERAR ([BKX]) EE 14,710,0008% & i@ & EENGES

14,710,000 7T

On 4 June 2018, the Group disposed of its entire interest in Creative
Lead to an independent third party at a consideration of HK$2,100,000.

(2017: 12,710,000 ordinary
shares of HK$12,710,000)
(ZZ—+F: 12,710,000
E3EA312,710,0008 7T )

R-ZE-N\FRAOR AEEA-EZBLFE=
FTHEENBRO 2 AR 852,100,000/

JC e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
27. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 27. A—EEELENKRE (&)
The following table shows the Group’s share of the amount of TRINFAEEEEERAEREARNTEEZS
immaterial joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method. EENTHE-
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
At 31 December: R+=—A=+-—8:
Carrying amount of interests R REE - 3,418
Year ended 31 December: BE+-HA=+—HLHFE:
Loss for the year REE EE (1,174) (2,932)
Other comprehensive income HEp 2wk - -
Total comprehensive income 2EREBRE (1,174) (2,932)

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (2017: AVAILABLE- 28. ZEBHMtZHEWmEUAFEEIRENER

FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS) EE(ZE—tHF THHEUEERMEE)
2018 2017
—E-NF —F—+t%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

Listed investments, at fair value BEAFEEAENLTRE
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB L MHREFES 5,439 36,851
Unlisted investment fund FLEMRERES - 156
Unlisted equity securities ELEMRAEH - 142
5,439 37,149

Analysed as: A AATIEE :

Non-current assets SEMENE E 5,439 37,149
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28.

29.

e MR M A

HE-2—\F+-A=t+—ALFE
(ABTEFITR)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (2017: AVAILABLE-  28. ZEBHt2EKEA AT EEIIRNESHE
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS) (continued) BEE(ZE—tHF AHHESREE)
(&)
The fair values of listed equity securities traded in active market are EERMBSEEN ETRAZESFNAFEEBIIR
based on current closing prices in the Stock Exchange. The fair BRI MEEE EERME LEEE
values of listed equity securities which were suspended of trading in EMNEIMRABLHNAFLEE A—RBULGE
an active market are estimated by using the index return method by B e B B A ERMERMGEE -JE LT
an independent valuer. The fair values of the unlisted investment fund BESHATEEEL2EREESEEARESE
have been determined by reference to the quotation provided by the AERERSREMET -ESHE REASEE
administrator of the investment fund on the reporting date. The directors AFMRENGEFHATEEBSE RNREHARA
believe that the estimated fair values provided by the administrator of =R EWEE-.
the investment fund are reasonable, and that is the most appropriate
value at the end of the reporting period.
For the year ended 31 December 2018, fair value loss of approximately HE-_ZT-\F+-A=+—HLFE REM
HK$17,428,000 have been recognised in other comprehensive income ZHE T ER N TEEEEL17,428,000%8 7T -
and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling). WRIEEEHREEANRT (T E8E) -
For the year ended 31 December 2017, fair value loss of approximately HE-_Z—+tF+-A=+—RALLFE REME
HK$44,046,000 were recognised in other comprehensive income and T Wz P ERR A B (B 518 4944,046,0007% 7T+ I
reflected in the investment revaluation reserve. Included in fair value RIEEEAEREARE - REM 2 EmUEET AR
loss on available-for-sale financial assets in the other comprehensive HESHMEENATFEESBEE LMERAKRE
income were fair value loss arisen from investments in listed equity #934,611,0007% 7t ~ IE £ 1 AR 48 75 % 491,639,000
investments of approximately HK$34,611,000 and unlisted equity BRI EEMEREES 1,991,000 TATEE R
securities of approximately HK$1,639,000 and unlisted investment fund T EEEE BETAEFRE MMNEEEGH
of approximately HK$1,991,000 which were determined to be impaired P 2R R BB S $£4938,241,0008 T &
and the cumulative losses totalling approximately HK$38,241,000 FoEEER - BFHREEE 436,250,000/ T
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve was reclassified ZE - \F-A—BERE AN REEREGR
to profit or loss. The cumulative impairment losses of approximately BEFHDEEREENREE-
HK$36,250,000 were reclassified to investment revaluation reserve
upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.
Financial assets at FVTOCI (2017: Available-for-sale financial assets) are BREMEMKSEUAATFEEVENEBMEE (=
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. T—tF A EeREE)NBTIE.
INVENTORIES 20. FE
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Finished goods BUAK &R 1,588 535
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE—

30. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—N\F+ZRA=+—RIFE
(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

30. E5KEAmBYRKIE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHAT FET
Trade receivables (notes 30(d) and 30(e)) B 5 FE W AR 3R (P 5E30(d) K30(e) ) 13,218 24,133
Less: loss allowance (note 30(b)) B R (ME30(b)) (461) (20)
12,757 24,113
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR RS I H Ath FE WK R
(note 30(f) (B 5E30()) 19,639 27,286
Amounts due from brokers JEU S 42 T8 4,207 140
Amounts due from non-controlling interests of MR — R M B A B FEFE AR AE =5
a subsidiary (note 30(g)) (FF5E30(9)) 122 77
Loan receivable from an associate (note 30(h)) FEU — B A B E K (B EES0(h) ) - 27,230
36,725 78,846
(a) Ageing analysis of trade receivables @ EBZEWRMIRRS T
According to the credit rating of different customers and service BETRZEF RARBHER(EETR K

providers, the Group allows credit periods ranged from 0 to 90
days (2017: O to 90 days) to its trade customers and service
providers. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out

EBMETHESERFRREHERNEE
B F0EOR (= Z —+ 4% :05890H) °
BRAAEREEECRA#E — S BN

in note 6(c). #6(c) °
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding REBHNEERNERIRFERFESE
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the B EFNSTHEZaNG
directors.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for B o RIGERR (IR REBERREE) RED
impairment loss) based on due date is as follows: HIEMBRERONT :
2018 2017
=ZE-—N\F —t%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Not due A8 ER 8,736 19,715
Less than 1 month past due w1 H D {E A 1,193 1,561
1 to 3 months past due BEE3@EA 2,038 1,796
More than 3 months but less than 12 months 8 HA 838318 A 8 D 121E A
past due 754 939
Over 12 months past due wmEEBE12ME A 36 102
4,021 4,398
12,757 24,113
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

()

(d)

e MR M A

HE-2—\F+-A=t+—ALFE

(LABTTHIIR)

30. E5KEMBYKRKE (&)

Impairment of trade receivables b) EZEWERFIRE
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded EHRESREWERNBRERBENSBER
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that BERRE  RIFASEEHKREFRIERN A
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment BEETNK  EZBEAT  REBESEEN
loss is written off against trade receivables directly (see note 4(y)). B 5 IR P e (R M EE4y)) °
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews trade RERERR  AEERFE S EWERE
receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual and AER R ERRERE -
collective basis.
Currency denomination of trade receivables () EFEWIRFE¥EN
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are AEBESHRWERNETDENL T &%
denominated in the following currencies: 1A -
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
HK$ AT 2,749 12,296
Us$ EIT 9,031 10,717
Japanese yen =] 977 1,100
12,757 24,113
Loan receivable from a customer d EK—BEFEX

As of 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s trade
receivables was loan to a customer of approximately
HK$6,177,000 for the Money Lending Business. The amount had
been settled during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The loan receivable as at 31 December 2017 was secured by
personal guarantees granted by a director of a former subsidiary
of the Company.

R-ZE—+F+-A=+—80 AEENEZ
SRVERBEEREEESN—2EFE
HAI6,177,0008 Lo Z e EERBEZT
—N\F+ZA=+—HLEFELE-

RZB—+F+ZA=+—H EBRERD

BARBRMBARZ —REERHMNE
AERIEEIR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAETTEIR)

30. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

229

(e) Amounts due from contract customers (e)

As of 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s trade
receivables were amounts due from contract customers of
approximately HK$992,000 for Corporate Management Solutions
and |.T. Contract Services Business.

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE

30. E5KEAMBYRKE (&)

W& HEFFE

RZE—t+F+-A=+—B F5£ENE
SRBEREERECEERBBRAIRRE
ARHRA QRIS ETE R E TP FIRY
992,000/ 7T ©

2018 2017
—2-N\% —E—t5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Contract costs incurred plus recognised EELEEHOKRAMES EHR
profits less recognised losses to date i R B R E 18 - 2,374

Less: Progress billings B HEE IR - (1,382)

- 992
Amounts due from contract customers WA HRFRIE - 992

There are no advances received in respect of service contracts at
31 December 2017.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, amounts previously included
as “Amounts due from contract customers” were reclassified to
“Contract assets”. Details refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Other receivable

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 13 June
2016 in relation to the acquisition of AP Group, in the event that
the audited consolidated profit after tax of AP Group for the
period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017 is less than
HK$16,000,000, the vendor shall, and Universe International
Holdings Limited (now known as Universe Entertainment and
Culture Group Company Limited) (“Universe”) (stock code: 1046),
the guarantors, shall procure the vendor to, pay to the Group
the adjustment amount according with the formula set out in the
sale and purchase agreement (“‘Profit Guarantee”). The vendor is
Fragrant River which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Universe.
Further details of the formula were set out in note 46 of these
consolidated financial statements.

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, included
in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables
was receivable from Fragrant River of HK$20,400,000 arising
from the Profit Guarantee in relation to the adjustments to the
consideration for the acquisition of AP Group during the year
ended 31 December 2016.

Referring to note 46(a), the Group is taking litigation process
against vendor of AP Group.

The Group applies general approach to provide for expected
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. Please refer to note 6(c) for
the calculation of the loss allowance.

Amounts due from non-controlling interests of a
subsidiary

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed
repayment terms.

BHE—

e MR M A

—N\E+ZRA=+—RHIFE
(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

30. E5KEMBYKRKE (&)

(f)

(¢)]

Htb B FRIR

RERKESEHEETZIAHA=ZZ—X
FRAT=BZEEHZ WEHEEE =
Z-RNF-—A—HEE_ZE—+F+=H
=+— BBz EEZRBREE &
4>116,000,0007% 7t - BIE 5 E RIERASE
FRBRIERBR AT GRERFRELE
EABRAR) (IEF]) (RMHAR5E:1046)
EREEHREEHBEMB AN MAEEH
SNAEeE([RARE]) - BFEIAR
BEFZE2ANBAR -BHEANME T
18 - BRI S B KT 546 ©

HE-_ZT-N\F+ZA=t-—HBEK=Z—t
¢+fﬁ:+fa REBEWEMKE &
SREMERREREREHE-Z—X
¢+:Hz+75¢¢ﬁéﬁiw§ﬂ%%l
WREAZRBOSNREMEENST
JE U X TE20,400,0005% It °

AP EE4B()PT T - AR B IEE S E P R EH
BT IRAEEEFR

REBRA-RITEREET BB REE
AIFORRENTRREEE R - FREER
BRFHE  FB2RMEe() °

FE W — B 88 A R B9 FF H2 IR R ZR SR TE

BHER
fR o

RIAREERT 28 AEETEERH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31.

BHE—

—N\F+A=t—HLFE

(Jf/{/ﬁﬁﬁ‘J/T\)

30. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 30. EZRHEMERIE (HF)
(h) Loan receivable from an associate (h ER—EEEQIRER
The loan due from Jun Yang Energy is unsecured, interest free ﬁ’éﬂ&%ﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁgﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ B HERE
and is repayable upon demand subject to the consent of all kER WEEGREREERRREERTS
shareholders of Jun Yang Energy. EE -
The Group applies general approach to provide for expected AEERA—RAERBEEBMBRESE
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. Please refer to note 6(c) for BIZEOSE R FMTEHEE S - B s B %
the calculation of the loss allowance. HHETE - B2 6 °
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 3. EBRRBUAFEEIERNERMEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Equity securities held for trading, at fair value BEAFEEFENFIEEERAES
Listed in Hong Kong REEL™ 4,224 9,656
Unlisted investment fund FLEMRERES - =
4,224 9,656
Analysed as: A AATIEE :
Current assets MENVEE 4,224 9,656

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily
measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments represent listed equity securities investments that
offer the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and
fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair
values of listed equity securities traded in an active market are based
on market prices at the end of reporting period. The fair values of listed
equity securities which are suspended of trading in an active market are
estimated by using the index return method by an independent valuer.
The fair value of the unlisted investment fund has been determined
by reference to the quotation provided by an administrator of the
investment fund on the reporting date. The quotation reflected that the
fair value of the unlisted investment fund as at 31 December 2018 is
Zero.

Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
There is no concentration of credit risk in respect of the financial assets

at FVTPL because these financial assets are kept in well-established
securities broker firms in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32.

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(2017: AMOUNTS DUE FROM CONTRACT
CUSTOMERS AND DEFERRED INCOME)

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

32, AHNEE SHNEB(ZZ—tF . EK
EBHNEERERIEZEWRA)

2017
—T—t+F
HK$'000
FHAT
Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less BELASHOKANES BHEREFR D EREE
recognised losses to date 2,374

Less: Progress bilings R HETE IR (1,382)
Amounts due from contract customers B EHEPFIE 992
Deferred income included in trade and other payables FAE S R E A EBGRIERETERA (2,672)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, amounts previously included as “Due
from contract customers” and “Deferred income” were reclassified to

MNERMB B SIS ERF165RL - KATTIE [
WEHNEP ] RTEEWA | NEBONEHOE

contract assets and contract liabilities respectively. RENEERENEE-
31 December 1 January 31 December
2018 2018 2017
—E-N\F —E-N\E —E—+F
Contract assets EHEE +=A=+-H —B—H +ZRA=t+-—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHL
Arising from performance under CMS services, fB1T1%E IR RIRE
net of loss allowances FTEE MR EERE 1,401 992 =
Receivables from contracts with customers &8I ik &£ FE 1555 8B AR
within the scope of HKFRS 15, which are JEWE P& AR EET A
included in “Trade and other receivables” [8 5 Rk Eft e FRE ] 1,349 844

Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due from customers
under contracts for the CMS services that arise when the Group
receives payments from customers in line with a series of performance
related milestones or payment for the services is not due from the
customer until the services are completed and therefore a contact asset
is recognised over the period in which the services are performed to
represent the entity’s right to consideration for the services transferred
to date.

HANEERANSRAARBEREEMRATR
RBEHNREREPHNER IR AKERE -
51| B2 40 4R B 1) B2 2 1 R UG B B P AN AR SR A AR 5
TERETERZERBAREEEL AUEHE
EREITREMEANER RREEHRESHE
i B IR A5 AR B (B B R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32.

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(2017: AMOUNTS DUE FROM CONTRACT
CUSTOMERS AND DEFERRED INCOME)
(continued)

The significant increase in contract assets as at 31 December 2018 was
mainly due to the increase in work completed but not billed as at 31
December 2018.

The amount of revenue recognised during the year from performance
obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous period is HK$Nil,
mainly due to the changes in estimate of the stage of completion of
certain CMS services contracts.

The amount of contract assets that is expected to be recovered after
more than one year is HK$Nil (2017: HK$Nil).

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

32.

BHEE SHNEBE(ZZT—tF BK
BHREFREARELZERA) (&)

BHEER-ZE—N\E+—A=+—BKIEEM
FEARN-ZE-N\FE+-_A=+—HERIEX
MERZENTRREMAR-

BB RIS AR (R EDIER) BOE BT
FRERNEASHEATEL EHRHET
CEERIBRTRRBA O TR R E
S

RN BB FRUENANAESTATAT
(ZF—F FHT) -

31 December 1 January 31 December
2018 2018 2017
—E-N\F —E-N\F —E—+tF
Contract liabilities AREE +=A=+—H —A—B +=H=+-—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET

Bilings in advance of performance obligation /& 41 & {E¥8 1 5k
— CMS services - EEERRATRRE 12) = =
— |.T. contract services - BB A DR (5,892) 2,672) =
(5,904) (2,672) =

Contract liabilities relating to contract for CMS services and |.T. contract
services are balances due to customers under contracts for CMS
services and |.T. contract services. These arise if a particular milestone
payment exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-
cost method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(2017: AMOUNTS DUE FROM CONTRACT
CUSTOMERS AND DEFERRED INCOME)
(continued)

The increase in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 was mainly
due to more advance payment from customers in relation to renewal of

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

32, AHNEE SHNEB(ZZ—tF . EK
EBHNEFERERIELERA) (&)

BHEBER-FT-NF+-A=+—HEMDE
ZAXARFPHBERTEERESHNNEZAMNRK

fixed price contracts. FrEte
Movements in contract liabilities: BREEEY:
2018
—ZE-N\F
HK$’000
FET
Balance at 1 January R—A—B#&#% 2,672
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising FARBREBVAGRNEENKA
revenue during the year was included in the contract BHENAEMD
liabilities at the beginning of the period (2,485)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in EZEEBRRTRRSE R
advance of CMS services and |.T. contract services BB E O RB AN KGRSO R ERM 5,717
Balance at 31 December W+ A=+—B#&% 5,904

The amount of bilings in advance of performance received that is
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year is
approximately HK$240,000 (2017: HK$187,000).

WEWELOBN RS (FHERBB— FERER
BN #95240,000% 7T (= F — £ £ 187,000
BIT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

33 CHEFRTERURRERREEEY

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —T—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Cash and bank balances Be RIRITHEH 147,699 101,548
Pledged bank deposits B IFRITER 1,637 2,645
149,336 104,193

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s pledged bank deposits represented
deposits of approximately HK$1,637,000 (2017: HK$2,645,000)
which were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities to the extent
of HK$1,500,000 (2017: HK$2,500,000) granted to the Group. The
deposits included approximately HK$624,000 (2017: HK$623,000) and
HK$1,013,000 (2017: HK$2,022,000) which are denominated in US$
and HK$ respectively. The deposits are interest bearing at fixed rates
ranging from 0.55% to 1.00% (2017: 0.2% to 0.3%) per annum.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had available undrawn secured and
unsecured banking facilities of approximately HK$1,370,000 (2017:
HK$2,300,000) and HK$496,000 (2017: HK$608,000) respectively.

The pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

FRIBITHRSLRARITE A FRN R HER
B 5 B M) R BRI S o

R-ZE—N\F+-A=+—8 AEENE KR
117 SRR T R 1TH 17 58 491,637,0007%8 7T ( =
T—+HF:2,645,00087T) tERAEEER =E
1,500,0007% 7t ( =& — £ £ : 2,500,000/ 7t ) R
TRVEER - FRE AP H624,0008 L (ZF—+
£ : 623,000/ 7T ) &% 1,013,000 T (Z T —+
F 12,022,000 78 ) A BILAZE T KRB TTHIME « T3
1ZEEFEFENT055EE1.00E (ZE— &
02EE0.3E)st B

RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—H0 NEEHAHAEE
REVE A R EERRITEE 5 514 41,370,000
77T (ZZ — £ £ : 2,300,0007% 7T ) £2496,000/8
7L (ZF—+4 : 608,000/ 7T ) °

AEBMDEARTERALIRE MRS EEY
ARSI S 5IE :

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Us$ e 31,696 39,949
RMB AR 522 572
HK$ BT 117,079 63,672
EUR BT 39 =
149,336 104,193

As at 31 December 2018, bank balances and pledged bank deposits
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$344,000 (2017: HK$543,000) were kept in banks in the PRC.
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(AETTHIR)

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

34. ESKEMENRIE

2018 2017
= Sy Tt
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FA&ET
Trade payables B S ENRR 2,242 3,366
Deferred income RIEWA - 2,672
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of FEAT BB A R 3R IR i 25 O SR TE
subsidiaries (note 34(c)) (FI#E34(c)) - 971
Accrued expenses and other payables FEAT & A R E A 5KIE 7,357 10,712
9,599 17,721
(a) Ageing analysis of trade payables @ EBEIZEMERIVIEKRERIN
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of B S REMEFIBBREIRE R, RSB N
receipt of goods/services, is as follows: BT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAET
Less than 3 months DHAGME A 2,141 3,316
More than 3 months but less than 12 months HBiB3ME A B R12@E A 73 42
More than 12 months iBiE121E A 28 8
2,242 3,366
(b) Currency denomination of trade payables b) EZENERRNEWEN

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are

AEBEFEMNERNEEERATER

denominated in the following currencies: FI1E -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHT
uss £ 1,952 2,499
HK$ BT 290 867
2,242 3,366
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236



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

34.

35.

237

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(c) Amounts due to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2017, the amounts due were unsecured,
interest free and with no fixed repayment terms.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 31 December 2015 upon completion of the acquisition of additional
14.677% interest in Boom Max, the Company issued zero coupon rate
convertible notes in an aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$75,208,000 to vendors as partial consideration for the acquisition at
an initial conversion price of HK$0.3 per conversion share (as adjusted
to HK$1.5 per conversion share after the 2016 Capital Reorganisation
(as defined below) becoming effective on 24 May 2016 and subject
to further adjustment(s)). The maturity date of the convertible notes is
the date falling two years after the issue date of 31 December 2015.
Noteholders shall have the right to convert the notes into ordinary
shares at any time during the conversion period. If any amount due
under the convertible notes is not paid when due, at the Company’s
sole discretion, such amount shall be redeemed by the Company by
issue and delivery by the Company of a promissory note in favour of the
noteholder(s) in the principal amount equal to 100% of such amount
together with interest accrued on the overdue sum at the rate which
is the lower of (i) HIBOR plus 1.5% per annum and (i) 4% per annum,
and will be due to mature on the first anniversary date of the issue of
the promissory note. At any time prior to the maturity date, at the sole
discretion of the Company, the Company may cancel and redeem
such amount outstanding under the convertible note at 100% of such
outstanding amount. The terms and conditions of the convertible notes
are summarised in the Company’s announcements dated 13 August
2015 and 16 September 2015 and the Company’s circular dated 23
November 2015. The convertible notes were redeemed in full during the
year ended 31 December 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The convertible notes contain three components, equity, liability and
derivative components which have been split as follows:

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

35. AREE (F)

AHBERERE =@ #x AERITETA
o A RIESIT

Equity Liability Derivative
component component component Total
BEHD 8BS STEIARS #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—HA—H 25,555 71,789 (959) 96,385
Fair value loss ATEEERE - - 959 959
Redemption of convertible note BREUTAREE (25,555) (75,208) - (100,763)
Effective interest expenses for the year FRNEBMEHY - 3,419 - 3,419

At 31 December 2017,
1 January 2018 and
31 December 2018

Fair value at 31 December 2018

Fair value at 31 December 2017

The liability component of convertible notes was initially stated at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method until distinguished on conversion. The effective interest
rate of the liability component on initial recognition is 4.7% per annum.

i

RIE—+F+-A=+—HH

RPEE =

THREENAERS SR AFEBEIIER K
BRABBEN T XIRBER AT E B BT
FTeD BEHINTIERRHERFENER
ATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

36. DEFERRED TAX

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE

(AETTHIR)

36. IELEHIR

(a) Deferred tax liabilities (@ EZEHESE
Financial
Investment Intangible assets
property assets at FVTPL Total
AVLEER
RENFE EREE HemER #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TR
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+F—f—H 136 10,747 13,425 24,308
(Credit)/charge to profit and loss (st AlB%®) /HEZNR
(note 14(a)) (KizE14(a)) (136) 1,554 (13,425) (12,007)
At 31 December 2017 and RIB—tF+-A=+-BR
1 January 2018 —Z-N\§—-H—H - 12,301 - 12,301
Credit to profit or loss (note 14(a)) FABE (MF14@) - (466) = (466)
At 31 December 2018 RZF-NF+=A=+—A - 11,835 - 11,835
(b) Deferred tax assets (b)

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$254,950,000 (2017:
HK$244,961,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward has
been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future profit
streams. Tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. B
Nominal value Number of
per share shares Amount
SREME BB -]
Note HK$ ‘000 HK$’000
iz BT TR FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares LEAR
At 1 January 2017, R-—ZT—tF—AH—A8-
31 December 2017, e o
1 January 2018 and =+—H-ZZT—N\F
31 December 2018 —A—HBE-ZT—N\F
+-—A=+—H 0.01 80,000,000 800,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREBRE:
Ordinary shares LEAR
At 1 January 2017 R-ZZE—tF—H—AR 0.01 296,299 2,963
Rights issue of shares HAR TR (D 37(a) 0.01 148,149 1,481
At 31 December 2017, RZZT—tF+=A
1 January 2018 and =+—H-ZF—N\F
31 December 2018 —A—BR-ZE—N\F
+=-—A=+—H 0.01 444,448 4,444
Notes: PfsE -
(@) On 21 December 2016, the Board proposed the implementation of the (@) RZZE-—RF+ZAZ+—R EFEELER

rights issue on the basis of one rights share for every two existing ordinary
shares held on the record date of 19 January 2017 at the subscription
price of HK$0.52 per rights share to raise approximately HK$77,038,000,
before deduction of expenses, by issuing 148,149,412 rights shares to the
qualifying shareholders.

The transaction was completed on 15 February 2017, on which
148,149,412 rights shares were issued. The net proceeds of the rights
issue was approximately HK$74,340,000.

Details of the proposed rights issue are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 21 December 2016, 10 January 2017, 17
January 2017, 14 February 2017, 17 February 2017 and the Company’s
prospectus dated 20 January 2017.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard
to the Company’s residual assets.

WA 0.52/8 T 2 REBE N =_E—+tF—A
THABZREBHEREMREFEBRER —
ARARAR AR 19 2 HAE A& B G IR 3 17148,149,412
PS4 S B 10 HE 1T (A% - DA 38 45 4977,038,0005% 7T
(NBRFAZAT) ©

RHRZF—ELF_ATHRAZR XL ET
148,149,412 AR 1) SR 2 PR S FORF B AT
74,340,000/ 7T ©

BEHBRZFABARADRABHA-ZT—RF
+ZA=+—R -Z2—+F—A+8 -=Z%—+t
F-A++tB - ZFT—+F=-A+WmA - =T+
FZA++HBZAERARBABMAE-T—+tF
—AZt+BZRKRER-

LBRFAAGRBEBTRE RS I E

RARAREG LIRER—FRERE

ReFTA R

BEARARGEEN AT ERSEH-

BZERBER AT 2018F K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

37.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between higher shareholder returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgement
as to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group and the Company monitor its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debts is defined
as total debts (which includes trade and other payables and amount
due to a subsidiary, which is applicable). Equity comprises share capital
and reserves.

During 2018, the Group’s strategy was to maintain a debt-to-equity
ratio at not more than 45% (2017: 45%). In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

37.
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The Group
rEE

The Company
NN

2018

—E-N\E

HK$’000

TET

2017
—T—tF
HK$'000
FEL

2017
—E—+tfF
HK$'000
FET

Debts &%
Equity iz
Debt-to-equity ratio BEYERLER

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group receives a report
from the share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing
the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the
25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 2018, approximately
25% (2017: 71.63%) of the shares were in public hands.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEIR)
38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. ARFRHMBRARRBEFEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@ ADFEEEARRE
2018 2017
—E-N\F T —f&F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FExT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment S ER Y e 57 95
Investments in subsidiaries RETBRRRRE - =
57 95
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and deposits FERFIERRS 519 584
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE Wi B 8 2 B RRIE 195,490 537,462
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 64,420 45,386
260,429 583,432
Current liabilities REBAE
Accrued expenses and other payables FE{~ 2 PR % B R SR IE 2,396 2,051
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAHHT B A R FIE 20,653 18,533
23,049 20,584
Net current assets REBEEFE 237,380 562,848
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRASEE 237,437 562,943
NET ASSETS EEFE 237,437 562,943
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital EEEN 4,444 4,444
Reserves (ke 38(b) 232,903 558,499
TOTAL EQUITY R 237,437 562,943
Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2019 and are KEFEEeN _T—hLhFZA-_+BHE
signed on its behalf by: WHATEEAERESE:
Wong Jing Shong Wong Hin Shek
= T
Director Director
EZE EE

EZERERADT 2018FK 242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

HE=F—/\F+-A=t+-ALFE

(LABTTHIR)

38. ADRAMBRREKHEELE (&)

(continued)
(b) Reserve movements of the Company (b) ERARFEEES
Share Convertible
Share Share  Contributed option note equity ~ Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
TRRE
A& RiEE BERES BRERE ERRE ZHER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#n Fian Fiin FiEn TR Fi#n Fitn
At 1 January 2017 R=B—+%-A-H 2,963 444,327 988,713 2,839 25,555 (449,384) 1,015,008
Rights issue of shares on RZB-tF-A+RAHRK
15 February 2017 (note 37(a)) BRI (ME37) 1,481 72,859 = = = = 74340
Forfeiture of share options BT - = = (1419) = 1,419 =
Redemption of convertible note BEAREE - - - - (25,555) 25,555 -
Loss and total comprehensive TEEFERZANSRE
income for the year - - - - - (526,405) (526,405)
At 31 December 2017 and RZEB—+E+ZA=1+-H
1 January 2018 RZB2-NE-A- 4,444 517,181 988,713 1,420 - (948,815) 562,943
Share option lapsed BAMERE - = = (1,420) = 1,420 =
Loss and total comprehensive TEEFERZANREE
income for the year - - - - - (325,506) (325,506)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+=-A=1-H 4,444 517,181 988,713 - - (1,272,901) 237437
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAETTEIR)
39. RESERVES 39. f#fE

(a) Group @ *&EH

(b)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves
) Share premium

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the funds
in the share premium account of the Company may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

(i) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation
scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”) to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the public listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange set out
in the Company’s prospectus dated 18 December 2001,
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange thereof.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
thereof.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
contributed surplus account is available for distribution to
shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

— the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

. the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the portion of the
grant date fair value of unexercised share options granted
to a consultant of the Group that has been recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share
options granted to directors and consultants in note 4(u).

Convertible note equity reserve

The convertible note equity reserve represents the equity
component (conversion right) of the notes issued. During
the year ended 31 December 2017, all convertible notes
were redeemed.

Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTOCI (2017: available-for-sale financial assets) held
at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy in note 4(n).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(e).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40.

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 40. LIRHAERZA
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) IR E ([BERERE) B EEAARIMASE
is to enable the Company to grant options to either directors or EEENEERLERE UREREBESY
employees of the Group in order to recognise and motivate their REBEBELER ARRERIHEANEEBER
contribution, to provide incentives and to help the Group in retaining EREREBEINESEES EREEEHNES
its existing employees and recruiting additional employees by providing MAEERHAESBENCERR - BRETS
them with a direct economic interest in attaining the long term business ER-ZZTLF+ A+ AERTHRERER
objectives of the Group. The Share Option Scheme was approved by NEEREHE -
shareholders in an extraordinary meeting on 24 December 2007.
The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting may at any time RAT AR AE AL BRERBER L IEBT
terminate the operation of the Scheme and in such event no further FE MRZBER TETS IR ERE  EERE
Options will be offered but in all other respects the provisions of the FEIMESGRER — I EM 5 E B EEE R B
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary R IERTIR F AL BB AR AE S AT T(E -
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior to such
termination.
(@ The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: (@ BWHERRGEHWOT :
Contractual
Number of Vesting life of Exercise
Date of grant  instruments conditions options Price
BEHBAH IEHA BEGYG BRESAH TEE
’000 HK$
T AT
Options granted to a director of the Company 2 July 2015 623° 0 year 3 years 2.721
RAAR—LERRTERE —Z-AFtA=H 623 0% 34 2.721
Options granted to the company secretary, 2 July 2015 623 0 year 3 years 2.721
financial controller and a director of
subsidiaries of the Company
RARANBARARRE —Z-AFtA=H 623 0% 34 2.721
BISBER —REER D RRE
# After the completion of rights issue on 15 February 2017, the g HER—T—+F A+ HBEEKE B

number of share option was increased to 1,246,000. Each option
entitled the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the
Company.

R HE 2 B 8 21,246,00019 © &7 35 IR AE I
FHRHAAEFRE-RARARLER-

BZERBER AT 2018F K



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 40. UM AEROZT (F)

(b) Details of the movement of share options outstanding (b) BRTEERESEFBOT

are as follows:

2018 2017
—2-N\F —EB-LF
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
MEFLGTEE BREHE METHTERE ERIEHE
HK$ ’000 HK$ '000
BT T4 BT T
Outstanding at the beginning FPWARITE
of the year 2,721 1,246 2.755 2,462
Adjustment for rights issue MR AE
(note 37(a)) (M #E37(@)) - - 2.721 30
Forfeited during the year FRRK - - 2.721 (1,246)
Lapsed during the year FREK 2,721 (1,246) - -
Outstanding at the end of the year &R HR1T{E - - 2.721 1,246
Exercisable at the end of the year FRAFIT6E - - 2.721* 1,246
S Adjustments for allotment and rights issue of shares completed on * PHREERFETHABR T —LF=
15 February 2017. A+HBZEK-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

()

Fair value of share options and assumptions

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 1,246,000 (2017:
1,246,000) share options were lapsed (2017: forfeited). At 31
December 2017, the outstanding share options have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 1 year. The estimated fair
values of the options granted on 2 July 2015 are approximately
HK$ 1,420,000 in aggregate.

At 31 December 2017, the fair value of share options granted on
2 July 2015 was calculated on the Binomial Model. The input into
this model is as follow:

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

(AETTHIR)

40. UROB/ERNZMN (&)

(©

BREAFEEREBR

HE-_Z—N\F+-_A=t+t—HLEFE A
1,246,000/ ( ZZ—+4F : 1,246,00017 ) i
PRRERK (T —+HF 8K) -R=F—+
FH+ZA=+—8  ERITEBRERME
FHHTENHAEIFE- R —HFLA
“HAEHERENGTATERS HLY
#1,420,0005% 7T °

R_Z—+F+-_A=+—H8 HN_ZT—F
FHAZAMREERENRFEBETER
ZEABRAAE - BN AZERNT

After Share
consolidation
became effective
on 24 May 2016

RZZE—RF

AA=-+mA

B & B E A

Fair value at measurement date FrERENATER HK$1.155
1155/ 7T

Share price iz B HK$2.375
2.3758 7T

Exercise price 1158 HK$2.755
2.7558 7T

Expected volatility TEHR R 97.52%
Option life MR HR 3.08 years
3.03%F

Expected dividends TEHARR B 0%
Risk-free interest rate = B b A = 0.63%

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the
share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information. Expected
dividends are based on historical dividends of the Company.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially
affect the fair value estimate.

TEERIR 8 DATE 20K B A2 - iR BB AR R AN T
BHRTFERGFE  URFRMASENEA TR
HIHRRIENE B EH B - HHBBIAR
NEBESERBRE - TR ABBRRREE
AR TFEEGITBRERATZE -

BZERBER AT 2018F K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

()

Fair value of share options and assumptions
(continued)

The eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any
employee of the Group including any executive and any non-
executive directors of the Group.

The grant of share options should be accepted within a period
of 7 days from the date upon which an offer of the grant of an
option is made to a participant, at a consideration of HK$1, being
payable by the grantee upon the acceptance of grant.

The options may be exercised in whole or in part at any time
during the period to be determined and identified by the Board,
but in any event such exercise period shall not exceed a period
of ten years commencing on the date of grant of the relevant
option, subject to the early termination of the Share Option
Scheme.

The exercise price of the share options was determinable by the
Board at its absolute discretion, but was not able to be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; (iiij the average closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the ten
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iv)
the nominal value of the share on the date of grant.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the maximum number of
shares in the Company which may be issued upon exercise of
all options may be granted under the Scheme when aggregated
with any other share option scheme of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of
the Scheme or the date on which such limit is refreshed by the
shareholders of the Company (“Refreshed 10% Limit”).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of
the shares in issue from time to time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

41.

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions
(continued)

No option may be granted to any person if the total number
of shares of the Company already issued and issuable to him
under all the options granted to him in any 12 month period up
to and including the date of grant exceeding 1% of total number
of shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of
options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the issue of a
circular by the Company and the approval of the shareholders in
general meeting. Any grant of option to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive directors or their respective
associates which would result in the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
and to be granted in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of
the Company’s issued share capital and having an aggregate
value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance
by the Company’s shareholders in general meeting.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on its adoption date.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group does not have any other
pension schemes for its employees in respect of its subsidiaries outside
Hong Kong. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 in respect of the retirement of its employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@)

Acquisition of a subsidiary
Acquisition of Nobel Education

On 19 July 2017, Lucky Famous entered into a subscription
agreement with Nobel Education, an independent third party,
in relation to the subscription of 9,000,000 ordinary shares
of Nobel Education at a subscription price of HK$3,000,000
(“Subscription”). Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Lucky
Famous was granted two options (collectively, the “Options”) in
relation to the subscription of further ordinary shares of Nobel
Education at its discretion in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the subscription agreement. The management
considered that the fair value of the options are immaterial.

On 1 September 2017, the completion of the Subscription
took place whereby Lucky Famous subscribed for 9,000,000
ordinary shares of Nobel Education, which represented 50%
equity interest of Nobel Education immediately after completion
of the Subscription, for a cash consideration of HK$3,000,000.
The management exercised judgement and determined that the
Company has control over Nobel Education because the Group
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of Nobel Education by virtue of shareholders’ agreement and
Articles of Association of Nobel Education. Nobel Education is
principally engaged in the provision of children education services
in Hong Kong.

The Subscription did not constitute a notifiable transaction of the
Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e MR M A
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42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 42. REESRERNE (F)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(@)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (continued)

@ WE-—BEWBLR (&)

Acquisition of Nobel Education (continuea) W2 ZHE ()
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Nobel TS B K P U B 0 2207 SR B AT R R A
Education acquired as at the date of acquisition were as follows: E;RBENATFEENAT:

HK$'000

FA&T

Net assets acquired: Fris g & B FE -
Property, plant and equipment (note 21) W B R E (EE21) 1,101
Other receivables H Ath FE UK I8 797
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY 3,414
Other payables H Ath FE - 5108 (836)
Net assets BEFE 4,476
Non-controliing interests T AR I = (2,238)
Goodwill (note 23) 28 (M3E23) 762
Total consideration BR(E 3,000

Satisfied by:
Cash

ARSI 75 A E A
Re 3,000

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WHEEEMNBRSRAFE:

Cash consideration paid ERENRE (3,000)

Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 3,414
414

The fair value of the other receivables acquired was EESHEMBERRENAFLEENR

approximately HK$797,000. None of these receivables had been 797,000/ 7T, - BB E EWGRIE B &ORE

impaired and expected to be uncollectible.

RyadimEk e -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(@)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (continued)
Acquisition of Nobel Education (continued)

Acquisition-related costs of approximately HK$202,000 had been
charged to selling and administrative expenses in consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Nobel Education contributed the Group’s revenue from
continuing operations of approximately HK$1,460,000 and
recognised loss for the year from continuing operations to the
Group of HK$1,432,000 between the date of acquisition and 31
December 2017.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2017,
total Group revenue for the year ended 31 December 2017
from continuing operations would have been approximately
HK$190,846,000, and loss for the year ended 31 December
2017 from continuing operations would have been approximately
HK$503,587,000. The proforma information was for illustrative
purposes only and was not necessarily an indication of the
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1 January 2017, nor is intended to be a projection of future
results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 42.
CASH FLOWS (continued)

RERTREBRME ()

HEHE D A

(b) Disposals of subsidiaries (b)

Disposal of entire interest in Nobel Education

On 4 October 2018, the Group disposed of its 50% entire
equity interest in Nobel Education (‘Disposal of Nobel
Education”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group before disposal, for cash consideration of

HK$1,100,000.

The Disposal of Nobel Education did not constitute a
notifiable transaction of the Company under Chapter 19 of

the GEM Listing Rules.

Net assets of Nobel Education at the date of disposal were

HEZTEHE R IE

RZZB-NF+ANA AEEHE
HREH R HE 2 EF50% A (4
MABBHERR])  EHRHER
HERMRAEENRERIEZENBA
7 ReMRER1,100,0008 7T °

LHRAE HEFRL TERGEM L
MRAVETNBRTZARARAATH

BxH-

SMREHENLE R HNEEFEN

as follows: 58
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 21) W B R E (HEE21) 338
Goodwill (note 23) 2 (K3E23) 762
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H b FE Y R IE 820
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY 195
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H b FE R 5RIE (449)
Loan from third parties FE=ZFEXR (1,520)
Carrying amount of net assets disposed of B HEZEFENKEE 146
Non-controlling interest derecognised BUBTER ) FEIE R 308
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 454
Gain on disposal of the subsidiary HEZH B AR A s
Consideration RE 1,100
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE (454)
Gain on disposal* o s 646
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEANRESRAFRE:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BERERERAEEEY (195)
Cash consideration received BEWRENRE 1,100
905

*

losses”.

The gain on disposal is included in “other gains and

- HEdas st A TE AU s MBS 1R ] o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

2. GERERERME (H)

HEMB AR (&)

(o) Disposals of subsidiaries (continued) (b)

(i) Disposal of 32% interest in GET Mdream i) HEREEEZ232%RE

On 21 March 2017, the Group disposed of its 32%
equity interest in GET Mdream, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group before disposal, to
two independent third parties at an aggregate cash
consideration of HK$3,000,000 as disclosed in note 17.
After the completion of the disposal, GET Mdream became
an investment without control and was classified as
available-for-sale financial assets during the year ended 31
December 2017 and subsequently transferred to financial
assets at FVTOCI since 1 January 2018 upon the adoption

of HKFRS 9 (note 28).

Net assets of GET Mdream at the date of disposal were as

RZE—tF=A=+—H F5H
RHEMAMEBYLE = FHEER
AEBEEIEZEHNBRARBESS
Z32%H%HE - 4R B /IR £3,000,000
BT (B FI7THE) - HER
Btk BEBEE SR ABEEIERER
REE-T—tF+-A=1+—H1
FESEARHREESRHEE Bk
BT \F—A—BERENEE
IS LR BE R B BEM
2EREADNFEEIENSREE
(Bzxos) -

BEESNHERYZEEFEN

follows: T
HK$’'000
FHEIT
Property, plant and equipment (note 21) Y B R E (5E21) 593
Goodwill (note 23) 2 (FtEE23) 865
Trade and other receivables B 5 & HAth e KT8 4,459
Tax recoverable a] [ 7 I8 186
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY 12,274
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H bR 5RIE (13,451)
Carrying amount of net assets disposed of ~ FTHHEEEFENKEE 4,926
Non-controlling interests derecognised IR IE IR (1,990)
Net assets disposed of i EMEEFE 2,936

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Consideration

Net assets disposed of

Fair value of 19% interest retained

Gain on disposal *

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of
Cash consideration received

discontinued operations”.
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FrHEMEEFE
19%RE A R FEE

HEEENRSMEFE:
HENRE RS EEY
BEWRERE

The gain on disposal is included in “Profit for the year from

3,000
(2,936)
1,781

1,845

(12,274)
3,000

(9,274)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTAR)

42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 2. FERERERMEE (H)

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (©)
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

BMEFHMELERBENER

TRELAREREEDHELH RS
WAEDHE

B BERERIFRGE

ENRERRERES
BERAEEGEERERERADHEER
BEEYMELANRERENZFAE:

RERKBEDRE

1 January Interest 31 December

2017 Cash flows expenses 2017

—E—+tF

—E—+F +=A

—HA—H Bem FEHY =+—A

HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000

FET FET FET FET

Loan notes BERER 210,000 (220,301) 10,301 =
Convertible notes — liability ABMBRERE-8E&ESS

component (note 35) (P 5E35) 71,789 (75,208) 3,419 =

281,789 (295,509) 18,720 -

BZERBER AT 2018F K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMBWRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

43. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

With effect from 1 April 2018, the financial results, assets and liabilities
of AP Group Investment and its subsidiaries (collectively “AP Group”
or “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) had been deconsolidated from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. As set out in note 46(b)
to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has been in
legal disputes with the former directors of AP Group Investment during
the year. The directors of the Company considered that the Company
had lost its control over AP Group during the year and accordingly
the Company did not have the ability to direct the relevant activities of
AP Group. After the resignation of the former directors of AP Group
Investment, the former directors of AP Group Investment failed to deliver
up all the accounting books and financial records of, and all business
records in connection with, the running of the AP Group to the Group.
The Group was unable to locate complete set of books and records
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. The Group recorded a loss on
deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries of approximately

HK$3,454,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The following is the financial information, before intra-group balances

and transactions elimination, of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

BE_Z-N\F+-_A=T—HILFE
(AETTHIR)

43. MBRARBUHGES AR

B-Z—N\FMA—B BEPEBEERRER
BAR(FEAIEHEE] Sk [BUHELGE AKRMK
BRADNUBKEE EERABBEREAEEZ
RAEVHBRICESRA AR IR A B RE
Ml sr4B0)FTE A AR R EHEERRATES
RAFEGERUD -ARBEERE AAFE
RAFEREAEPEBENEGRE  WARRLE
EREHEEABITERES - B P EEIERA
FEZHIE EHEEIERITESRERAE
SEREMEEEHEELESHZ SRS
AR R R T S5 R08% - AR EAEEIMBEUBAR
BARMBARZ TERMELE - AEBMRE
E-T—)\FT-A=Zt+—BULEFEEREEEA
ABRKE A a5 EUHAR & ABRE B 493,454,000

BT

AT REUHER S ABRHT B 2 B0k S B At R

RSB TS AR o

(@) Loss on deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated (@

Subsidiaries

Net liabilities of the AP Group at the date of deconsolidation were

ME A REUEARS ARZEE

EHEERBUESRA ARA SN B EFE

as follows: R
HK$'000
T
Property, plant and equipment e =y 124
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H b Y R IE 1,599
Tax recoverable AU = B R 267
Inventories rE 612
Cash and cash equivalents ReRB2EEY 409
Trade and other payables B 5 R H R 5KIE (4,865)
Amounts due to group companies R EBRARKIE (356)
Non-controlling interest deconsolidated BUB#R A ABRMIEIE Bl 1,083
Net liabilities of the Deconsolidated HUHGRE ARMB AR AEFE
Subsidiaries (1,127)
Goodwill (note 23) 2 (K3E23) 4,581
Loss on deconsolidation* BUB#R A ABREE" 3,454

* The loss on deconsolidation is included in “other gains and losses”. *
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

43. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(ABTTHIR)

43. MELREUHARS AR ()

(b) Transactions of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries b) FABZEZZE—N\F=A=+—HI=

included in the consolidated statement of profit or

BAXEEGESBERZAVEGFE AR

loss of the Group for the three months ended 31 WEBRARRS
March 2018
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue WA 3,112
Cost of sales $HE A (350)
Other revenue and the other YA R E AU s & B8 F 58
gains and losses, net 13
Administrative expenses THHAX (2,548)
Income tax expense FRsRimSZ (12)
Profit for the three months ended BHE-_Z—N\F=ZA=+—RHLE=@A&F
31 March 2018 215

BZERBER AT 2018F K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—\FT_A=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEITR)
44. COMMITMENTS 44, EIE
(@)  Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as @ RREERMEREENT
follows:
2018 2017
= Sy Tt
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Contracted but not provided for: BRTA B RBE
— development costs for intangible assets —EEEMRENRAR 19,318 25,757
— capital contribution to a joint venture —m—EEERETE - 645
19,318 26,402
(o)  The total future minimum lease payments of the Group under (o) BETAHECEHE AEBRUTFE

B RN AR R R 2 (SRR T

non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT T

Within one year —FR 2,082 6,041
After one year but within five years —FRERAFA 1,422 5,194
3,504 11,235

REMENFEARBERERRENER
WAERBENNES HEHRTFHAH
= (5 =F )pE HaniEE
HABREATBEXAEE -

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the
Group for its office premises and office equipment. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of 3 years (2017: 3 years) and
rental is fixed over the lease terms and do not include contingent
rentals.

45. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 45. HAEE
Other than the litigations as disclosed in note 46, as at 31 December BRI A6 B2 FAN RZE—N\F+=A

2018, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2017: —t+—HB AEEVTEARNEARABE(ZZ
Nil). —tFE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of Company dated
18 June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation to,
among other matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest in
AP Group Investment (the “Acquisition”) and the announcements
of the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16
July 2018 in relation to the adjustment to consideration for the
Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (“SP
Agreement”) with Fragrant River Entertainment Culture (Holdings)
Limited (“Vendor”) and Universe (“Guarantor”), pursuant to which
the Group conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor
conditionally agreed to sell 51% equity interest of AP Group
Investment, at the consideration of HK$20,400,000, subject to
downward adjustments as described below, which was settled
by way of allotment and issued of 40,800,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company, credited as fully paid, at the issue price
of HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor (or its nominee), on the
date of completion. The AP Group was principally engaged in
the provision of self-improvement and self-enhancement training
programmes in Hong Kong. Completion of this transaction took
place on 1 July 2016.

e MR M A

HE_Z— \FT_A=1+—HLFE
(AETTHIR)

46.

(@)

FRER

E PR R

BRAARNRBHAE-T—RNFEANAT=
H —Z—XRXEXA-+=BEK_ZT—~F
+tA—BNAE RAEBHE (EFaiE)
BEDEEIERS1%RE (TWEEE]) &
AARABRA-ZT—/\FAA+=H =%
—N\ERAZ+RBE=ZFE—NFLA+<
AZRE NAEARBEEEARNRE

RZEBE—R"EXA+=8 AR2RA2EWEB
A A)Lucky FamousE2 & T #R £ 01k ($51% )
BRAR ([EFH]) REBF ([HERAL) G
—HhEERE ([BEEHE]) Bt 78
BRGERABREMESABEKRTERELESR
B B2 A% H951 %A% 7 - (& /20,400,000
BT (R T X AlETTHA)  ERBN
TR B SR ER050BTZRITE WEA
(SRE R E A)FR 3 K 8 1740,800,00088 A
BRFIEBR 2 AR AFT g @Rz R e
BEPHEETEREB L EREEEARIET
R AR ENEIEE WX ER TN
FrA—HEK-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP
Agreement, in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group Investment attributable to its owners from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017 (‘FY 2016 & 2017”)
(which would only include income or gain generated by activities
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the AP Group)
(“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than HK$16,000,000, the
Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure the Vendor to,
pay to the Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment amount
(“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment
for FY2016 & 2017 (“FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”)
are available. The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in
accordance with the formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 - (NP/2) x 5 x 51%
Where:
“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY2016 &
2017 Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be
zero.

The FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY2016 &
2017 Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited,
adjusted for any non-recurring items.

Based on the FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the
SP Agreement, the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group
was deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group has requested
the Vendor and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000 on or before 26 June 2018 according to the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. On 22 June 2018,
the Group received a letter from the legal adviser acting for the
Vendor and the Guarantor that they will defend the purported
claim of the Group for the payment of the Adjustment Amount
alleged by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@)

(b)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and
the Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY2016
& 2017 Audited Accounts were made available to them, the
Group had not received any payment of the Adjustment Amount
from any of the Vendor and the Guarantor.

The Board considered that the Vendor and the Guarantor have
breached their contractual obligations by failing to repay the
Group the Adjustment Amount in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the SP Agreement. In order to safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of the Group, after seeking
legal advice, the Group has commenced legal proceeding (‘AP
Acquisition Litigation”) against the Vendor as the 1st defendant
and the Guarantor as the 2nd defendant. A writ of summons with
an indorsement of claim were filed by Lucky Famous as plaintiff
at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ, the Group claimed against
the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment Amount of
HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018
and 16 July 2018.

AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP Group
Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons in the
High Court of Hong Kong against Mr. Chan Sze Long (i.e. 1st
Defendant) as the 1st defendant and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa (i.e. 2nd
Defendant) as the 2nd defendant for the matters as detailed
below (“AP Management Litigation”). The 1st Defendant and the
2nd Defendant are former directors of AP Group Investment until
their respective resignations on 18 July 2018. The 1st Defendant
and/or his controlled company, and the controlled company
of the 2nd Defendant, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

AP Management Litigation (continued)

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest
in AP Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Lucky Famous. As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP
Group Investment, the financial results and assets and liabilities
of AP Group Investment and its subsidiaries were consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements prior to the
deconsolidation of the AP Group becoming effective on 1 April
2018. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision
of self-improvement and self-enhancement training programs in
Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the
Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of
the experience and expertise of the Defendants in running the
AP Group, it was agreed by the parties that the Defendants
were wholly responsible for the efficient and proper management
and operation of the AP Group, including but not limited to,
the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping proper
books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance
reports, annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP
Group Investment, including that of all the subsidiaries of the
AP Group to the Company within 15 days after each month’s
end. After the resignations of the Defendants as directors of AP
Group Investment on 18 July 2018 and up to the date of this
report, the Defendants failed to deliver up all the accounting
books and financial records of, and all businesses records in
connection with, the running of the AP Group, including but not
limited to records in relation to the students’ records, instructors’
records and information on potential litigations, for the period of
seven years immediately prior to the date of their resignations as
director of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 (“Full Business
Records”) to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

()

AP Management Litigation (continued)

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced
legal proceeding against the Defendants. The Group claimed
against the Defendants for the reliefs, including but not limited
to, delivering up of the Full Business Records, accounting for the
assets of the AP Group for the period from 1 April 2018 to 18
July 2018 that were in the power, possession or control of the
Defendants and damages to be assessed.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 July 2018.

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received an amended writ of summons (“Amended
Writ”) with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement
of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court
of Hong Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“1st Plaintiff”),
Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities
Limited (“3rd Plaintiff”) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff
collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other
defendants, Perfect Growth as 34th defendants (“Perfect Growth
Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the defendants
by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the
Amended Writ, Perfect Growth is named as one of the Alleged
Independent Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of
the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around October 2015 (“October
2015 Placing”)) and has been allotted with some of wrongfully
allotted shares (being shares of the 1st Plaintiff allotted in the
October 2015 Placing).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

46. LITIGATIONS (continued)

265

()

Perfect Growth Litigation (continued)

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the
Plaintiffs against Perfect Growth are as follows:

U

(i)

(i)

the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as
against, among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment
of the wrongfully allotted shares by the 1st Plaintiff to,
among others, Perfect Growth is null and void, or has
been rescinded and be set aside;

the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order
for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed and/or damages to be
assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other
matters, the October 2015 Placing and the allotment of
the wrongfully allotted shares; and

the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect
Growth (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; (d) further and/or other reliefs.

Details of Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

47.

48.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with its related parties during the year.

(@) During the year, the Group paid financial advisory fee of
approximately HK$1,310,000 (2017: HK$NIil) to a company
which is controlled by Mr. Wong Hin Shek, an executive director
of the Company.

(b) Transactions with key management personnel

All key management personnel are directors of the Company and
their remuneration are disclosed in note 16.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 March 2019, the Group entered into a subscription agreement
with a target company and a guarantor pursuant to which the
Group agreed to subscribe for, and the target company agreed to
allot and issue, the subscription shares at the subscription price of
HK$19,500,000, subject to the terms and conditions of the subscription
agreement.

The subscription shares represent approximately 6.54% of the issued
share capital of the target company upon the completion as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of the subscription shares.

In accordance with terms and conditions of the subscription agreement,
the guarantor granted to the Group a put option in respect of all (and
not part only) of the subscription shares owned by the Group as at the
date on which the put option is exercised to require the guarantor to
purchase, or to procure the purchase of, the subscription shares from
the Group at the subscription price plus interest at a rate of 8.0% per
annum. Details are set out in Company’s announcement dated 25
March 2019.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL INFORMATION

LFEPBHRE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2014, 2015,

2016, 2017 and 2018.
RESULTS

NTAAEREEZE_T—NF - —T—HF - ZFT—X
F Tt EFRZF-NFF+ZA=+—HILAEAF
EMETIREEUREERABBHRE-

RE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+-HLEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
ZB-NF C—T—+F ZE-R"F ZE-hf CZT-QNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET FHET THET FHET
(Re-presented)
(EF51%R)
Continuing operations RERKEER
Revenue ON 133,230 186,967 193,534 324,729 234,293
(Loss)/profit from operations L (B1B) & A (215,584) (485,228) 91,532 123,049 109,155
Finance costs RE R - (13,720) (22,562) (5,635) (1,209)
Share of (loss)/profit of associates ERBE R (BR)/
HH (21,704) (15,644) (5,550) (51) 33
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—HEECEEE (1,174) (2,932) () = =
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBiAT (B518),EF (238,462) (517,524 63,415 117,363 107,979
Income tax (expenses)/credit IR (F%) /#ER (5,830) 14,443 (29,576) (23,940) (19,000)
(Loss)/profit after tax REFECEEBRE
from continuing operations (B#8) &7 (244,292) (503,081) 33,839 93,423 88,979
Profit after tax from RECRIEEEEHK
discontinued operations BB ERR 25 3,871 1,155 = =
(Loss}/profit for the year AEE (BR) /A (244,267  (499,210) 34,994 93,423 88,979
(Loss)/profit attributable to BT ALES (FR)/
g
- Owners of the Company R YN 2= DN (251,411) (512,327 17,002 60,510 52,737
- Non-controlling interests —FERER 7,144 13,117 17,902 32,913 36,242
(244,267) (499,210) 34,994 93,423 88,979
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
As at 31 December
Wt+=ZA=+-H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
BN\ —IT—tF T T-1F ZT-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET FiET FET FHET
Total assets EEHE 433,035 705,680 1,469,512 1,434,324 942,389
Total liabilities B fERE (53,723) (56,847) (387,062) (380,503) (174,513)
Non-controlling interests PRl i (36,547) (37,470) (34,915) (37,868) (41,524)
Total equity attributable to AAREEAERS
owners of the Company R 342,765 611,363 1,047,535 1,015,953 726,352
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